

# HOKKAIDO UNIVERSITY

Title	Molecular survey of tick microbiome and tick-borne pathogens in ixodid ticks and rodents collected in Sarawak, Malaysian Borneo
Author(s)	Lau, Alice Ching Ching
Citation	北海道大学. 博士(獣医学) 甲第15028号
Issue Date	2022-03-24
DOI	10.14943/doctoral.k15028
Doc URL	http://hdl.handle.net/2115/91639
Туре	theses (doctoral)
File Information	Alice_Lau_Ching_Ching.pdf



# Molecular survey of tick microbiome and tick-borne pathogens in ixodid ticks and rodents collected in Sarawak, Malaysian Borneo

(マレーシアボルネオ島サラワク州におけるマダニ微生物叢ならびに マダニおよびネズミ類でのマダニ媒介性病原体の分子調査)

Alice CC LAU

## Contents

Preface1	
Chapter I	
Fick species identified from primary forests and an oil palm plantation in Sarawak, Borneo	
Introduction9	
Materials and Methods11	
Ethics approval	
Survey sites and sample collection	
DNA preparation and morphological identification of ticks	
PCR amplification and sequencing	
Mitochondrial 16S rDNA	
Cytochrome c oxidase subunit 1 and TA cloning	
12S rDNA	
Phylogenetic analysis	
Results15	
Discussion24	
Summary	

## **Chapter II**

Detection of *Borrelia burgdorferi* sensu lato and *Relapsing fever borrelia* in feeding *Ixodes* ticks and rodents in Sarawak, Malaysia: New geographical records of *Borrelia yangtzensis* and *Borrelia miyamotoi* 

Introduction	27
Materials and Methods	29

DNA preparation and species identification of rodents	
DNA preparation of <i>Ixodes</i> ticks	
Screening of <i>Borrelia</i> spp.	
Multilocus sequence analysis of the Borrelia spp.	
Sequencing and phylogenetic analyses	
Results	33
Identification of rodent species	
Detection of <i>Borrelia</i> spp.	
Phylogenetic analysis	
Multilocus sequence analysis of the Borrelia spp.	
Discussion	41
Summary	44

## Chapter III

Insights on the microbiome and tick-borne pathogens of ixodid ticks in Sarawak, Malaysian

## Borneo

Introduction	
Materials and Methods	
Sample collection	
Bacterial 16S rRNA gene amplification	
Library preparation and sequencing	
Data analysis	
PCR amplification and sequencing of bacteria	
Results	
Tick species microbial variations	

Microbial composition and main endosymbionts for each tick species	
Ontogenic and sex on microbial variations of Haemaphysalis shimoga	
The effect of Borrelia infection on Ixodes granulatus microbiome	
Bacteria species characterization	
Discussion	76
Summary	

# Chapter IV

Molecular survey of tick-borne bacterial pathogens in rodents collected in Sarawak	
Introduction	83
Materials and Methods	84
Real-time PCR for Bartonella spp. screening	
Conventional PCR amplification, sequencing, and phylogenetic analysis	
Results	
Anaplasma and Ehrlichia	
Bartonella	
Coxiella	
Discussion	93
Summary	95

# Chapter V

De	tection of a Babesia sp. genotype closely related to marsupial-associated Babesia spp.	in
Ha	emaphysalis shimoga from Sarawak, Borneo	
]	Introduction	. 96
I	Materials and Methods	. 98

Acknowledgements	
Conclusion	
Summary	
Discussion	
Results	
Phylogenetic analysis	
Screening of <i>Babesia</i> spp.	

## Abbreviations

12S	12 small subunit
16S	16 small subunit
18S	18 small subunit
23S	23 small subunit
AF	Adult female
AM	Adult male
ANCOM	Analysis of compositions of microbiomes
Bbsl	Borrelia burgdorferi sensu lato
Bbss	Borrelia burgdorferi sensu sricto
CO1	Cytochrome c oxidase subunit 1
DA	Dermacentor atrosignatus
DC	Dermacentor compactus
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
dnaK	Chaperone protein gene
DS	Dermacentor steini
flaB	Flagellin B gene
ftsZ	Cell division protein gene
fopA	Outer membrane protein
GGNP	Gunung Gading National Park
gltA	Citrate synthase gene
groEL	Chaperone protein gene
HH	Haemaphysalis hystricis
HS	Haemaphysalis shimoga
htrA	17-kDa common antigen gene
ID	Identification
IG	Ixodes granulatus
KNP	Kubah National Park
L	Larva
LD	Lyme disease
LEfSe	Linear discriminant analysis Effect Size
MLSA	Multilocus sequence analysis

mt-rrs	Mitochondrial 16S ribosomal deoxyribonucleic acid
Ν	Nymph
n	Number
NCBI	National Center for Biotechnology Information
NGS	Next-generation sequencing
No.	Number
OP	Oil palm
ompA	Outer membrane protein A
ompB	Outer membrane protein B
OTU	Operational taxonomic unit
PBS	Phosphate-buffered saline
PCoA	Principal Coordinates Analysis
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PERMANOVA	Permutational multivariate analysis of variance
rpoB	Beta subunit of bacterial ribonucleic acid polymerase gene
rDNA	Ribosomal deoxyribonucleic acid
RF	Relapsing fever
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
sca4	Surface cell antigen-4
ssrA	Transfer-messenger ribonucleic acid
TBD	Tick-borne disease
TBP	Tick-borne pathogen
tul4	T-cell epitope
Qiime2	Quantitative Insights Into Microbial Ecology 2

### Preface

Malaysia is geographically located in the Southeast Asian region and is divided into Peninsular Malaysia and Malaysian Borneo (Figure 1). Malaysian Borneo consists of Sarawak and Sabah states and is located in Borneo Island with two other countries: Brunei and Indonesia. Sarawak is the largest state in Malaysia and has tropical geography and an equatorial climate. These relatively high daily average temperature and all-year-round humidity climatic conditions are ideal for tick survival [194]. Furthermore, Sarawak has undergone massive forest degradation and fragmentation, mainly because of logging activities and oil palm plantations [37, 78], and land conversion has been significantly related to increasing emerging or re-emerging zoonotic diseases, including vector-borne diseases [284, 296].

Ticks are obligate hematophagous arthropods, feeding on a wide range of animal hosts, including humans. It is established that ticks have high public health importance by harboring various pathogenic agents and play a crucial role as a vector in disease transmission to humans and animals. Tick-borne diseases (TBDs), which afflict humans and animals, are caused by infectious agents transmitted by tick bites. These infectious agents transmitted by ticks are tick-borne pathogens (TBPs), which include bacteria, viruses, and protozoa. For example, ticks are known to harbor medically-important bacterial species from a wide range of genera, including:

#### Anaplasma and Ehrlichia

Anaplasmosis and ehrlichiosis are TBDs caused by obligate intracellular bacteria of the genera *Anaplasma* and *Ehrlichia*, respectively. Among six *Anaplasma* spp., *A. phagocytophilum* is the causative agent of human and animal granulocytic anaplasmosis. Human granulocytic infections were first reported in 1994 [64]. Other *Anaplasma* spp. have been reported as the causative agents of anaplasmosis in animals. For example, *A. platys* causes infectious canine cyclic thrombocytopenia. *A. marginale*, *A. centrale*, and *A. ovis* are the causative agents for bovine anaplasmosis, whereas *A. bovis* infects a wide range of mammal species [65]. Among *Ehrlichia* spp., *E. chaffeensis* and *E. ewingii* are associated with human infections. The first human monocytic ehrlichiosis caused by *E. chaffeensis* was documented in 1991 [7, 55], followed by in 1999, when *E. ewingii* was first identified as an agent of human disease [39]. Clinical manifestations of human anaplasmosis and ehrlichiosis are similar and nonspecific, mimicking other acute febrile illnesses.

Seroprevalence study of farmworkers and indigenous people residing in Peninsular Malaysia revealed 29.9% and 34.3% of IgG antibodies against *E. chaffeensis* detected from farmworkers and indigenous people, respectively. In addition, 6.9% of the indigenous people were seropositive to *A. phagocytophilum* [138]. Similarly, there was seropositive evidence of *E. chaffeensis* being documented from neighboring countries in Indonesia and Thailand [28, 97, 236]. In conjunction with the serological survey, Koh et al. [138] also conducted tick surveillance from farm animals, wildlife, peri-domestic

animals, and vegetation adjacent to the survey areas. They reported the presence of several species of *Anaplasma* spp., including *A. marginale, A. bovis, A. platys, A. phagocytophilum*, and *Anaplasma* spp. closely related to *Candidatus* Cryptoplasma californiense in ticks. They did not detect the DNA of *E. chaffeensis*, instead they found *Ehrlichia* sp. strain EBm52, *E. mineirensis* and *Candidatus* Ehrlichia shimanensis. Molecular detection of *E. canis* in dogs [201] and *A. platys* in cattle were also recently documented [3].

#### Bartonella

Members of the genus *Bartonella* are fastidious, gram-negative, short rod intracellular bacteria that infect a diverse array of mammalian hosts via the blood-sucking arthropods, including sand fly, human body louse, cat fleas, and ticks [8, 187]. At least 20 species are known to cause host-specific intraerythrocytic infections in their specific mammalian reservoir hosts. Moreover, at least 13 species of Bartonella have been identified as pathogenic to humans, with the most common causative agents being B. bacilliformis, B. quintana, and B. henselae [35, 117]. Bartonella bacilliformis is the first Bartonella species identified as a human pathogen in the early 1900s, causing Carrion's disease or Oroya fever in the acute phase with high mortality, verruga peruana or Peruvian wart in the chronic phase. Bartonella bacilliformis is transmitted by the sand fly (Lutzomyia verrucarum), and the disease is geographically specific, reported in South American countries. Bartonella quintana causes trench fever and is transmitted by the human body louse (*Pediculus humanus humanus*). Endocarditis, generalized lymphadenopathy, and bacillary angiomatosis are the common symptoms reported in immunocompromised people infected by B. quintana. Bartonella henselae causing cat-scratch disease is the most common symptomatic Bartonella infection reported worldwide. Overall, Bartonella spp. infections are often chronic or asymptomatic in their reservoir hosts [12, 111]. Recently, hallucinations, weight loss, muscle fatigue, and neurological manifestations such as partial paralysis and so on have been related to Bartonella infection [33, 34]. Case studies have also reported *Bartonella* in tumors such as those of vasoproliferative and mammary tissue [180, 181, 222]. Therefore, bartonellosis has public health importance and warrants investigation.

Although *Bartonella* DNA was detected in several tick species in multiple studies [35, 45, 98, 114, 232], the transmission of *Bartonella* spp. by ticks to humans and animals is still controversially discussed as the vector competence of naturally infected ticks have not been confirmed. Nevertheless, there have been experimental studies that demonstrated vector competence for *B. henselae* [50] and *B. birtlesii* infection in ticks [234]. Rodents are considered important reservoir hosts for tick-borne pathogens as they are the preferred hosts of tick larvae and nymphs. Several *Bartonella* spp. have been detected in rodents which further supports the possibility that ticks may play a role in *Bartonella* transmission [44, 92, 134, 171]. Recently, Blasdell et al. [30] reported a high prevalence of *Bartonella* spp. in rodents from urban areas of a growing city in Sarawak, Borneo.

#### Borrelia

Members of the *Borrelia burgdorferi* sensu lato (Bbsl) complex are etiological agents of Lyme disease (LD), which currently, more than 20 genospecies have been reported worldwide [179]. The natural transmission cycles of Bbsl are maintained between their vertebrate reservoir hosts and ixodid (hard) ticks (Acari: *Ixodidae*) as the vector [96, 220]. LD is endemic in east Asian countries as there have been reports from China, Japan, Taiwan, South Korea, and Russia [119, 185]. Relapsing fever *Borrelia* (RFB) is categorized into three genetic groups: New World RFB, Old World RFB, and RFB harbored by ixodid ticks, including *B. miyamotoi*, *B. lonestari*, and *B. theileri*, are mainly transmitted by the genus *Ixodes*, *Amblyomma*, and *Rhipicephalus* ticks, respectively [17, 76, 252]. Among these three, *B. miyamotoi* is pathogenic to humans [221], and *B. theileri* is responsible for bovine borreliosis [253]. *Borrelia miyamotoi* infection in humans was first reported in Russia in 2011, and, since then, cases have been documented in the United States, Europe, Japan, and northeastern China [105, 115, 143, 221, 245]. Only a few studies on *Borrelia* spp. were conducted in Peninsular Malaysia, in which most of the prior studies conducted focused on tick surveillance, and little is known about the occurrence of these etiological agents in most parts of Malaysia.

#### Coxiella

Q fever is a worldwide zoonotic disease caused by the obligate intracellular bacterium *Coxiella burnetii* [286]. The primary mode of infection is through inhalation of contaminated aerosols, and livestock like ruminants are the primary source of human infections [11, 188]. Although ruminants are the main reservoir of *C. burnetii*, the bacterium has also been detected from various vertebrates and invertebrates, including birds, dogs, horses, small mammals, and ticks [40, 239, 286]. Ruminants infected with *C. burnetii* show signs of abortion and decreased milk production [279]. In humans, infection with *C. burnetii* is often asymptomatic and self-limiting, but an acute phase of Q fever causes high fever and malaise. Furthermore, the chronic phase is often debilitating even though with treatment. It is also reported that *C. burnetii* DNA could still be detected in the bone marrow of patients with Q fever previously, as long as up to 12 years [279].

The majority of Q fever studies have been conducted on humans and livestock, while only a fraction involves other mammalian hosts. Among them, wild terrestrial small mammals such as rodents are thought to be maintenance hosts of *C. burnetii*, particularly the genus *Rattus* is considered as a true reservoir because all studies conducted in Europe revealed that it is consistently positive to *C. burnetii* DNA [110, 191, 235]. Further support that small mammals as reservoirs was the detection of specific *C. burnetii* antibodies by Meredith et al. [192]. In addition, the detection of *C. burnetii* DNA in small mammal spleen samples and the rat feces suggested that replication and shedding of *C. burnetii* did occur in rodents [1, 84].

#### Francisella

Genus *Francisella* is a gram-negative, facultative intracellular bacterium that is comprised of five species, *F. tularensis*, *F. philomiragia*, *F. hispaniensis*, *F. noatunensis*, and *F. novicida*. The existence of *Francisella* in the environment is divided into the terrestrial cycle and aquatic cycle [90]. *Francisella tularensis* is a highly infectious tick-borne bacterium causing tularemia in humans and animals worldwide. Four subspecies of *F. tularensis* are recognized, *F. tularensis* subp. *tularensis* (type A), *F. tularensis* subp. *holarctica* (type B), *F. tularensis* subp. *mediasiatica*, and *F. tularensis* subp. *novicida* [92]. All the reported subspecies are pathogenic, with the most virulent being *F. tularensis* sup. *tularensis*, while other subspecies can cause disease in immunocompromised individuals. *Francisella tularensis* is primarily a pathogen of the orders Lagomorpha and Rodentia but has been reported in hundreds of other species, including birds, amphibians, and fish [92]. Other species of *Francisella*, such as *F. philomiragia*, *F. novicida*, and *F. hispaniensis* are generally less virulent, but diseases have been reported in immunocompromised patients [100, 106]. *F. tularensis* was first detected in ticks of the species *Dermacentor andersoni* [214], and later on, ticks have been reported as having a substantial role both in maintaining *F. tularensis* in nature and disease transmission. Furthermore, *F. tularensis* infections occur via ingestion, inhalation, as well as tick bites [4].

#### Rickettsia

*Rickettsia* are gram-negative, obligate intracellular bacteria transmitted by a variety of hematophagous arthropods, including ticks, lice, mites, and fleas. Rickettsioses are emerging infectious diseases that are often neglected in tropical regions. The genus is comprised of four groups, a basal ancestral group (AG), the spotted fever group (SFG), the typhus group (TG), and the transitional group. All but the ancestral group contain established human pathogens [59, 82, 216].

The SFG rickettsiae are tick-transmitted rickettsioses. Ticks act as vectors and reservoirs for most SFG rickettsiae by transmitting the bacteria transtandially and transovarially [255]. There are 25 validated SFG rickettsiae, and among *R. rickettsia* is considered the most pathogenic rickettsial species causing Rocky Mountain Spotted Fever mainly in the United States and in part of Mexico [6, 59, 216]. In Asia, SFG rickettsiae that have been reported include *Rickettsia conorii*, *R. sibirica*, *R. japonica*, *R. honei*, *R. heilongjiangensis*, *R. tamurae*, and *R. raoultii* [216]. Typhus group consists of louse-borne typhus, caused by *R. prowazekii* transmitted by body louse (*Pediculous humanus humanus*) [29]. Murine typhus is flea-borne (*Xenopsylla cheopis*) typhus caused by *R. typhi*, which occurs worldwide at endemic levels, especially in tropical and subtropical regions [29]. *Rickettsia akari*, *R. australis*, and *R. felis* are pathogenic rickettsial species in the transitional group. Disease attributed to *R. felis* is transmitted by cat fleas (*Ctenocephalides felis*) and has a worldwide distribution [36].

In Malaysia, serological surveillances revealed high antibody prevalence for SFG rickettsiae involving rural febrile patients (42.5% against *R. honei* TT118 strain), rubber estate workers (~50%),

indigenous people (50% against *R. conorii* and 22.5% against *R. felis*), farm workers (13.8% against *R. conorii* and 16.1% against *R. felis*), blood donor and so on in Peninsular Malaysia [126, 266, 269, 271,]. Case reports on Spotted Fever Rickettsiosis and murine typhus have also been diagnosed in Peninsula and Sabah, Malaysia [125, 243].

*Babesia* spp. are tick-borne protozoan parasites of the phylum Apicomplexa that infect erythrocytes of mammals and birds [246]. Over 100 *Babesia* spp. have been reported worldwide from a vast range of vertebrate hosts including: Bovidae, Canidae, Cervidae, Felidae, Mustelidae, Rodentia, Marsupialia, and humans [104, 113]. Despite its significant public health and veterinary implications, the tick-borne protozoal diseases caused by *Babesia* spp. have remained understudied in Malaysia. Currently, reported studies in Malaysia have been limited to bovine and canine babesiosis, with the detection of *B. bigemina* and *B. bovis* in cattle, and *B. gibsoni* and *B. vogeli* in dogs, as well as from the ticks infesting these animals [142, 210, 223].

In Malaysia, TBDs are regarded to be a potential emerging threat to public health. Thus far, tick bite cases and TBDs were rarely being reported in Malaysia, which could be expected due to a general lack of awareness of TBDs. Nevertheless, there was a report of a human bite case by *A. testudinarium*, which caused erythema at the biting sites [288]. In addition, based on a survey conducted in 2013 on some farms in Peninsular Malaysia, it was revealed that a large number of farmworkers, including administrative workers, had experienced tick bites [80]. With that remark, the risk of exposure to tick bites may generally be underestimated in Malaysia.

Likewise, studies eliciting tick microbiome are limited in Malaysia and not reported from Sarawak, Malaysia Borneo [128, 157]. The tick microbiome consists of largely non-pathogenic microorganisms essential for tick survival, development, and reproduction. Ticks acquire symbiotic microorganisms via the environment, blood meal hosts, and parents by transtandial and transovarial routes. The presence of a high abundance of non-pathogenic organisms in ticks suggests a constant interaction between the tick, pathogen, and endosymbionts. Therefore, understanding the microbial structure in ticks may be crucial to unravel the dynamics of pathogen colonization and transmission.

Taken together, the status of TBPs in Malaysia warrants further investigation, especially in Sarawak state that has undergone massive landscape alteration in past decades due to the logging and oil palm plantations. In addition, precise identification of tick species is crucial for epidemiological investigation, prevention, and control of TBDs in general. Obtaining baseline information and insights on tick microbiome and TBPs from Sarawak, Malaysian Borneo, is pivotal for the direction and design of upcoming research from this region, for example, by pinpointing the TBPs that required immediate attention. Therefore, this study aimed to conduct a molecular survey on different tick and rodent species collected from primary forests and an oil palm plantation in Sarawak, Malaysian Borneo.

The present thesis consists of five chapters. In chapter I, tick species collected from flagging and rodent hosts were identified with morphological and molecular methods. In chapter II, rodents and *Ixodes* ticks were screened for *Borrelia* spp., followed by species characterization using multilocus sequence analysis. In chapter III, high-throughput screening using Next-generation sequencing (NGS) for tick microbiome and tick-borne bacterial pathogens was conducted, followed by the multi-species comparative analysis of tick microbiome. In chapter IV, a molecular survey of tick-borne bacterial

pathogens was conducted in rodents. Finally, in chapter V, the tick-borne protozoal screening on *Babesia* was carried out on rodent and tick samples.



Figure 1. Malaysia is divided into a. Peninsular Malaysia and b. & c. Malaysian Borneo. Malaysian Borneo consists of b. Sarawak and c. Sabah states and is located in Borneo Island.

#### **Chapter I**

# Tick species identified from primary forests and an oil palm plantation in Sarawak, Borneo

### Introduction

In the tropics such as Malaysia, ticks are the second most important vector after mosquitoes causing human vector-borne diseases [56]. To date, at least 45 tick species have been documented in Malaysia [219]; however, their identification and systematics remain mostly unresolved. Moreover, tick morphological identification relies on dichotomous keys availability and requires intensive training. Nevertheless, the advance of molecular characterization using DNA markers, such as cytochrome c oxidase subunit I (*COI*) [95] and 16S rDNA (*mt-rrs*) [27], have enabled corroboration of several tick species in Malaysia based upon phenotypic and genotypic traits.

To date, tick species belonging to the genera of *Ixodes, Haemaphysalis, Dermacentor*, and *Amblyomma* have been previously described and characterized in Malaysia [46, 70, 71, 263]. These tick genera have been frequently documented from the vegetation and wildlife of primary, fringe, and secondary forest habitats or livestock farms in Malaysia [199]. Amongst, *Ixodes* is considered the most common and abundant tick species infesting mammals, especially rodents, in a study undertaking multiple sites in Peninsular Malaysia [170]. In addition, *Ixodes* is the only reported tick species where adult individuals can be found on rodents in Malaysia [199]. *Haemaphysalis hystricis, H. wellingtoni, and H. bispinosa* are the commonly reported species for the genus *Haemaphysalis* [70, 128]. Meanwhile, *D. steini, D. compactus, D. auratus*, and *D. atrosignatus* are the commonly reported *Dermacentor* ticks in Malaysia [71, 199]. *Amblyomma testudinarium* and *A. helvolum* parasitizing on large mammals and reptiles and amphibians, respectively, have been documented. Additionally, *A. cordiferum* was recently described from a reticulated python [263]. A list of literature that includes the recent morphological or molecular phylogenic identification of tick species in Malaysia is presented in Table 1.

Precise identification of tick species is essential for TBP investigation and effective TBD control and prevention. However, despite the importance, tick species distributed in Sarawak, Malaysian Borneo remains understudied. Thus, the aim of this study was to identify the tick species collected from the Sarawak state with morphological and molecular methods.

Table 1. A list of literature on morphological and molecular phylogenic identification on Malaysian tick
species until the year 2020.

No	Title	Year	Reference
1	Ticks (Ixodoidea) of Borneo and Malaya	1957	[140]
2	Description of new Dermacentor (Acari: Ixodidae) species from Malaysia and Vietnam	2015	[15]
3	Precise identification of different stages of a tick, Ixodes granulatus Supino, 1897 (Acari:	2016	[46]
	Ixodidae)		
4	Description of two new species of Dermacentor Koch, 1844 (Acari: Ixodidae) from	2016	[16]
	Oriental Asia		
5	Phenotypic and genotypic identification of hard ticks of the genus Haemaphysalis (Acari:	2017	[70]
	Ixodidae) in Peninsular Malaysia		
6	Amblyomma cordiferum Neumann, 1899 (Acari: Ixodidae) parasitizing reticulated	2019	[263]
	pythons, Malayopython reticulatus (Schneider, 1801) (Reptilia: Pythonidae) in		
	Peninsular Malaysia		
7	A checklist and key to the tick fauna (Acari: Ixodidae, Argasidae) of Pulau Tioman,	2020	[151]
	Malaysia		
8	Description and characterization of questing hard tick, Dermacentor steini (Acari:	2020	[71]
	Ixodidae) in Malaysia based on phenotypic and genotypic traits.		

## **Materials and Methods**

### **Ethics approvals**

The collecting of rodents and ticks was approved by the Forest Department Sarawak, Malaysia (Permit No. (91) JHS/NCCD/600-7/2/107 and Park Permit No. WL47/2018; Permit No. (11) JHS/NCCD/600-7/2/107(Jld2) and Park Permit No.WL5/2019). The sampling methods were approved by the Animal Care and Use Committee of Hokkaido University, Japan (Approval No. 18-0081). The samples were exported with the permission of the Forest Department Sarawak (No.18650).

#### Survey sites and sample collection

Two protected primary forests, Gunung Gading National Park (GGNP hereafter) (1.69°N, 109.85°E) and Kubah National Park (KNP hereafter) (1.61°N, 110.20°E), and an oil palm (OP hereafter) plantation (3.36°N, 113.69°E) in Sarawak were selected as the study sites. The rodents and ticks were collected from GGNP and KNP during the wet season in November 2018 and from the OP plantation during the dry season in March 2019 (Figure 2). The sampling period for each site ranged from 5–10 days. The rodents were captured using collapsible cage traps; their tentative species, sex, breeding status, and body measurements were recorded. The captured rodents were individually anesthetized using isoflurane, and the ticks attached to each rodent were removed. Questing ticks were also collected by dragging white flannel cloths over the forest floor at the rodent trapping sites. All ticks collected from rodent hosts and flagging were kept separately in 70% ethanol and stored at  $-20^{\circ}$ C until sample processing and DNA extraction.

#### DNA preparation and morphological identification of ticks

The tick genera or species were morphologically identified based on the taxonomic keys [46, 71, 140, 265] before the DNA extraction, followed by removing one leg of the ticks for DNA extraction. DNA was extracted by using the hot alkaline extraction method previously described by Mtambo et al. [197], with some modifications. Briefly,  $10 \,\mu$ L of 100 nM of sodium hydroxide was added and incubated at 95°C for 10 min, followed by adding 2  $\mu$ L of tris-hydrochloride buffer (pH 7.0).

### PCR amplification and sequencing

#### Tick mitochondrial 16S ribosomal DNA

For molecular identification and confirmation, a fragment of tick mitochondrial 16S ribosomal DNA (16S)rDNA) was amplified with the primer pair mt-rrs1 (5'-CTGCTCAATGATTTTTTAAATTGCTGTGG-3') and mt-rrs2 (5'-CCGGTCTGAACTCAGATCAAGTA-3'), which amplified about 400-bp fragment [277]. The PCR was conducted using Tks Gflex DNA Polymerase (Takara Bio, Shiga, Japan), with the following conditions: initial denaturation at 94°C for 1 min, followed by 40 cycles of 98°C for 10 sec, 55 °C for 15 sec, and 68°C for 24 sec, and a final extension at 68°C for 5 min. The amplification products were electrophoresed on a 1.2% agarose gel with Midori Green Direct DNA stain (Nippon Genetics, Tokyo, Japan) and visualized with a BLooK LED transilluminator (GeneDireX, Las Vegas, NV, USA). The Sanger sequencing was performed using the BigDye Terminator version 3.1 Cycle Sequencing Kit (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA, USA). The sequencing products were analyzed on an ABI Prism 3130 x genetic analyzer (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA, USA), according to the manufacturer's instructions.

#### Cytochrome c oxidase subunit 1 and TA cloning

Further characterization using PCR was conducted on 28 tick samples (Table 4) with the primer pair LC01490 (5'- GGTCAACAAATCATAAAGATATTGG-3') and HC02198 (5'-TAAACTTCAGGGTGACCAAAAAATCA-3'), which amplified a 710-bp fragment of Cytochrome c oxidase subunit 1 (*CO1*) gene. The PCR was conducted using KOD FX Neo, with the following conditions: initial denaturation at 95°C for 1 min, followed by 40 cycles of 98°C for 15 sec, 50°C for 15 sec, and 72°C for 30 sec, and a final extension at 72°C for 2 min. The amplification products were electrophoresed on a 1% agarose gel with ethidium bromide dye and visualized for the targeted bp size. After that, 17 amplified PCR products were purified with AxyPrep Magnetic Bead Purification Kit, and sequencing was performed by Genewiz (Azenta Life Sciences, Tokyo, Japan).

Five tick samples, including three samples of the genus *Amblyomma* (Sample IDs: Q023, Q015, and Q005) and two samples of the genus *Haemaphysalis* (Sample IDs: Q011 and Q013), were included for TA cloning. For the TA cloning, 1  $\mu$ L of 10X A attachment mix (Toyobo, Osaka, Japan) was added to 9  $\mu$ L of the PCR product from KOD FX Neo (Toyobo, Osaka, Japan), and the mixture was incubated at 60°C for 10 min. Ligation was conducted using 2X rapid ligation buffer following the quick protocol for the Promega pGEM-T Easy Vector Systems (Promega, Madison, WI, USA) and incubated at 12°C for 3 hrs. The transformation was performed using Competent Quick DH5 $\alpha$  (Toyobo, Osaka, Japan), followed by overnight incubation at 37°C. Colonies were cultivated in SOB (Super Optimal Broth) medium overnight before conducting the PCR using the *Ex Taq* Hot Start Version (Takara Bio, Shiga, Japan). Finally, PCR products were verified by electrophoresis and purified for Sanger sequencing.

#### 12S ribosomal DNA

Seven tick samples of the genera *Amblyomma* (Sample IDs: Q023, Q015, and Q005), *Dermacentor* (Sample IDs: Q007 and Q017), and *Haemaphysalis* (Sample IDs: Q011 and Q013) were further selected for 12S ribosomal DNA (12S rDNA) amplification and characterization. The

amplification was performed with primer pair Tick-12S+1 (5'- TACTATGTTACGACTTA-3') and Tick-12S-1 (5'-AAACTAGGATTAGATACCC-3'), which yielded about 400-bp fragment [205]. The PCR reaction mixture was prepared using KOD FX Neo (Toyobo, Osaka, Japan), and the PCR conditions were as follow: initial denaturation at 95°C for 1 min, followed by 40 cycles of 95°C for 15 sec, 50°C for 15 sec, and 72°C for 30 sec, and a final extension at 72°C for 5 min. The PCR products were visualized on a 1% agarose gel with ethidium bromide dye. Purification of PCR products was done using AxyPrep Magnetic Bead Purification Kit (Axygen, Tewksbury, MA, USA), and sequencing was performed by Eurofins Genomics.

## **Phylogenetic analysis**

Sequences obtained were compared with public databases using the Nucleotide Basic Local Alignment Search Tool (BLASTn) (<u>https://blast.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/Blast.cgi</u>). For phylogenetic analysis, 28 representative tick samples were included for 16S rDNA analysis and phylogenetic tree construction. Phylogenetic tree for *CO1* gene was also constructed to elucidate the genetic relatedness of three *Dermacentor* spp. in this study. All phylogenetic trees were constructed in MEGA version X [147] using the Maximum Likelihood or Neighbour-Joining method and Kimura 2-parameter model with a bootstrap of 1000 replications.



Figure 2. Map of the sampling sites. GGNP: Gunung Gading National Park; KNP: Kubah National Park; and OP: Oil palm plantation.

#### Results

Overall, 238 ticks from nine species of four genera were collected from GGNP, KNP, and OP plantation. Most of the ticks (n = 191) were collected from the OP plantation, while 47 ticks were from the primary forests, in which 83 ticks were collected from the rodents and 155 ticks were questing ticks. In general, a total of eight different tick species of *Ixodes*, *Haemaphysalis*, *Dermacentor*, *Amblyomma* genera were collected from both primary forests, GGNP and KNP. In comparison, four different tick species of three genera, including one *Ixodes*, two *Haemaphysalis*, and one *Dermacentor* species, were collected from the OP plantation. The tick species with the highest number collected was *H. shimoga* (n = 115) from the OP plantation, with all the developmental stages collected. This species from the genera of *Haemaphysalis* and *Dermacentor*, two different species belong to the *Amblyomma* genus, and one *Ixodes* species were successfully being identified based on the morphological and molecular identification. The number, developmental stage, feeding status, and collection site of each tick species are shown in Table 2.

By using the mitochondrial 16S rDNA, most of the ticks in this study were able to be identified up to their species level, except for one *Dermacentor* sp. (Sample IDs: Q007 and Q017) and one *Haemaphysalis* sp. (Sample IDs: Q011 and Q013) (Table 3, Figure 3). The unknown *Haemaphysalis* sp. and *Dermacentor* sp. were moderately related to *H. mageshimaensis* (AB819211) and *D. taiwanensis* (AB819169), respectively, with 92% identity (Table 3). Two individuals of *Amblyomma* ticks (Sample IDs: Q015 and Q005) were closely related to *Amblyomma* sp. UG (AB602349), a larva sample obtained from an adult man in Peninsular Malaysia, with 99% identity (398/402 bp) (Table 3, Figure 3). The samples were found to cluster together with *A. testudinarium* identified from Thailand, Taiwan, and Japan in the phylogenetic tree (Figure 3). Another *Amblyomma* tick in this study (Sample ID: Q023) showed a close relation with *A. geoemydae* (KT382864) collected from a compressed tortoise in Thailand with 95.6% identity (389/407 bp) (Table 3). This sample also appeared to cluster together with other *A. geoemydae* in the phylogenetic tree (Figure 3). Phylogenetic inference based on mitochondrial 16S rDNA of the tick species collected in this study is depicted in Figure 3.

Further characterization with tick *CO1* gene has successfully identified *Dermacentor* sp. (Sample IDs: Q007 and Q017) as *D. atrosignatus*. The *CO1* sequence obtained showed high identity with *D. atrosignatus* collected in Malaysia (MW766912), with 98.9% identity (635/643 bp) (Table 4, Figure 4). The molecular identification of *D. atrosignatus* was also compatible with the morphological observation. In general, sequence analysis results for the *CO1* gene for most of the tick species were consistent with the findings of 16S rDNA. For instance, *D. compactus* (Sample IDs: Q006 and Q021) and *H. hystricis* (Sample IDs: Q016 and F018) revealed over 99% identity with their respective reference sequence from

the database (Table 4). Meanwhile, *I. granulatus* from this study (Sample IDs: F028 and F059) showed 94.1% (619/658 bp) and 93.6% identity (615/657 bp) with the *I. granulatus* from China (MG721046) (Table 4). In addition, one *Amblyomma* tick (Sample ID: Q005) showed 97.4% identity (602/618 bp) with the *Amblyomma* sp. FLMNH 42105 (MF983562) collected in Myanmar, while another sample (Sample ID: Q015) showed 89.7% identity (590/658 bp) with *A. testudinarium* AT19B37 (LC553841) collected in Japan (Table 4). For *Amblyomma* tick sample ID: Q023, the *CO1* sequence showed 92.5% identity (608/657 bp) with the *A. geoemydae* (MK814531) collected in China (Table 4).

Sequence analysis of tick 12S rDNA for *Amblyomma* ticks with the sample IDs: Q015 and Q005 showed 93.3% identity (350/375 bp) with *A. testudinarium* AT19B37 (LC553841) collected in Japan. In comparison, sample ID: Q023 showed 93.9% identity (367/391 bp) with *A. geoemydae* (MK814531) collected in China (Table 4). These findings were consistent with the sequence analysis for the *CO1* gene. Furthermore, morphological observation based on the taxonomic keys for *Amblyomma* ticks (Sample IDs: Q015 and Q005) was consistent with their molecular identification of *A. testudinarium*. However, for sample ID: Q023, the morphological observation did not fully support the molecular identification of *A. geoemydae* and is listed as *A. geoemydae*-like hereafter. Thus far, sequence analysis of all three genes for *Haemaphysalis* sp. (Sample IDs: Q011 and Q013) could not resolve its taxonomic assignment up to the species level (Tables 3 and 4).

Table 2. Total number of ticks and their developmental stage and status identified from Gunung Gading National Park (GGNP), Kubah National Park (KNP), and an oil palm (OP) plantation.

		Sa	mpling period				
		November 20	18 N	Aarch 2019		Feeding	status
No	Tick species	GGNP	KNP	OP	Total	Feeding	Questing
1	Ixodes granulatus						
	Adult male (AM)	1	N/A	N/A	1	N/A	1
	Adult female (AF)	3	10	11	24	24	N/A
	Nymph (N)	N/A	2	4	6	6	N/A
	Larva (L)	N/A	N/A	6	6	6	N/A
	Total	4	12	21	37	36	1
2	Haemaphysalis hystricis						
	Adult female (AF)	1	N/A	1	2	N/A	2
	Nymph (N)	1	N/A	N/A	1	1	N/A
	Larva (L)	1	N/A	37	38	4	34
	Total	3	N/A	38	41	5	36
3	Haemaphysalis shimoga						
	Adult male (AM)	N/A	N/A	23	23	N/A	23
	Adult female (AF)	N/A	N/A	29	29	N/A	29
	Nymph (N)	N/A	N/A	22	22	18	4
	Larva (L)	N/A	N/A	41	41	18	23
	Total	N/A	N/A	115	115	36	79
4	Haemaphysalis sp.						
	Adult male (AM)	1	N/A	N/A	1	N/A	1
	Adult female (AF)	1	N/A	N/A	1	N/A	1
	Total	2	N/A	N/A	2	N/A	2
5	Dermacentor compactus						
	Adult male (AM)	2	1	N/A	3	N/A	3
	Adult female (AF)	1	2	N/A	3	N/A	3
	Total	3	3	N/A	6	N/A	6
6	Dermacentor steini						
	Adult female (AF)	5	3	N/A	8	3	5
	Nymph (N)	1	N/A	N/A	1	1	N/A
	Larva (L)	2	N/A	17	19	2	17
	Total	8	3	17	28	6	22
7	Dermacentor atrosignatus						
	Adult male (AM)	3	N/A	N/A	3	N/A	3
	Adult female (AF)	2	1	N/A	3	N/A	3
	Total	5	1	N/A	6	N/A	6
8	Amblyomma testudinarium						
	Adult male (AM)	1	N/A	N/A	1	N/A	1
	Nymph (N)	1	N/A	N/A	1	N/A	1
	Total	2	N/A	N/A	2	N/A	2

9	Amblyomma geoen	<i>nydae</i> -like						
	Nymph (N)		N/A	1	N/A	1	N/A	1
	Total		N/A	1	N/A	1	N/A	1
		Total	27	20	191	238	83	155

Sample	Developmental	BLASTn	Identity	Accession
Q015	AM	Amblyomma sp. UG (Malaysia)	99.0% (398/402 bp)	AB602349
Q005	Ν	Amblyomma sp. UG (Malaysia)	99.0% (398/402 bp)	AB602349
Q023	Ν	Amblyomma geoemydae isolate AGMI15 (Thailand)	95.6 % (389/407 bp)	KT382864
F007	AF	Ixodes granulatus (Malaysia)	98.5% (405/411 bp)	U95885
F055	AF	Ixodes granulatus (Malaysia)	99.3% (407/410 bp)	U95885
F028	AM	Ixodes granulatus (Malaysia)	98.5% (405/411 bp)	U95885
F059	Ν	Ixodes granulatus (Malaysia)	99.3% (407/410 bp)	U95885
F085	L	Ixodes granulatus (Malaysia)	98.8% (405/410 bp)	U95885
Q006	AM	Dermacentor compactus (Malaysia)	99.3% (402/405 bp)	MK316361
Q021	AF	Dermacentor compactus (Malaysia)	99.0% (401/405 bp)	MK316361
Q007	AM	Dermacentor taiwanensis (Tokushima, Japan)	92.1% (373/405 bp)	AB819169
Q017	AF	Dermacentor taiwanensis (Tokushima, Japan)	92.1% (373/405 bp)	AB819169
Q020	AF	Dermacentor steini (Malaysia)	99.5% (399/401 bp)	MK296407
F019	Ν	Dermacentor steini (Malaysia)	99.5% (399/401 bp)	MK296407
Q054	L	Dermacentor steini (Malaysia)	99.3% (398/401 bp)	MK296407
F022	L	Dermacentor steini (Malaysia)	99.8% (400/401 bp)	MK296407
Q016	AF	Haemaphysalis hystricis from Sus scrofa (China)	100% (401/401 bp)	MT294298
F018	Ν	Haemaphysalis hystricis from Sus scrofa (China)	100% (401/401 bp)	MT294298
Q134	AF	Haemaphysalis hystricis from Rattus tiomanicus (Malaysia)	98.0% (394/402 bp)	MT912970
Q105	L	Haemaphysalis hystricis from Rattus tiomanicus (Malaysia)	98.0% (394/402 bp)	MT912970
Q043	L	Haemaphysalis hystricis from Rattus tiomanicus (Malaysia)	98.0% (394/402 bp)	MT912970
F042	AF	Haemaphysalis shimoga (Thailand)	99.8% (403/404 bp)	KC170730
Q133	AF	Haemaphysalis shimoga (Thailand)	99.8% (403/404 bp)	KC170730
Q120	AM	Haemaphysalis shimoga (Thailand)	99.8% (403/404 bp)	KC170730
Q135	AM	Haemaphysalis shimoga (Thailand)	99.8% (403/404 bp)	KC170730
Q117	Ν	Haemaphysalis shimoga (Thailand)	99.8% (403/404 bp)	KC170730
Q011	AM	Haemaphysalis mageshimaensis (Kagoshima, Japan)	91.9% (373/406 bp)	AB819211
Q013	AF	Haemaphysalis mageshimaensis (Kagoshima, Japan)	91.9% (373/406 bp)	AB819211

Table 3. The sequence analysis results for mitochondrial 16S ribosomal DNA for 28 tick samples of eight species and four genera from this study.



#### Haemaphysalis

#### Dermacentor

#### Amblyomma

#### Ixodes

0.05

Figure 3. A maximum-likelihood phylogenetic tree based on mitochondrial 16S ribosomal DNA was constructed using 28 sequence samples from this study, the sequences from Takano et al. [260], and other published sequences from Malaysia and Thailand. Samples from this study are highlighted in bold and colors. Tick species not resolved are labeled as *Haemaphysalis* sp. and *Amblyomma geoemydae*-like in parentheses after their sample ID. Samples with identical sequences are listed in parallel with semicolons.

Gene	Sample ID	BLASTn	Identity	Accession no.
CO1	Q015	Amblyomma testudinarium AT19B37 (Japan)	89.7% (590/658 bp)	LC553841
	Q005	Amblyomma sp. FLMNH 42105 (Myanmar)	97.4% (602/618 bp)	MF983562
	Q023	Amblyomma geoemydae (China)	92.5% (608/657 bp)	MK814531
	F028	Ixodes granulatus (China)	94.1% (619/658 bp)	MG721046
	F059	Ixodes granulatus (China)	93.6% (615/657 bp)	MG721046
	Q006	Dermacentor compactus (Malaysia)	99.4% (635/639 bp)	MW766910
	Q021	Dermacentor compactus (Malaysia)	99.5% (636/639 bp)	MW766910
	F019	Dermacentor everestianus	87.4% (574/657 bp)	NC_042764
	Q020	Dermacentor everestianus	87.2% (573/657 bp)	NC_042764
	Q007	Dermacentor atrosignatus (Malaysia)	98.9% (636/643 bp)	MW766912
	Q017	Dermacentor atrosignatus (Malaysia)	98.8% (635/643 bp)	MW766912
	Q016; F018	Haemaphysalis hystricis (China)	99.1% (652/658 bp)	MT013253
	F042	Haemaphysalis bancrofti	88.7% (583/657 bp)	NC_041076
	Q133	Haemaphysalis bancrofti	88.7% (583/657 bp)	NC_041076
	Q011; Q013	Haemaphysalis verticalis	88.3% (581/658 bp)	KR108850
12S	Q005; Q015	Amblyomma testudinarium AT19B37 (Japan)	93.3% (350/375 bp)	LC553841
rDNA	Q023	Amblyomma geoemydae (China)	93.9 % (367/391 bp)	MK814531
	Q007; Q017	Dermacentor auratus (Singapore)	92.5% (343/371 bp)	MW034677
	Q011; Q013	Haemaphysalis longicornis (China)	91.2% (333/365 bp)	MK450606

Table 4. The sequence analysis results for Cytochrome c oxidase subunit 1 (*CO1*) and 12S ribosomal DNA (rDNA) for selected tick samples. Samples with identical sequences are listed in parallel.



Figure 4. A neighbor-joining phylogenetic tree for *Dermacentor* spp. was constructed based on the Cytochrome c oxidase subunit 1 (*CO1*) gene. Samples from this study are highlighted in bold and blue colors. *Dermacentor atrosignatus*, which could not be identified with mitochondrial 16S ribosomal DNA, was identified based on the *CO1* gene.

#### Discussion

In this study, ticks collected from primary forests (GGNP and KNP) and an oil palm (OP) plantation in Sarawak, Borneo, were identified. A total of nine species of four genera were collected from these locations, in which seven species: *I. granulatus*, *H. hystricis*, *H. shimoga*, *D. compactus*, *D. steini*, *D. atrosignatus*, and *A. testudinarium* were successfully identified up to species level based on both taxonomic keys and molecular methods. However, although multiple genes (16S rDNA, *CO1*, and 12S rDNA) of ticks were used to investigate the tick species, one species of the *Haemaphysalis* genus could not be resolved to its species level. Furthermore, one *Amblyomma* sp., which was revealed as closely related to *A. geoemydae* by molecular phylogeny, did not fully match the morphological description for the species. Nevertheless, this study provided the first molecular evidence of multiple tick species in Sarawak, with the first report of *H. shimoga* in Malaysia.

Petney et al. [218] presented the historical perspective of Southeast Asian ticks and pointed out that the current status in most countries of the region has stagnated, except for a few regional reports and important collections. The only two major studies on regional ticks came from Tanskul et al. [264] for Thailand, and Kolonin [141] for Vietnam. The enormous efforts by Harry Hoogstraal and colleagues from the 1960s to the 1980s had contributed to our knowledge of ticks in this region. Nevertheless, most of the knowledge is scattered throughout the specialist literature, and much earlier works are no longer published [218]. The lack of information and synopsis of tick species in the region has added to the difficulties of ticks identification based on morphological phylogenies.

Precise identification of tick species is essential to control TBDs, and traditionally, ticks identification relies mainly on the published morphological keys. However, species identification based on morphological data is laborious and requires well-trained personnel. Furthermore, it can be difficult when the specimens are physically damaged, engorged, or in sub-adult stages (larvae or nymphs). Molecular identification provides accurate and fast identification based on several genes [168]; however, it can be costly to perform in some Southeast Asian countries when resources are limited. Another limitation is the availability of reference sequence in the database; as for the *Haemaphysalis* sp. in this study, it could not be resolved to species level even though several genes were examined.

*Haemaphysalis shimoga* was first described by Tapido and Hoogstraal [275] as *H. cornigera shimoga* subspecies from Southern India, and its distribution has been recorded from Thailand, Cambodia, Myanmar, Vietnam, and China [141, 156, 264]. To the best of our knowledge, *H. shimoga* has not been documented in Malaysia, or at least the species may not be identified in the available published literature from Malaysia. However, there have been records of the *H. cornigera*, both male and female individuals reported from Peninsula and Borneo Island [140], collected from sambar deer (*Cervus unicolor*), wild boar, and humans. This study presented *H. shimoga* from all developmental stages collected from an oil

palm plantation but not from the primary forests. More investigation on distribution will be needed to better understand this tick species in the future. For *A. geoemydae*-like species in this study, only a single specimen (nymph) was available for morphological and molecular phylogeny comparisons. Therefore, more specimens of different developmental stages will be helpful for better phylogenic elucidations and confirmation.

Overall, morphological and molecular data contribution for ticks is crucial, especially for Southeast Asian countries like Malaysia, which will be beneficial for accurate identification of tick species in the future. Furthermore, the most basic data on tick distribution, prevalence, and interaction with hosts are still lacking, let alone information on TBDs surveillance. Therefore, more works are essential to elucidate the tick species from this region.

#### Summary

Precise identification of tick species is essential for TBP investigation and effective TBD control and prevention. However, tick species distributed in Sarawak, Borneo remains understudied. Thus, this study aimed to identify the tick species collected from two primary forests (GGNP and KNP) and an oil palm (OP) plantation in Sarawak with morphological and molecular methods. A total of 238 ticks collected from flagging and rodent hosts were first morphologically identified up to their genus or species level based on the available taxonomic keys. Molecular identification of ticks was conducted based on three genes, 16S rDNA, cytochrome c oxidase subunit 1 (CO1), and 12S rDNA. Overall, nine species of four genera were collected from GGNP, KNP, and OP plantation, in which seven species, Ixodes granulatus, Haemaphysalis hystricis, H. shimoga, Dermacentor compactus, D. steini, D. atrosignatus, and, Amblyomma testudinarium, were successfully identified up to species level. However, one Haemaphysalis sp. was not be resolved to its species level. Furthermore, one Amblyomma sp., which revealed as closely related to A. geoemydae by molecular phylogeny, did not fully match the morphological description for the species. Nevertheless, this study provides the molecular evidence of multiple tick species in Sarawak, with the first report of H. shimoga in Malaysia. Overall, tick morphological and molecular data is crucial, especially for Southeast Asian countries like Malaysia, which will be beneficial for accurate identification of tick species in the future.

#### **Chapter II**

Detection of *Borrelia burgdorferi* sensu lato and Relapsing fever *borrelia* in feeding *Ixodes* ticks and rodents in Sarawak, Malaysia: New geographical records of *Borrelia yangtzensis* and *Borrelia miyamotoi* 

## Introduction

Members of the *Borrelia burgdorferi* sensu lato (Bbsl) complex are etiological agents of Lyme disease (LD), which currently, more than 20 genospecies have been reported worldwide [179]. High incidences of LD and high occurrences of its causative bacterium have been continuously reported since the discovery of LD spirochetes in 1982 in North America and later in 1983 in Europe [220]. In North America, *B. burgdorferi* sensu stricto (Bbss), *B. afzelii, B. garinii, B. californiensis, B. bissettiae, B. kurtenbachii, B. mayonii,* and *B. spielmanii* are known to be responsible for LD [74, 174, 176, 225, 237]. While in Europe, Bbss, *B. garinii, B. afzelii,* and *B. bavariensis* are the predominant causative bacterium for LD cases [257]. The natural transmission cycles of Bbsl are maintained between their vertebrate reservoir hosts and ixodid (hard) ticks (Acari: *Ixodidae*) as the vector [96, 220]. LD remains one of the most important infectious diseases in these two continents. Moreover, this disease is also endemic in east Asian countries as there have been reports from China, Japan, Taiwan, South Korea, and Russia [119, 185].

Relapsing fever *Borrelia* (RFB) is categorized into three genetic groups: New World RFB, Old World RFB, and RFB harbored by ixodid ticks. Among them, New World and Old World RFB are transmitted by soft ticks and louse [21] and are endemic to the African countries, Middle East, Central Asia, southern Europe, and North America [21, 274]. On the other hand, RFB harbored by ixodid ticks, including *B. miyamotoi*, *B. lonestari*, and *B. theileri*, are mainly transmitted by the genus *Ixodes*, *Amblyomma*, and *Rhipicephalus* ticks, respectively [17, 76, 252]. Among these three, *B. miyamotoi* is pathogenic to humans [221], and *B. theileri* is responsible for bovine borreliosis [253]. *Borrelia miyamotoi* infection in humans was first reported in Russia in 2011, and, since then, cases have been documented in the United States, Europe, Japan, and northeastern China [105, 115, 143, 221, 245].

To date, the number of studies on TBPs, such as *Borrelia*, has been limited and largely overlooked in Malaysia. Only a few studies on *Borrelia* spp. were conducted in Peninsular Malaysia, in which most of the prior studies conducted focused on tick surveillance, and little is known about the occurrence of these etiological agents in most parts of Malaysia. For instance, serological evidence for *Borrelia* was provided by Tay et al. [267] by screening the blood donors and patients; also recently, by Khor et al. [132] from the survey of indigenous people of Peninsular Malaysia. Detection of *Borrelia* species has been reported from *I. granulatus* collected from rodents in Peninsular Malaysia [131], in which the *Borrelia* species closely related to *B. yangtzensis*, a member of Bbsl complex was reported. *Borrelia* sp. closely related to relapsing fever *Borrelia* was also detected from *H. hystricis* [130]. Nevertheless, no study on *Borrelia* has been conducted in Malaysian Borneo or Sarawak, so its status is unknown.

Most of the prior studies conducted in Peninsular Malaysia focused on tick surveillance, and little is known about the occurrence of these etiological agents in most parts of Malaysia, including Sarawak. Hence, this study investigated the presence of *Borrelia* spp. in rodents and *Ixodes* ticks collected in Sarawak, Malaysian Borneo.
# **Materials and Methods**

# **Sample collection**

Rodent and *Ixodes* tick samples used for this study were collected as mentioned in the Materials and Methods of Chapter I. All *Ixodes granulatus* ticks used in this study were partially or fully engorged individuals removed from rodent hosts.

### DNA preparation and species identification of rodents

For the *Borrelia* spp. screening in rodents, the selected rodents were euthanized following the method described by Taylor et al. [270] for internal organs collection. The collected organs were kept in 70% ethanol and subsequently stored at -20°C after being transferred back to the facility; the spleen samples of the rodents were used in this study. DNA was extracted from the rodent spleens at the Faculty of Resource Science and Technology, Universiti Malaysia Sarawak, using a Wizard® Genomic DNA Purification Kit (Promega, Madison, WI, USA), following the manufacturer's instructions. The DNA samples and ticks were sent to Hokkaido University, Japan, where the subsequent screenings and analyses of the samples were conducted.

For the molecular identification of the rodent species, a fragment of the cytochrome c oxidase subunit 1 (*CO1*) was amplified by PCR using the primer pairs BatL5310 and R6036R (Table 5) [238]. The PCRs were conducted in a 20 µL reaction mixture using the *Ex Taq* Hot Start version (Takara Bio, Shiga, Japan) with the following conditions: 30 cycles of denaturation at 94°C for 30 sec, annealing at 48°C for 30 sec, and extension at 72°C for 60 sec. The sequences obtained from Sanger sequencing and analysis were compared with public databases using the Nucleotide Basic Local Alignment Search Tool (BLASTn). In addition, the Barcode of Life Data System (BOLD; <u>http://www.barcodinglife.org</u>) was also used for the identification of rodent species [231].

# DNA preparation of *Ixodes* ticks

After identifying the tick species, *Ixodes* ticks were selected for *Borrelia* investigation. Ticks were washed with sterile phosphate-buffered saline (pH 7.4) and individually crushed with Micro Smash MS-100R (TOMY, Tokyo, Japan) for 30 sec at 2500 rpm. Next, the DNA was extracted using the Wizard® Genomic DNA Purification Kit, as specified in the manufacturers' protocol for animal tissue.

# Screening of Borrelia spp.

DNA from the rodent spleens and *Ixodes* ticks were subjected to the screening of Bbsl and RFB using a nested PCR targeting the *flaB*, which produces a 345 bp amplicon [259]. The PCR conditions were

as follows: 25 and 30 cycles of denaturation at 94°C for 30 sec, 55°C and 50°C of annealing for 30 sec, and extension at 72°C for 1 min in the first and nested PCR, respectively. The positive samples of the *flaB*-PCR were further characterized by additional PCRs, targeting 16S rDNA, which is approximately a 1,370 bp amplicon. For the *Ixodes* ticks, a single PCR with BF1 and BR1 primers was performed [240]. While, for the rodent samples, universal primers targeting bacterial 16S rDNA were added for the first PCR [284], BF and BR primers were added for the nested PCR. The PCR conditions for the single and nested PCRs were identical, i.e., 35 cycles of denaturation at 94°C for 30 sec, annealing at 55°C for 30 sec, followed by extension at 72°C for 90 sec. The PCR was conducted using the *Ex Taq* Hot Start version with a reaction mixture of 20  $\mu$ L. DNA from "*Candidatus* Borrelia fainii" strain Qtaro [228] and molecular-grade water were used for the positive and negative controls, respectively. Finally, the electrophoresis, PCR product purification, and Sanger sequencing were performed. All primers used are listed in Table 5.

### Multilocus sequence analysis of the *Borrelia* spp.

Four rodent and six tick samples were randomly selected from the *flaB* and 16S rDNA PCR positive samples and were used for multilocus sequence analysis (MLSA) based on the sequences of eight housekeeping genes (*clpA*, *clpX*, *nifS*, *pepX*, *pyrG*, *recG*, *rplB*, and *uvrA*). In order to obtain the sequences from these genes, previously described methods were employed with slight modification [173]. Briefly, nested PCRs using *Ex Taq* Hot Start version (Takara Bio, Shiga, Japan) were performed without the touchdown step initially. Then, for the samples that failed to amplify, PCRs were repeated with the touchdown step. Finally, the PCR products were observed with gel electrophoresis and purified using a FastGene Gel/PCR Extraction Kit (Nippon Genetics, Tokyo, Japan), followed by Sanger sequencing.

### Sequencing and phylogenetic analyses

The sequences were assembled and trimmed using the ATGC software version 6.0.4 (GENETYX, Tokyo, Japan) and compared with the sequences available in public databases using BLASTn. The phylogenetic trees were constructed using MEGA version X [147] with Neighbor-Joining or maximum likelihood models and the Kimura 2-parameter model with pairwise deletion and 1000 bootstrap replications. The phylogenetic relationships of the *Borrelia* spp. were also analyzed using the concatenated sequences of the eight genes and those of closely related *Borrelia* spp. downloaded from the PubMLST database (*https://pubmlst.org/*).

All the sequences obtained in this study are available in the GenBank database with following accession numbers: *flaB*: LC572294–LC572312; 16S rDNA: LC572071–LC572081; *clpA*: LC572082–LC572087; *clpX*: LC572088–LC572095; *nifS*: LC572096–LC572101; *pepX*: LC572102–LC572111;

*pyrG*: LC572112–LC572119; *recG*: LC572120–LC572128; *rplB*: LC572129–LC572136; and *uvrA*: LC572137–LC572145.

Table 5. Primers used in this study.

Primer name	Sequence (5' to 3')	Target gene (PCR type)	Annealing temperature (°C)	Amplicon size (bp)	Reference
BatL5310	CCTACTCRGCCATTTTACCTATG	Cytochrome oxidase subunit 1 of rodents (Single	48	750	[238]
R6036R	ACTTCTGGGTGTCCAAAGAATCA	PCR)			
BflaPAD	GATCARGCWCAAYATAACCAWATGCA	flaB of Borrelia (1st PCR)	55	800	[259]
BflaPDU	AGATTCAAGTCTGTTTTGGAAAGC				
BflaPBU	GCTGAAGAGCTTGGAATGCAACC	flaB of Borrelia (2nd PCR)	50	345	[259]
BflaPCR	TGATCAGTTATCATTCTAATAGCA				
fD1	AGAGTTTGATCCTGGCTCAG	Universal primer for 16S rDNA of bacteria	55	1,400	[284]
rp2	ACGGCTACCTTGTTACGACTT	(1st PCR for rodent samples)			
BF1	GCTGGCAGTGCGTCTTAAGC	16S rDNA of <i>Borrelia</i> (Single PCR for tick and 2nd	55	1,371	[240]
BR1	GCTTCGGGTATCCTCAACTC	PCR for rodent samples)			
*BF3_seq	AGATACCCTGGTAGTCTACGCT	16S rDNA of Borrelia	N/A	N/A	This study
*BR3_seq	GCTGCTGGCACGTAATTAGC				

\*Primers used for sequencing.

# Results

### **Identification of rodent species**

Overall, 97 rodents were trapped from two primary forests, Gunung Gading National Park (GGNP) and Kubah National Park (KNP), and an oil palm (OP) plantation, out of which 56 rodents were selected and used for this study based on the research permissions. Sample identity was shown as sampling site abbreviation (KNP-, GGNP-, and OP-), followed by a numerical assignment. The morphological and molecular identification of the rodents revealed 4 *Leopodamys sabanus*, 2 *Maxomys rajah*, 2 *M. whiteheadi*, 45 *Rattus* spp., and 3 *Sundamys muelleri* (Table 5). The rodents that were morphologically assigned to the *Rattus* spp., *R. tiomanicus*, and *R. tanezumi* were collectively grouped as one *Rattus* spp., as they were not molecularly identified as a single species.

### Detection of the *Borrelia* spp.

Out of the 56 rodent samples, four Rattus spp. (Sample IDs: OP-007, -014, -018, and -033) from the OP plantation and one S. muelleri (Sample ID: GGNP-04) from the GGNP were positive for the borrelial flagellin gene (*flaB*) in a PCR (Table 6). The prevalence of *Borrelia* spp. in rodents from GGNP, KNP, and the OP plantation were 16.7% (1/6), 0% (0/7), and 8.9% (4/45), respectively (Table 6). Subsequent analysis revealed that sequences from these five samples were different from each other. The sequences from OP-007 and OP-014 showed 100% (300/300 bp) and 95% identity (285/300 bp), respectively, with B. yangtzensis in I. granulatus extracted from rodent Niviventer fulvescens in China (EU135602). The sequence from OP-018 showed 100% identity (300/300 bp) with B. valasiana-related genospecies from rodent Suncus murinus in Japan (AB091710). The sequence from OP-033 showed 99.3% identity (298/300 bp) with B. valasiana-related genospecies from rodent Apodemus agrarius in China (AB022136). Finally, the sequence from GGNP-04 showed 100% identity (294/294 bp) with B. miyamotoi from I. nipponensis in South Korea (MH102393). For further characterization of the Borrelia spp., subsequent nested PCRs targeting the borrelial 16S rDNA were carried out and successful in four of the samples (OP-014, -018, -033, and GGNP-04). The sequence from OP-014 showed 99.6% identity (1,348/1,354 bp) with B. yangtzensis from H. longicornis in China (EU135595). The sequence from OP-018 showed 99.7% identity (1,350/1,354 bp) with B. valasiana-related genospecies from rodent A. agrarius in China (AB022141). The sequence from OP-033 showed 99.9% identity with B. valasianarelated genospecies from South Korea (U44938). Finally, the sequence from GGNP-04 showed 99.8% identity (1,352/1,355 bp) with B. miyamotoi from a febrile patient in Russia (CP037471).

Out of 32 *I. granulatus* samples, 14 samples (43.8%) were positive for *flaB*-PCR. The 14 samples included 1 female from KNP and 10 females, 1 nymph, and 2 larvae from the OP plantation. None of the I. granulatus samples from GGNP were positive for *flaB*-PCR. In addition, only one positive I. granulatus sample (Sample ID: IG-218) was collected from the Bbsl positive rodent, OP-033. Among the three sampling sites, the OP plantation recorded the highest number of tested samples and the highest prevalence of positive samples (72.2%; 13/18; Table 6). The details for the sequencing results of both flaB and 16S rDNA are shown in Table 6. From the sequence analysis, six I. granulatus (Sample IDs: IG-204, -206, -208, -213, -217, and -218) had an identical sequence of *flaB*, i.e., 100% identity (300/300 bp) with B. yangtzensis (EU135602). This sequence was also identical to that from the rodent sample, OP-007. Additionally, sequences from sample IDs: IG-214, -216, -220, -221, -222, and -228) were identical with Bbsl sequences from I. granulatus in Taiwan (HM853004), China (MG717513 and MG717514), and Malaysia (LT969779) (Table 7). Finally, the sequences from sample IDs: IG-215 and -219 showed 99.3% (298/300 bp) and 100% identity (300/300 bp), respectively, with B. valaisiana-related genospecies (AB091710), and the sequence from IG-215 was identical to that from the rodent sample, OP-018. Additionally, 7 out of the 14 I. granulatus samples with positive for flaB-PCR were successfully sequenced for 16S rDNA. The sequences showed high similarity with B. yangtzensis from China (EU135595 and EU135598) and South Korea (L39080) and with B. valaisiana-related genospecies from China (AB022140 and AB022141) (Table 7). Similarly, the same sequences were also detected in both tick and rodent samples. The sequence from IG-219 had an identical sequence to the rodent sample, OP-018.

## **Phylogenetic analysis**

Collectively, 19 samples (5 rodents and 14 *I. granulatus*) were positive for *flaB*-PCR and were included in the phylogenetic tree construction. Out of 19 samples, 18 were assigned to the clade of Bbsl and clustered together with *B. yangtzensis* or *B. valaisiana*-related genospecies (Figure 5). The remaining rodent sample (GGNP-04) was assigned to the RFB and clustered together with *B. miyamotoi* (Figure 5). In addition, the phylogenetic tree based on the 16S rDNA sequences revealed consistent clustering, as observed in *flaB* (Figure 6).

### Multilocus sequence analysis of the *Borrelia* spp.

All *I. granulatus* samples included for the MLSA were successfully amplified for the eight housekeeping genes. In the phylogenetic tree based on the concatenated MLSA genes, the *Borrelia* spp. from *I. granulatus* were located in the clade of *B. yangtzensis* (Figure 7). This trend was also confirmed

in the other phylogenetic trees based on *flaB* and 16S rDNA (Figures 5 and 6). For the four rodent samples included in MLSA, a minimum of two (1/4), four (2/4), and six (1/4) housekeeping genes were successfully amplified. Therefore, the phylogenetic inferences of the *Borrelia* species in both rodent and tick samples were made on a per gene basis. The phylogenetic analysis based upon each housekeeping gene showed that the rodent samples (OP-007, -014, -018, and -033) were located in the clade of *B. yangtzensis* with *I. granulatus* from this study.

	November	2018	March 2019	
Rodent species	GGNP	KNP	ОР	Total
Leopodamys sabanus	0/2	0/2	N/A	0/4
Maxomys rajah	N/A	0/2	N/A	0/2
Maxomys whiteheadi	0/2	N/A	N/A	0/2
Rattus spp.	N/A	0/3	4/42	4/45
Sundamys muelleri	1/2	N/A	0/1	1/3
Total	1/6	0/7	4/43	5/56
Ixodes granulatus	GGNP	KNP	OP	Total
Female	0/3	1/9	10/10	11/22
Nymph	N/A	0/2	1/3	1/5
Larva	N/A	N/A	2/5	2/5
Total	0/3	1/11	13/18	14/32

Table 6. The number of rodent species and Ixodes granulatus used for the screening of Borrelia spp.

No. of positive/No. of tested. Gunung Gading National Park (GGNP), Kubah National Park (KNP), oil palm (OP).

Gene	Sample ID	BLASTn	Similarity (bp)	Accession no.
flaB	IG-204	Borrelia vangtzensis	300/300	EU135602
<b>J</b>	IG-206			
	IG-208			
	IG-213			
	IG-217			
	IG-218			
	IG-215	Borrelia valaisiana-related genospecies	298/300	AB091710
	IG-219		300/300	
	IG-214	Borrelia sp. TKM-30 from Ixodes granulatus (Taiwan)	298/300	HM853004
	IG-216			
	IG-220	Uncultured <i>Borrelia</i> sp. clone Borr65 from <i>Ixodes granulatus</i> (China)	300/300	MG717514
	10 220	Uncultured Borrelia sp. clone BorrIg from Ixodes granulatus	500/500	Morristi
	IG-221	(China)	297/300	MG717513
	IG-222	Uncultured Borrelia sp. from Ixodes granulatus (Malaysia)	299/300	LT969779
	IG-228		300/300	
				_
16S rDNA	IG-213	Borrelia yangtzensis strain QX-S13 (China)	1347/1354	EU135598
	IG-216	Borrelia sp. 9MT (South Korea)	1351/1354	L39080
	IG-217	Borrelia valaisiana-related genospecies from rodent Apodemus	13/8/135/	AB022140
	IG-217	ugrunus (China)	1246/1254	AB022140
	10-220		1540/1554	
	IG-218	Borrelia yangtzensis	1351/1354	EU135595
	IG-219	Borrelia valaisiana-related genospecies	1350/1354	AB022141
	IG-221		1349/1354	

Table 7. The sequence analysis results for the borrelial flagellin gene (*flaB*) and 16S ribosomal DNA (rDNA) of *Ixodes* ticks.



Figure 5. Phylogenetic tree based on *flaB* sequences of the *Borrelia* species. The phylogenetic tree was constructed in MEGA version X [147] by the Neighbor-Joining model with Kimura-2 parameter and 1000 bootstrap replications. The sequences from ticks and rodents obtained in this study are shown in red and blue, respectively. All positive tick samples were collected from an oil palm (OP) plantation; the location is not indicated except for one sample from Kubah National Park (KNP).



Figure 6. Phylogenetic tree based on 16S rDNA sequences of the *Borrelia* species. The phylogenetic was constructed in MEGA version X [147] by the Neighbor-Joining model with Kimura-2 parameter and 1000 bootstrap replications. The sequences from ticks and rodents obtained in the present study are shown in red and blue, respectively. All samples were collected from an oil palm (OP) plantation, except one sample, which was from Gunung Gading National Park (GGNP).



Figure 7. Phylogenetic inference of the *Borrelia burgdorferi* sensu lato. The samples are shown in red. The sequences obtained from eight housekeeping genes were trimmed and concatenated in the order of *clpA*, *clpX*, *nifS*, *pepX*, *pyrG*, *recG*, *rplB*, and *uvrA*, according to the *Borrelia* PubMLST database. The maximum likelihood model was used with 1000 bootstrap replications for the phylogenetic construction in MEGA version X [147].

# Discussion

This study investigated *Borrelia* spp. in *I. granulatus* and rodents, *L. sabanus*, *M. rajah*, *M. whiteheadi*, *Rattus* spp., and *S. muelleri* from primary forests (GGNP and KNP) and an OP plantation in Sarawak, Malaysia. *Borrelia yangtzensis* from *I. granulatus* and *Rattus* spp. and *B. miyamotoi* from *S. muelleri* were identified. This study is the first evidence of *B. miyamotoi* in Malaysia and *B. yangtzensis* in Sarawak, Malaysian Borneo.

Borrelia yangtzensis detected from I. granulatus in this study was formerly known as B. valaisiana-related genospecies since phylogenetic inferences showed a close relation but a clear distinction to B. valaisiana (a member of the Bbsl complex in Europe) [175]. However, unlike B. valaisiana that utilizes birds as the reservoir host, and Ixodes ticks as the vector [175, 281], B. yangtzensis is maintained and transmitted through a natural infection cycle between rodents and Ixodes ticks [120]. Isolations of B. yangtzensis from different rodent species were recorded from Rattus spp., S. murinus, Mus spp., and A. agrarius in Japan, China, and Taiwan [120, 184, 186], as well as from different *Ixodes* tick species, such as *I. nipponensis* in South Korea and *I. granulatus* in Japan and China [48, 120, 183]. Recently, a *Borrelia* sp. closely related to *B. yangtzensis* was detected in Peninsular Malaysia from I. granulatus collected from different rodent species [131]. Takhampunya et al. [261] also identified B. yangtzensis from one rodent and two tick pools of Ixodes spp. collected from rodents in northern Thailand. This is similar to this study, as B. yangtzensis was detected from Rattus spp. and I. granulatus for the first time in Sarawak. These results suggest that B. yangtzensis is circulated, and Rattus spp. and I. granulatus play the roles of the natural reservoir and vector, respectively, in Sarawak. However, there is a limitation in this study; as all of the positive *Ixodes* ticks were engorged, whether borrelial DNA detected from the tick samples was from the blood meal host could not be ruled out. Thus, further investigations of B. yangtzensis in unfed I. granulatus are required to confirm the vector species of this bacterium in Sarawak. In addition, *I. granulatus* has been documented from migratory birds in Taiwan by Kuo et al. [146]. Migratory birds are known to play an important role in the dispersal of Bbsl, with previous reports involving Ixodes ticks from Japan, South Korea, and Russia [116, 193, 196]. Moreover, studies in Canada by Scott et al. [247, 248] showed that migratory birds disperse Bbsl-infected ticks over a long distance and across geographical barriers. Thus, investigation of ticks collected from migratory birds in Malaysia might help expand knowledge of Bbsl, including B. yangtzensis.

Multilocus sequence analysis was first introduced by Margos et al. [173] for depicting the evolutionary processes of *B. burgdorferi*. By targeting multi loci, eight housekeeping genes were developed for the Bbsl complex [173] and have been subsequently used in other studies to characterize

the complexity of the Bbsl genospecies [120, 175]. In recent years, this method has also proven to be useful in comparing the intraspecific diversity, elucidating population genetic structure, and other ecological aspects that may contribute to the transmission dynamics of the Bbsl genospecies [198, 207]. Further, MLSA has been used to confirm *B. yangtzensis* from the isolates of ticks and rodents from China and Japan [175]. Based on MLSA, the phylogeny inference revealed that the isolates formed two sister clusters, with each cluster consisting of isolates from both China and Japan. Concordantly, in this study, the concatenated sequences of *B. yangtzensis* from *I. granulatus* were also located in two sister clades.

On the human pathogenic aspect, *B. valaisiana* had been regarded as the causative agent of LD in humans but was recently proven otherwise [177]. Two human LD cases caused by *B. valaisiana*-related genospecies were reported from Japan and China [202, 242], but Margos et al. [175, 177] later ratified them be *B. yangtzensis* and suggested *B. valaisiana* as a non-human pathogenic. Although *B. yangtzensis* may potentially be a human pathogenic, there is currently no study providing further evidence. Even though the significance of *B. yangtzensis* in humans and animals is not yet fully understood, the findings of *B. yangtzensis* in this study imply the likelihood that the bacterium circulates within the *Ixodes* ticks and rodents in primary forests and OP plantation in Sarawak. *Borrelia* spp. closely related to *B. yangtzensis* were also detected from *I. granulatus* in Peninsular Malaysia [131]. Of note, *I. granulatus* is a rare parasite of humans with few related reports. Yun et al. [290] identified only one female of *I. granulatus* from 261 ticks they collected from humans in South Korea. A checklist of ticks from Thailand, dated back to 1983, documented that humans could be hosts for this tick species [264]. However, it was not clear in these studies whether the *I. granulatus* collected were biting humans. Thus, more investigations are required to evaluate the pathogenicity to humans and understand the transmission cycle of *B. yangtzensis* in Malaysia.

*Borrelia miyamotoi*, the causative agent of RF, was first isolated from *I. persulcatus* ticks in Japan [76]. To date, several *Ixodes* tick species are considered as a vector of *B. miyamotoi*. For instance, *I. scapularis* and *I. pacificus* are the vectors reported in the United States and Canada, *I. ricinus* in Europe, and *I. persulcatus* in Europe and Asia [58, 76, 115, 144, 226]. So far, the reservoir hosts, based on the geographical distribution, for *B. miyamotoi* are still not well understood, but rodents and birds have been considered as the reservoir hosts in some regions [162, 270]. In this study, *B. miyamotoi* was detected from *S. muelleri* in GGNP; this is the first report of *B. miyamotoi*. Furthermore, the infection rate of *B. miyamotoi* was much lower than that of *B. yangtzensis* in this study. Generally, the infection rate of *B. miyamotoi* in rodents and ticks appears to be lower than that of Bbsl species as per previous studies in Japan and Russia [226, 270]. Furthermore, another study on the prevalence of *B. miyamotoi* infection in *I. scapularis* conducted in Canada was low (<1%) [58]. Moreover, the reported prevalence of *B. miyamotoi* 

in questing *Ixodes* ticks ranged from 1.3% in *I. ricinus* to 3.6% in *I. persulcatus* [281]. For future studies, the sample size of the rodents and ticks should be increased to find the vector tick species and to describe the diversity and distribution of *B. miyamotoi* in Sarawak. In addition, *B. miyamotoi* has been recently reported from *H. concinna* in Northeastern China [48]. In Europe, migratory birds have been reported as the reservoir host of *B. miyamotoi* or play a role in the dispersal of tick vectors [162]. Thus, the investigations of other tick species and birds may provide more in-depth insights into *B. miyamotoi* in Sarawak.

The sampling in this study was conducted only once for the primary forests (GGNP and KNP) and the OP plantation in different seasons, which yielded a small sample size, especially in the sampling during the wet season. Small sample size and lack of sampling repetition may have contributed to the low number of positive samples in this study, as *B. miyamotoi* was only positive in one rodent, and *B. yangtzensis* was not detected in the rodents from GGNP and KNP. In addition, only rodent spleens were used in this study for Bbsl and RFB screening. Future works to estimate the prevalence should include ear biopsies and other internal organs, as Bbsl and *B. miyamotoi* may not have the same strategies for the maintenance and dissemination in the same reservoir host [22]; therefore, different tissue may yield different detection rates [291]. Despite the incomparable rodent numbers, the number of *Ixodes* ticks from the primary forests and OP plantation were fairly similar (14 and 18, respectively). In the OP plantation, 13 ticks were positive for *B. yangtzensis*; in contrast, in the primary forests, only one tick from KNP was positive. Land conversion with a human-dominated ecosystem could have a potent effect on reservoirs and the zoonotic risk because of the alterations of host diversity and composition [81, 161]. The difference observed in this study might be reflected by the variation between the primary forest and OP plantation. A follow-up study to evaluate this hypothesis should encompass a larger sampling size with repetition.

In conclusion, this study examined *Borrelia* spp. in rodents and ticks from primary forests and an OP plantation. This study showed the presence of *B. miyamotoi* for the first time in Malaysia and also reported the first detection of *B. yangtzensis*, which was characterized by using MLSA in both rodents and *I. granulatus* in Sarawak. These findings of *Borrelia* spp. in Sarawak provide evidence of a new geographical record. This study warrants the need for further investigations as it is important to determine how the *Borrelia* spp. may impact public health in Malaysia.

# **Summary**

Members of the *Borrelia* burgdorferi sensu lato (Bbsl) complex are etiological agents of Lyme disease (LD), and *Borrelia miyamotoi* is one of the relapsing fever *Borrelia* (RFB). Despite the serological evidence of LD in Malaysia, there has been no report from Sarawak, Malaysian Borneo. Thus, this study aimed to detect and characterize *Borrelia* species in rodents and *Ixodes* ticks from primary forests and an oil palm (OP) plantation in Sarawak. *Borrelia yangtzensis* (a member of the Bbsl complex) was detected in 43.8% (14/32) of *Ixodes granulatus*, and most of the positive ticks were from the OP plantation (13/14). Out of 56 rodents, *B. yangtzensis* was detected in four *Rattus* spp. from the OP plantation, and *B. miyamotoi* was detected in one rodent, *Sundamys muelleri*, from the primary forest. Furthermore, the positive samples of *B. yangtzensis* were randomly selected for multilocus sequence analysis (MLSA). The MLSA results of successfully amplified tick samples revealed a clustering with the sequences isolated from Japan and China. This study is the first evidence of *B. miyamotoi*, a known human pathogen in Malaysia, and *B. yangtzensis*, which is circulating in ticks and rodents in Sarawak, Malaysian Borneo, and presenting a new geographical record of the *Borrelia* spp.

# **Chapter III**

# Insights on the microbiome and tick-borne pathogens of ixodid ticks in Sarawak, Malaysian Borneo

## Introduction

Ticks harbor a high abundance of symbiotic and commensal microorganisms that can be obligate or facultative presence. The obligate endosymbionts are maternally inherited microorganisms essential for tick survival and development. For instance, *Coxiella*-like endosymbiont and the *Francisella*-like endosymbiont (*Coxiella*-LE and *Francisella*-LE hereafter) are two well-established non-pathogenic microorganisms, which are essential for tick survival and development [67, 68]. Both *Coxiella*-LE and *Francisella*-LE hereafter) are two well-established non-pathogenic microorganisms, which are essential for tick survival and development [67, 68]. Both *Coxiella*-LE and *Francisella*-LE act in providing vitamin B and co-factor, which are deficient in the tick-specific hematophagous diet but crucial for growth and development. It was evident that eliminating *Francisella*-LE impaired tick development [68]. Similar to *Francisella*-LE, vitamin B biosynthesis pathways were also discovered in the genome of *Coxiella*, evident in its functionality as nutritional bacteria [85]. Facultative endosymbionts, on the contrary, although not fundamental in the tick life cycle, these microorganisms may be involved in the manipulation of the tick immune system and reproduction. Some known facultative endosymbionts like arsenophonos, rickettsia, spiroplasma, and wolbachia are commonly present in arthropods and have a role in manipulating the reproduction [69], have also been described in ticks [10, 49, 203, 276].

Ticks can acquire microorganisms via the environment and blood meal hosts, and these factors can add to the bacterial complexity [150, 293]. The different ontogeny stages and sex of ticks have been reported in previous studies in shaping the bacterial community [208, 298]. Furthermore, the interaction between non-pathogenic microorganisms and pathogens in ticks has gained substantial interest as it may be fundamental to the disease control measurements. For instance, Abraham et al. [2] revealed the capability of *A. phagocytophilum* in modulating the gut microbiota of *Ixodes scapularis* ticks to favor its colonization. Narasimhan et al. [200] also demonstrated the link between gut microbiota and *Borrelia burgdorferi* colonization in *Ixodes scapularis* ticks. Besides, shifting between pathogenic and non-pathogenic forms may occur for some bacterial genera as an evolutionary process due to ecological and epidemiological implications [31, 66]. The roles of non-pathogenic microorganisms in ticks have continuously been corroborated in different contexts such as tick development and pathogen transmission, which can be resolved with the advent of high throughput methods such as NGS. Hence, revealing the tick microbiome on the top of pathogen detection has become the new paradigm as glancing into the

microbiome structure of different tick species under different circumstances may be pivotal to unravel the complexity and subsequently provide probable solutions to control the disease transmission.

Studies employing NGS elucidating tick endosymbionts have appeared to be limited in Malaysia. The bacterial community in three *Haemaphysalis* tick species (*H. hystricis*, *H. wellingtoni*, and *H. bispinosa*) collected from domestic animals from the indigenous people settlements was reported by Khoo et al. [128]. In addition, another study presented bacterial communities for *Haemaphysalis*, *Dermacentor*, and *Amblyomma* collected from wild boars in the peninsula [157]. Overall, the information for tick microbiome in large parts of Malaysia is still unknown.

TBDs afflicting humans and animals can be caused by a vast range of bacterial genera, such as *Anaplasma*, *Ehrlichia*, *Bartonella*, *Coxiella*, *Rickettsia*, and so on. In Malaysia, *C. burnetii*, the causative agent for Q fever, has been detected from two tick samples: *D. steini* and *H. hystricis* collected from wildlife and livestock [129]. In addition, a study in Peninsular Malaysia detected *Rickettsia* spp. closely related to *R. raoultii*, *R. tamurae*, *R. heilongjiangensis*, and *R. asiatica* from ticks, pointing out the diversity of rickettsial species and potential tick vectors in this part of Malaysia [127]. Several genotypes of *Bartonella bovis* have been detected from cattle and ticks infesting this animal, *H. bispinosa* [124]. Recently, *Bartonella* sp. closely related to *B. phoceensis* was also reported from *Dermacentor* sp. and rodent host [18]. However, it is noteworthy that the transmission of *Bartonella* spp. by ticks to humans and animals is still controversially discussed. Nevertheless, studies on TBDs are generally lacking in Malaysia and have remained under-investigated in Sarawak, Borneo.

In this study, tick samples collected from the primary forests and an oil palm plantation in Sarawak, Malaysian Borneo (Figure 1) were used for the screening. We targeted the microbiome in the collected tick species using NGS and bioinformatics. We further identified the main endosymbionts and characterized the potential pathogens detected for each tick species. We also explored the factors that may contribute to the difference of microbial composition and richness in ticks. Altogether, this was the first initiative we took to outline the tick microbiome and TBPs from Sarawak state, which provided us with important insights that will become the direction of upcoming research on TBP prevalence study and control strategy.

# **Materials and Methods**

### **Bacterial 16S rDNA amplification**

A total of 210 ticks consisting of different developmental stages and feeding statuses as identified in Chapter I were included in this study. Overall, the samples consisted of six tick species: *I. granulatus* (n = 32), *H. hystricis* (n = 36), *H. shimoga* (n = 110), *D. compactus* (n = 4), *D. steini* (n = 24), and *D. atrosignatus* (n = 4). Amplification targeted the 16S rDNA V3-V4 hypervariable regions, and sample preparation was performed following the procedure in the Illumina 16S Metagenomic Sequencing library preparation manual (Illumina, Inc., San Diego, CA, USA). The targeted region was amplified by PCR with primer set (338F and 806R) as in Klindworth et al. [135]. A total volume of 25 µL PCR reaction mixture was prepared with 12.5 µL of 2 x KAPA HiFi HotStart ReadyMix (KAPA Biosystems, Wilmington, MA, USA), 1 µM of each forward and reverse primers, and 2 µL of the extracted DNA. Negative control PCR reactions were prepared using molecular-grade water in place of DNA samples, and mock DNA extractions were also subjected for PCR. Amplification was run using the following thermal cycling conditions: an initial denaturation at 95°C for 3 min, followed by 35 cycles of 95°C for 30 sec, 55°C for 30 sec and 72°C for 30 sec, followed by a final extension for 5 min at 72°C. The amplicon PCR products were electrophoresed on a 1.2% agarose gel with Midori Green Direct DNA stain and visualized with a BLooK LED transilluminator for the expected size of 460 base pair.

# Library preparation and sequencing

Amplified PCR products were purified via Agencourt AMPure XP beads. Nextera XT Index Kit (Illumina, Inc., San Diego, CA, USA) was used to provide unique dual indices for each purified sample. The purification step was repeated, and the size integrity of the amplicons was verified on a Bioanalyzer. Finally, all samples were quantified and pooled in equimolar concentrations, and paired-end sequencing was conducted on an Illumina MiSeq platform using a MiSeq v3 reagent kit (600-cycle, paired-end) (Illumina, Inc., San Diego, CA, USA). The combined library included negative controls, which were later on used as a standard to identify and remove suspected contaminants during the data analysis. Library preparation, samples purifications, and high throughput sequencing were conducted at the National Institute for Environmental Studies (NIES, Ibaraki, Japan).

### Data analysis

Microbiome data sequences were analyzed in Quantitative Insights in Microbial Ecology 2 (QIIME2 2019.10) [32]. Illumina Fastq sequence data were demultiplexed and quality-filtered using the

q2-demux plugin followed by denoising with DADA2 [41], then assigned to amplicon sequence variants (ASVs). Potential contaminants were then identified using the Decontam package [53] in R (version 4.0.2, Core R Team, 2020) by the frequency method with a threshold of 0.4 and checked manually in reference to the negative controls before filtering out using the QIIME2 sequence identifiers. Next, taxonomy was assigned using Greengenes 13\_8 99% reference sequences [189]. Unidentified ASVs and those identified as chloroplast and in negative controls were removed as well as bacterial sequences not assigned to phylum level. Paired-end reads were aligned with mafft [118] and used to construct a rooted phylogenetic tree with fasttree2 [224].

Diversity analysis was performed on decontam-filtered feature table at the species level in QIIME2 after samples were rarefied for sufficient sequencing depth for the observed number of OTUs from all samples and removed samples with low sequence read counts. Four alpha-diversity metrics: Shannon's diversity, observed OTUs, Faith's Phylogenetic Diversity (Faith' PD) [73], and Pielou evenness and four beta-diversity metrics: weighted UniFrac [166], unweighted UniFrac [165], Jaccard distance, and Bray-Curtis dissimilarity were quantified using QIIME2. The statistical significances for both alpha- and beta- diversity metrics were then configured using the vegan package in R software [209]. Furthermore, the significance of beta-diversity was tested by Permutational multivariate analysis of variance (PERMANOVA) [9] using 999 permutations. Principal coordinate analysis (PCoA) was plotted based on the four distance matrices using the R package phyloseq [190] to visualize the differences.

In addition, the differential abundance of the taxonomic groups was visualized using taxa\_heatmap function in the qiime2 R package in R (version 2.13.0). Furthermore, Analysis of Composition of Microbiome (ANCOM) [172] was conducted to determine the dissimilarity among different tick species and the effect of life stage and feeding status for *H. shimoga*. Linear discriminant analysis effect size (LEfSe) was done using the Huttenhower lab Galaxy pipeline [249] to test these dissimilarities in the context of relative abundances. Additionally, for some indicated tick species, the pairwise analysis was performed to test the difference between the ticks that harbored the bacteria species and those that were negative (e.g., *Borrelia*- positive vs. *Borrelia*-negative *Ixodes granulatus*).

### PCR amplification and sequencing of bacteria

PCR was performed to characterize the species of each bacteria detected in tick samples in NGS screening. The following bacteria genera: *Anaplasma, Ehrlichia, Bartonella, Coxiella, Francisella,* and *Rickettsia,* were targeted in the PCR amplification and sequencing. The details of all primers used in the bacteria species identification are described in Table 8.

DNA amplification for *Bartonella*, *Francisella*, and *Rickettsia* was conducted using *Ex Taq* Hot Start Version in a reaction mixture of 20  $\mu$ L. The conditions used in the PCR assays were as follows: 35 or 40 cycles of denaturation at 94°C for 30 sec, annealing temperature according to each respective primer set for 30 sec, and extension at 72°C for 30 sec, 60 sec or 90 sec depending on the targeted amplicon size. Single PCRs were performed in all the DNA amplification, except semi-nested PCR was conducted for the *gltA* gene of *Bartonella*.

For Anaplasma, Ehrlichia, and Coxiella identification, Tks Gflex DNA Polymerase was used for DNA amplification with a reaction mixture of 25  $\mu$ L. Nested PCR was conducted for Anaplasma and Ehrlichia with the following conditions: initial denaturation at 95°C for 3 min, followed by 40 cycles of denaturation step at 95°C for 30 sec, 48°C and 54°C of annealing for 30 sec, and extension at 68°C for 90 sec, with a final extension at 68°C for 5 min in the first and second PCR, respectively. DNA of Coxiella was amplified with nested or semi-nested PCRs. The conditions were as follows: initial denaturation at 94°C for 1 min, followed by 40 cycles of denaturation at 68°C for 10 sec, 54°C or 56°C of annealing for 15 sec, and extension at 68°C for 1 min, with a final extension at 68°C for 5 min.

Finally, all the PCR products were verified with electrophoresis, followed by the Sanger sequencing. The resulting sequences were assembled and trimmed using the ATGC software version 9.0.0 and compared with the sequences available in the public databases using the BLASTn.

All the sequences obtained in this study are available in the GenBank database with following accession numbers: *Anaplasma* (LC602250); *Ehrlichia* (LC602251); *Francisella* (16S rDNA: LC602252–LC602256; *tul4*: LC602776–LC602781); *Rickettsia* (16S rDNA: LC602357–LC602360; *ompA*: LC602733–LC602736; *ompB*: LC602737–LC602740; *gltA*: LC602741–LC602744; *Sca4*: LC602745–LC602748; *htrA*: LC602770–LC602773); *Bartonella* (*ftsZ*: LC602774; *gltA*: LC602775); *Coxiella* (23S rDNA: LC602368–LC602388; 16S rDNA: LC602389–LC602400; *dnaK*: LC602703–LC602712; *rpoB*: LC602713–LC602732; *groEL*: LC602749–LC602769).

49

Organism	Primer name	Sequence (5' to 3')	Target gene (PCR type)	Annealing temperature (°C)	Amplicon size (bp)	Reference
Bacteria	338F	ACTCCTACGGGAGGCAGCAG	16S ribosomal DNA V3 and V4 hypervariable regions	55	460	[135]
	806R	GGACTACHVGGGTWTCTAAT	(Single FCK)			
Anaplamatacea	EC9	TACCTTGTTACGACTT	16S ribosomal DNA (1st PCR)	48	1,400	[7]
	EC12A	TGATCCTGGCTCAGAACGAACG				[215]
	A17a	GCGGCAAGCCTCCCACAT	(Nested PCR)	54	1,300	[121]
	IS58-1345R	CACCAGCTTCGAGTTAAACC				
	*Ana16_seq1	TCCTTAGTTGCCAGCGGGTT		N/A	N/A	This study
	*EA16_seq2	GGCATAGCTGGATCAGGCTT	Anaplasma: Ana16_seq1 and EA16_seq2			
	*Ehr16_seq1	TCGATGCTACGCGAAAAACC	Ehrlichia: Ehr16_seq1 and EA16_seq2			
Bartonella	CS443f	GCTATGTCTGCATTCTATCA	citrate synthase gene, gltA			[26]
	CS1210r	GATCYTCAATCATTTCTTTCCA	CS443f and CS1210r (1st PCR)	48	767	[25]
	BhCS1137.n	AATGCAAAAAGAACAGTAAACA	CS443f and BhCS1137.n (Semi-nested PCR)	48	694	[206]
	Bfp1	ATTAATCTGCAYCGGCCAGA	cell division protein gene, ftsZ (Single PCR)	55	900	[292]
	Bfp2	ACVGADACACGAATAACACC				
	*ftz_seq3	TCTGGTGTTGCTTCCATTACAGA		N/A	N/A	This study
Coxiella	CoxdnaKF3	GGTACKTTYGATATTTCCATC	chaperone protein DNAK, dnaK (1st PCR)	54	636	[66]
	CoxdnaKR	CGTCATGAYKCCGCCYAAGG				
	CoxdnaKF2	GAAGTGGATGGCGARCAYCAATT	(Nested PCR)	54	512	
	CoxdnaKR3	CTTGAATAGCYGCACCAATAGC				
	CoxGrF1	TTTGAAAAYATGGGCGCKCAAATGGT	chaperone protein GROEL, groEL (1st PCR)	56	655	
	CoxGrR2	CGRTCRCCAAARCCAGGTGC				
	CoxGrF2	GAAGTGGCTTCGCRTACWTCAGACG	(Nested PCR)	56	619	
	CoxGrR1	CCAAARCCAGGTGCTTTYAC				
	CoxrpoBF2	GGGCGNCAYGGWAAYAAAGGSGT	$\beta$ subunit of bacterial RNA polymerase gene, <i>rpo</i> B (1st	56	607-610	
	CoxrpoBR1	CACCRAAHCGTTGACCRCCAAATTG				
	CoxrpoBF3	TCGAAGAYATGCCYTATTTAGAAG	(Nested PCR)	56	539-542	
	CoxrpoBR3	AGCTTTMCCACCSARGGGTTGCTG				
						-

	Cox16SF1	CGTAGGAATCTACCTTRTAGWGG	16S ribosomal DNA	52-56		
	Cox16S_07F	AGAGTTTGATYMTGGCTCAG	Cox16SF1 and Cox16SR2 (1st PCR)		1,321-1,429	
	Cox16SR2	GCCTACCCGCTTCTGGTACAATT	Cox16S_07F and Cox16SR2 (1st PCR)		1,434-1,542	
	Cox16SR1	ACTYYCCAACAACAGCTAGTTCTCA	Cox16S_07F and Cox16SR1 (Semi-nested PCR)		832-939	
	Cox23SF1	GCCTGCGAWAAGCTTCGGGGAG	Large ribosomal subunit (1st PCR)	56	694-1188	
	Cox23SR2	CTCCTAKCCACASCTCATCCCC				
	Cox23SF2	GATCCGGAGATWTCYGAATGGGG	Large ribosomal subunit (Nested PCR)	56	583-867	
	Cox23SR1	TCGYTCGGTTTCGGGTCKACTC				
Francisella	FT393	ATGGCGAGTGATACTGCTTG	membrane protein/T-cell epitope, TUL4 (Single PCR)	53	248	[163]
	FT642	GCATCATCAGAGCCACCTAA				
	MS1	CAGCTACTACACAAAGCAGTGG	Outer membrane protein, <i>fop</i> A (Single PCR)	58	707	[99]
	MAI	CACCATTTACTGTATAGCACGC				
	F11	TACCAGTTGGAAACGACTGT	16S ribosomal DNA (Single PCR)	51	1,000	[75]
	F5	CCTTTTTGAGTTTCGCTCC				
	*Fran16F_seq1	TCGTCAGCTCGTGTTGTGAA	16S ribosomal DNA	N/A	N/A	This study
	*Fran16R_seq2	GCATTTCACCGCTACACCAG				
Rickettsia	gltA_Fc	CGAACTTACCGCTATTAGAATG	citrate synthase gene, gltA (Single PCR)	55	580	[77]
	gltA_Rc	CTTTAAGAGCGATAGCTTCAAG				
	Rr.190.70p	ATGGCGAATATTTCTCCAAAA	outer membrane A gene, ompA (Single PCR)	48	542	[233]
	Rr.190.70p Rr.190.602n	ATGGCGAATATTTCTCCAAAA AGTGCAGCATTCGCTCCCCCT	outer membrane A gene, <i>omp</i> A (Single PCR)	48	542	[233]
	Rr.190.70p Rr.190.602n 120_2788	ATGGCGAATATTTCTCCAAAA AGTGCAGCATTCGCTCCCCCT AAACAATAATCAAGGTACTGT	outer membrane A gene, <i>omp</i> A (Single PCR) outer membrane B gene, <i>omp</i> B (Single PCR)	48	542 816	[233]
	Rr.190.70p Rr.190.602n 120_2788 120_3599	ATGGCGAATATTTCTCCAAAA AGTGCAGCATTCGCTCCCCCT AAACAATAATCAAGGTACTGT TACTTCCGGTTACAGCAAAGT	outer membrane A gene, <i>omp</i> A (Single PCR) outer membrane B gene, <i>omp</i> B (Single PCR)	48 48	542 816	[233]
	Rr. 190.70p Rr. 190.602n 120_2788 120_3599 17K_5	ATGGCGAATATTTCTCCAAAA AGTGCAGCATTCGCTCCCCCT AAACAATAATCAAGGTACTGT TACTTCCGGTTACAGCAAAGT GCTTTACAAAATTCTAAAAACCATATA	outer membrane A gene, <i>omp</i> A (Single PCR) outer membrane B gene, <i>omp</i> B (Single PCR) 17-kDa common antigen gene, <i>htr</i> A (Single PCR)	48 48 52	542 816 550	[233]
	Rr.190.70p Rr.190.602n 120_2788 120_3599 17K_5 17K_3	ATGGCGAATATTTCTCCAAAA AGTGCAGCATTCGCTCCCCCT AAACAATAATCAAGGTACTGT TACTTCCGGTTACAGCAAAGT GCTTTACAAAATTCTAAAAAACCATATA TGTCTATCAAATTCACAACTTGCC	outer membrane A gene, <i>omp</i> A (Single PCR) outer membrane B gene, <i>omp</i> B (Single PCR) 17-kDa common antigen gene, <i>htr</i> A (Single PCR)	48 48 52	542 816 550	[233]
	Rr.190.70p   Rr.190.602n   120_2788   120_3599   17K_5   17K_3   Rick_16S_F3	ATGGCGAATATTTCTCCAAAA AGTGCAGCATTCGCTCCCCCT AAACAATAATCAAGGTACTGT TACTTCCGGTTACAGGAAAGT GCTTTACAAAATTCTAAAAACCATATA TGTCTATCAATTCACAACTTGCC ATCAGTACGGAATAACTTTTA	outer membrane A gene, <i>omp</i> A (Single PCR) outer membrane B gene, <i>omp</i> B (Single PCR) 17-kDa common antigen gene, <i>htr</i> A (Single PCR) 16S ribosomal DNA (Single PCR)	48 48 52 52	542 816 550 1,328	[233] [241] [152] [14]
	Rr.190.70p   Rr.190.602n   120_2788   120_3599   17K_5   17K_3   Rick_16S_F3   Rick_16S_F4	ATGGCGAATATTTCTCCAAAA AGTGCAGCATTCGCTCCCCCT AAACAATAATCAAGGTACTGT TACTTCCGGTTACAGGCAAAGT GCTTTACAAAATTCTAAAAAACCATATA TGTCTATCAATTCACAACTTGCC ATCAGTACGGAATAACTTTTA TGCCTCTTGCGTTAGCTCAC	outer membrane A gene, <i>omp</i> A (Single PCR) outer membrane B gene, <i>omp</i> B (Single PCR) 17-kDa common antigen gene, <i>htr</i> A (Single PCR) 16S ribosomal DNA (Single PCR)	48 48 52 52	542 816 550 1,328	[233] [241] [152] [14]
	Rr.190.70p Rr.190.602n 120_2788 120_3599 17K_5 17K_3 Rick_16S_F3 Rick_16S_F4 *SeqRick16SF	ATGGCGAATATTTCTCCAAAA AGTGCAGCATTCGCTCCCCCT AAACAATAATCAAGGTACTGT TACTTCCGGTTACAGGAAAGT GCTTTACAAAATTCTAAAAAACCATATA TGTCTATCAATTCACAACTTGCC ATCAGTACGGAATAACTTTTA TGCCTCTTGCGTTAGCTCAC CAGCTCGTGTCGTG	outer membrane A gene, <i>omp</i> A (Single PCR) outer membrane B gene, <i>omp</i> B (Single PCR) 17-kDa common antigen gene, <i>htr</i> A (Single PCR) 16S ribosomal DNA (Single PCR)	48 48 52 52 N/A	542 816 550 1,328 N/A	[233] [241] [152] [14] This study
	Rr.190.70p Rr.190.602n 120_2788 120_3599 17K_5 17K_3 Rick_16S_F3 Rick_16S_F4 *SeqRick16SF *SeqRick16SR	ATGGCGAATATTTCTCCAAAA AGTGCAGCATTCGCTCCCCCT AAACAATAATCAAGGTACTGT TACTTCCGGTTACAGGAAAGT GCTTTACAAAATTCTAAAAAACCATATA TGTCTATCAATTCACAACTTGCC ATCAGTACGGAATAACTTTTA TGCCTCTTGCGTTAGCTCAC CAGCTCGTGTCGTG	outer membrane A gene, <i>omp</i> A (Single PCR) outer membrane B gene, <i>omp</i> B (Single PCR) 17-kDa common antigen gene, <i>htr</i> A (Single PCR) 16S ribosomal DNA (Single PCR)	48 48 52 52 N/A	542 816 550 1,328 N/A	[233] [241] [152] [14] This study
	Rr.190.70p Rr.190.602n 120_2788 120_3599 17K_5 17K_3 Rick_16S_F3 Rick_16S_F4 *SeqRick16SF *SeqRick16SR	ATGGCGAATATTTCTCCAAAA AGTGCAGCATTCGCTCCCCCT AAACAATAATCAAGGTACTGT TACTTCCGGTTACAGGAAAGT GCTTTACAAAATTCTAAAAAACCATATA TGTCTATCAATTCACAACTTGCC ATCAGTACGGAATAACTTTTA TGCCTCTTGCGTTAGCTCAC CAGCTCGTGTCGTG	outer membrane A gene, <i>omp</i> A (Single PCR) outer membrane B gene, <i>omp</i> B (Single PCR) 17-kDa common antigen gene, <i>htr</i> A (Single PCR) 16S ribosomal DNA (Single PCR) surface cell antigen-4, <i>sca</i> 4 (Single PCR)	48 48 52 52 N/A 50	542 816 550 1,328 N/A 928	[233] [241] [152] [14] This study [250]
	Rr.190.70p   Rr.190.602n   120_2788   120_3599   17K_5   17K_3   Rick_16S_F3   Rick_16S_F4   *SeqRick16SF   *SeqRick16SR   D1f   D928r	ATGGCGAATATTTCTCCAAAA AGTGCAGCATTCGCTCCCCT AAACAATAATCAAGGTACTGT TACTTCCGGTTACAGGAAAGT GCTTTACAAAATTCTAAAAACCATATA TGTCTATCAATTCACAACTTGCC ATCAGTACGGAATAACTTTTA TGCCTCTTGCGTTAGCTCAC CAGCTCGTGTCGTG	outer membrane A gene, <i>omp</i> A (Single PCR) outer membrane B gene, <i>omp</i> B (Single PCR) 17-kDa common antigen gene, <i>htr</i> A (Single PCR) 16S ribosomal DNA (Single PCR) surface cell antigen-4, <i>sca</i> 4 (Single PCR)	48 48 52 52 N/A 50	542 816 550 1,328 N/A 928	[233] [241] [152] [14] This study [250]

# Results

A total of 6,110,903 raw paired-end reads were obtained from the Illumina MiSeq sequencer. Sequences obtained were demultiplexed and quality filtered, resulting in 509,467 high-quality reads assigned to 9287 features retained after the DADA2 quality control analysis. Among 210 ticks from six species of three genera, four samples were excluded from the analysis due to quality reasons. Tick samples were categorized into three groups for microbial analysis. The first group included all ticks from their available life stages. The second group consisted of only the adult stage ticks because not all tick species collected had all life stages represented (*H. hystricis* excluded). Finally, since *H. shimoga* had the most comprehensive sample structure, we examined the effect of different life stage and feeding status for this species.

### **Tick species microbial variations**

Microbial diversity analysis revealed significant differences among tick species, regardless of tick life stage, when all ticks or only adult ticks were included in the analysis. Amongst, genus *Dermacentor* showed the highest microbial diversity in Faith's PD (p < 0.001), in observed OTUs (p < 0.05 and p < 0.001), and Shannon diversity (p < 0.05) (Figure 8). Next, *I. granulatus* had significantly higher microbial diversity than *H. shimoga* in Faith's PD (p < 0.05) (Figure 8). When comparing the microbial diversity between the three species of *Dermacentor*, *D. steini* was significantly less diverse than *D. compactus* in observed OTUs (p < 0.05) and in Faith's PD (p < 0.001) and *D. atrosignatus* in Faith's PD (p < 0.001) (Figure 8). However, it was not significant when only adult stage *Dermacentor* was included in the analysis. Pairwise LEfSe analyses also supported these findings as indicated that the genus *Dermacentor* displayed a greater number of taxonomy groups that were significantly more abundant than other tick species, consistent with the alpha diversity results that the genus had the highest microbial diversity. Finally, species evenness was relatively high for all species examined, and a significant difference was observed between *H. hystricis* and *H. shimoga* (p < 0.001) (Figure 8).

Next, the pairwise PERMANOVA comparisons for the beta diversity analyses revealed that microbial composition was significantly different among the tick species, except between the *D. compactus*, *D. steini*, and *D. atrosignatus* were not significantly different (Table 9). Consistently, results with only adult ticks showed significant difference between tick species, except for the three *Dermacentor* spp. Of all tick species, *H. shimoga* had greater pseudo-F values estimated in pairwise comparisons with other tick species for all four beta diversity metrics that were significant (p = 0.001) (Table 9). Adult *H. shimoga* ticks also formed a distinct cluster from *I. granulatus* and *Dermacentor* species in the Bray-

Curtis dissimilarity and Jaccard distance plots (Figure 9). Overall, results revealed a highly significant microbial composition difference in *H. shimoga*. Meanwhile, *H. hystricis* also showed greater difference in unweighted and weighted UniFrac distances with *D. compactus* (pseudo-F = 27.76 and 18.95; p = 0.001) and *D. atrosignatus* (pseudo-F = 26.79 and 18.2; p = 0.001). No significant difference was observed between three *Dermacentor* species (p > 0.05) and they clustered together as shown in unweighted and weighted UniFrac distance plots of adult ticks (Figure 9).

### Microbial composition and main endosymbionts for each tick species

Overall, the most abundant phylum identified in ticks was Proteobacteria (76.77%). The rest of the phyla accounted for less than 10%, and they were Actinobacteria (6.69%), Chlamydiae (6.67%), Spirochaetes (3.26%), Firmicutes (1.44%), Bacteroidetes (1.43%), and Planctomycetes (1.12%). Notably, Spirochaetes were only present in I. granulatus and accounted for 18.9% of its total relative abundance, which was characterized as *B. yangtzensis*, a member of Bbsl complex, in Chapter II for *Borrelia* screening. Heatmap (Figure 10) showed the taxonomy groups that were more abundantly represented in each tick species. For instance, Rickettsiales could be found in most tick species such as *I. granulatus*, *H. hystricis*, H. shimoga, and D. steini, while order Legionellales was mainly distributed in H. shimoga. Differentially abundant taxonomy groups for each tick species were identified by pairwise LEfSe analyses. Taxonomy groups always in high abundance including Planctomycetes, Actinobacteria, Bacteroidetes, and Rhizobiales for D. compactus and D. atrosignatus, while Gammaproteobacteria, Pseudomonadales, Legionellales, and Francisellaceae for D. steini. LEfSe results also showed that H. shimoga harbored more taxonomy groups which were more abundant than H. hystricis, including Coxiellaceae, Actinomycetales, and *Mycobacteriaceae*. Additionally, while *Coxiellaceae* was highlighted to be the more abundant group found in H. shimoga, Borreliaceae was evident for I. granulatus, and Francisellaceae was noted for D. steini. Pseudomonadales and Enterobacteriales were among the taxonomy groups that were found more abundant in *H. hystricis* when compared with other tick species.

Main endosymbionts were identified in some tick species, except for *D. compactus* and *D. atrosignatus* (Table 10). For *I. granulatus*, Rickettsiales (25.63%) was the dominant bacteria, and for *H. shimoga*, *Coxiella* accounted for 50% of its relative abundance. Some tick species had more than one endosymbionts dominating, for instance, *Acinetobacter* and Rickettsiales were the bacteria that found dominating in *H. hystricis*. In *D. steini*, *Acinetobacter* (21.96%), Rickettsiales (17.90%), and *Francisella* (17.87%) were most abundant. Meanwhile, in *D. compactus* and *D. atrosignatus*, most taxonomy groups were present with a relative abundance of less than 10%. Furthermore, *Francisella* was not detected in *D. compactus* and *D. atrosignatus*, but we detected *Francisella* (2.25%) in *I. granulatus*.

## Ontogenic and sex on microbial variations of Haemaphysalis shimoga

Alpha diversity analysis of different developmental stages of H. shimoga ticks revealed that adult ticks showed significantly higher microbial diversity than nymphs and larvae by observed OTUs (p < 0.05and p < 0.001, respectively) and Shannon diversity (p < 0.05) (Figure 11). However, microbial diversity was not significantly different between adult male and female and between the nymph and larva of H. shimoga ticks. The Pielou's evenness analysis showed that the microbiota was evenly distributed in all H. shimoga developmental stages (Figure 11). Furthermore, the microbial composition of the adult females was significantly different (p = 0.001) from nymphs and larvae, in which beta diversity analysis results showed distinct clusters between adult females and larvae were observed in weighted UniFrac distance (pseudo-F = 34.29), Bray-Curtis dissimilarity (pseudo-F = 24.62), and Jaccard distance (pseudo-F = 20.87) plots of H. shimoga (Table 11, Figure 12). Similarly, adult male and larva H. shimoga ticks were significantly different (p = 0.001) in microbial composition in unweighted (pseudo-F = 5.84) and weighted (pseudo-F = 10.50) UniFrac distance, Bray-Curtis dissimilarity (pseudo-F = 8.57), and Jaccard distance (pseudo-F = 8.37) analyses. Adult male *H. shimoga* ticks were also significantly different from *H. shimoga* nymphs with unweighted (pseudo-F = 3.52; p = 0.001) and weighted (pseudo-F = 4.79; p = 0.004) UniFrac distance, Bray-Curtis dissimilarity (pseudo-F = 3.53; p = 0.002), and Jaccard distance (pseudo-F = 4.32; p = 0.003). There was a significant difference detected between the microbial composition of adult male and female *H. shimoga* ticks in unweighted (pseudo-F = 1.91; p = 0.03) and weighted (pseudo-F = 3.57; p = 0.006) UniFrac distance, Bray-Curtis dissimilarity (pseudo-F = 2.65; p = 0.004), and Jaccard distance (pseudo-F = 2.63; p = 0.003) analyses. Additionally, nymph and larva of H. shimoga ticks were not greatly different in microbial composition, with unweighted (pseudo-F = 1.65; p = 0.126) and weighted (pseudo-F = 1.85; p = 0.11) UniFrac distance showed not significantly different, while Bray-Curtis dissimilarity (pseudo-F =2.13; p = 0.006), and Jaccard distance (pseudo-F =2.10; p = 0.001) revealed significance (Table 11).

Furthermore, pairwise LEfSe analyses revealed the differential abundance for adult ticks was indicated by *Coxiellaceae* and *Mycobacteriaceae*. Rickettsiales, Burkholderiales, Xanthomonadales, and Caulobacterales were significantly more abundant in nymph than adult female ticks, whereas only Rickettsiales and Comamonadacea family were significantly more abundant than adult male ticks. One phylum, three classes, six orders and five families were found significantly more abundant in larva when compared with adult female ticks, including orders Chlamydiales and Burkholderiales, which also significantly more abundant than adult male ticks. These microbial difference observed was supported by the presence of main endosymbionts in different life stage and sex. As shown in the Table 12 and Heatmap

(Figure 13), genus *Coxiella* was found to dominate the adult ticks and dual symbiosis was observed for nymph and larva. For instance, the presence of Rickettsiales and *Coxiella* in nymphs and Rickettsiales and *Candidatus* Rhabdochlamydia in larvae. Contrary to nymph and larva, order Rickettsiales was found in low relative abundance in adult ticks.

### The effect of Borrelia infection on Ixodes granulatus microbiome

Alpha and beta diversity analyses were conducted on 13 *Borrelia*-positive and 15 *Borrelia*negative *I. granulatus* ticks. Based on PERMANOVA pairwise comparison, the microbial composition between the positive and negative ticks was significantly different (p = 0.001) for unweighted and weighted UniFrac distance, Jaccard distance, and Bray-Curtis dissimilarity analyses (Table 13). For microbial diversity analyses, we detected significantly different values for faith's PD (p = 0.006). Additionally, pairwise LEfSe analysis revealed taxonomy groups with significant differential abundance for the positive and negative ticks. Additionally, pairwise LEfSe analysis revealed taxonomy groups with significant differential abundance for the positive and negative ticks (Figure 14). For instance, *Borrelia*negative ticks had more abundant Rickettsiales, *Acinetobacter*, Moraxellaceae, and Pseudomonadales (Figure 14).

### **Bacteria species characterization**

Bacteria identified in NGS were verified and characterized using conventional PCRs. The number of NGS- and PCR- positive ticks are shown in Table 14. Table 15 listed the sequence analysis from the successfully amplified bacteria from their respective tick species and the targeted genes that amplified in PCRs. Overall, bacteria species from six genera: *Coxiella, Francisella, Rickettsia, Anaplasma, Ehrlichia,* and *Bartonella* were identified from the ticks.

Amongst, *Coxiella* sp. closely related to *Coxiella*-LE was identified in *H. shimoga* and *H. hystricis* ticks with 86.9-99.8% identity. *Francisella* sp. closely related to *Francisella*-LE strain FLE011 from *Hyalomma marginatum marginatum* in Bulgaria (HQ705174) was identified from *D. steini* and *I. granulatus* ticks with 94.9% identity (203/214 bp) based on *tul4* gene. In addition, *Francisella* sp. closely related to *Francisella* endosymbiont of *D. atrosignatus* isolate DASSD4 in Thailand (KC170748) was identified in *D. steini* with 99.9% identity (1,100/1,101 bp) based on 16S rDNA. Furthermore, *R. heilongjiangensis*, the causative agent for spotted fever rickettsiosis in humans, was identified from *H. shimoga* ticks. Phylogenetic trees constructed with multiple target genes also showed the clustering with *R. heilongjiangensis* (Figure 15). *Anaplasma* sp. closely related to *A. platys* isolated in deer in China (KJ659044), with 98.9% identity (1,313/1,327 bp) was identified from *D. atrosignatus*. *Ehrlichia* sp.

identified from *H. shimoga* in this study had 98.9% identity (1,315/1,330 bp) with the *Ehrlichia* sp. EBm52 of *Rhipicephalus microplus* reported in Thailand (AF497581). Phylogenetic tree based on 16S rDNA for *Anaplasma* and *Ehrlichia* inferred that the *Anaplasma* sp. and *Ehrlichia* sp. in this study clustered with *A. platys* and *E. ewingii*, respectively (Figure 16). *Anaplasma platys* is known to cause canine cyclic thrombocytopenia, while *E. ewingii* caused human monocytic ehrlichiosis in humans. In addition, two *Bartonella* spp. were identified from *D. steini* and *I. granulatus* ticks. *Bartonella* sp. closed related to *B. rattimassiliensis* isolated from European *Rattus norvegicus* in France (AY515124), with 97.8% identity (703/719 bp) was identified in *D. steini* based on the *gltA* gene. *Bartonella* sp. closely related to *B. tribocorum* strain MVT04 detected in human blood in France (HG969192), with 97.1% identity (868/894 bp) was identified in *I. granulatus* tick based on the *ftsZ* gene.



Figure 8. Alpha-diversity analysis of All ticks and Adult ticks with a) Shannon, b) Faith's Phylogenetic Diversity, c) observed Operational Taxonomic Units, and d) Pielou's evenness. Tick species are abbreviated as follows: IG (*Ixodes granulatus*), HH (*Haemaphysalis hystricis*), HS (*H. shimoga*), DC (*Dermacentor compactus*), DS (*D. steini*), and DA (*D. atrosignatus*). Genus *Dermacentor* (DC, DA, and DS) was significantly (p < 0.001) higher in microbial diversity than other tick species regardless of the developmental stage.



Figure 9. Principal Coordinate Analysis plots of All ticks and Adult ticks with a) unweighted UniFrac distance, b) weighted UniFrac distance, c) Jaccard distance, and d) Bray-Curtis dissimilarity showed significant dissimilarity in microbial composition between tick species, especially for *Haemaphysalis shimoga* (HS) (p = 0.001) in c) Jaccard distance and d) Bray-Curtis dissimilarity plots of Adult ticks.

Table 9. Pairwise PERMANOVA (Permutational multivariate analysis of variance) results for All ticks and Adult ticks. Significance of unweighted and weighted UniFrac distance, Bray-Curtis dissimilarity, and Jaccard distance was tested with 999 permutations. Significance *p*-values are italicized in the table. Tick species are abbreviated as follows: IG (*Ixodes granulatus*), HH (*Haemaphysalis hystricis*), HS (*H. shimoga*), DC (*Dermacentor compactus*), DS (*D. steini*), and DA (*D. atrosignatus*).

			unweighted	l UniFrac di	stance	weighted U	niFrac dista	ince	Bray-Curt	is dissimilari	ity	Jaccard dis	stance	
Group 1	Group 2	Sample size	pseudo-F	<i>p</i> -value	q-value	pseudo-F	<i>p</i> -value	q-value	pseudo-F	<i>p</i> -value	q-value	pseudo-F	<i>p</i> -value	q-value
All ticks														
HS	DC	83	26.35	0.001	0.002	14.03	0.001	0.002	3.92	0.002	0.004	3.43	0.003	0.005
	IG	107	9.13	0.001	0.002	19.68	0.001	0.002	14.00	0.001	0.003	12.04	0.001	0.002
	HH	105	9.71	0.001	0.002	10.70	0.001	0.002	17.20	0.001	0.003	14.20	0.001	0.002
	DA	83	25.39	0.001	0.002	14.57	0.001	0.002	3.91	0.003	0.005	3.42	0.002	0.004
	DS	100	8.37	0.001	0.002	5.59	0.001	0.002	12.34	0.001	0.003	11.09	0.001	0.002
DC	IG	32	10.84	0.001	0.002	4.05	0.003	0.004	1.64	0.015	0.017	1.58	0.016	0.020
	HH	30	27.76	0.001	0.002	18.95	0.001	0.002	2.91	0.001	0.003	2.52	0.001	0.002
	DA	8	0.93	0.645	0.645	1.01	0.437	0.437	0.96	0.972	0.972	0.97	0.91	0.910
	DS	25	5.69	0.002	0.003	6.55	0.002	0.003	1.90	0.012	0.015	1.89	0.01	0.015
IG	HH	54	5.12	0.001	0.002	10.02	0.001	0.002	4.26	0.001	0.003	3.41	0.001	0.002
	DA	32	10.28	0.001	0.002	4.25	0.004	0.005	1.63	0.032	0.034	1.57	0.018	0.021
	DS	49	3.05	0.004	0.004	6.02	0.002	0.003	2.76	0.002	0.004	2.54	0.001	0.002
HH	DA	30	26.79	0.001	0.002	18.27	0.001	0.002	2.90	0.001	0.003	2.51	0.001	0.002
	DS	47	3.62	0.003	0.003	2.11	0.052	0.056	1.88	0.01	0.015	1.42	0.083	0.089
DA	DS	25	5.19	0.002	0.003	6.55	0.002	0.003	1.90	0.012	0.015	1.89	0.012	0.016
Adult ticks														
HS	DC	50	27.19	0.001	0.001	26.16	0.001	0.003	9.07	0.001	0.003	7.91	0.001	0.003

		<b>.</b>									<b>.</b>			
	IG	67	10.68	0.001	0.001	28.50	0.001	0.003	23.79	0.001	0.003	20.69	0.001	0.003
	DA	50	29.33	0.001	0.001	28.44	0.001	0.003	9.01	0.001	0.003	7.87	0.001	0.003
	DS	53	13.78	0.001	0.001	11.86	0.001	0.003	14.26	0.001	0.003	12.42	0.001	0.003
DC	IG	25	8.81	0.001	0.001	3.44	0.009	0.015	1.62	0.028	0.047	1.50	0.02	0.033
	DA	8	1.06	0.39	0.390	0.77	0.726	0.726	0.97	0.948	0.948	0.98	0.888	0.888
	DS	11	1.33	0.187	0.229	1.72	0.18	0.200	1.42	0.11	0.137	1.39	0.1	0.125
IG	DA	25	9.13	0.001	0.001	4.00	0.003	0.006	1.62	0.036	0.051	1.50	0.026	0.037
	DS	28	4.37	0.001	0.001	3.08	0.017	0.024	2.44	0.004	0.008	2.21	0.002	0.004
DA	DS	11	1.35	0.206	0.229	1.90	0.127	0.159	1.38	0.124	0.138	1.36	0.126	0.140

Tick species	Tick species Bacterial taxa	
Ixodes granulatus	Rickettsiales	25.63
	Borrelia	18.9
	Acinetobacter	11.75
	Candidatus Rhabdochlamydia	6.36
Haemaphysalis hystricis	Acinetobacter	30.06
	Rickettsiales	25.3
	Stenotrophomonas	10.41
	Candidatus Rhabdochlamydia	10.02
Haemaphysalis shimoga	Coxiella	50
	Rickettsiales	13.69
	Candidatus Rhabdochlamydia	7.32
	Stenotrophomonas	5.2
Dermacentor steini	Acinetobacter	21.96
	Rickettsiales	17.9
	Francisella	17.87
	Burkholderiales	7.96

Table 10. Main endosymbionts and their relative abundance identified in each tick species, except for *Dermacentor compactus* and *D. atrosignatus*.



Figure 10. Heatmap for *Ixodes granulatus* (IG), *Haempahysalis hystricis* (HH), *H. shimoga* (HS), and *Dermacentor steini* (DS) at the taxonomy Order level.

Developmental stage

Feeding status



Figure 11. Alpha-diversity analysis of different developmental stages and feeding status of *Haemaphysalis shimoga* in a) Shannon, b) Faith's Phylogenetic Diversity, c) observed Operational Taxonomic Units, and d) Pielou's evenness. The developmental stage and feeding status of the ticks are abbreviated as follows: AF (Adult female), AM (Adult male), N (Nymph), L (Larva), F (Feeding), and Q (Questing). A significant difference in microbial diversity was observed between adult ticks (AF and AM) and larvas (L) with p < 0.05.







Figure 12. Principal Coordinate Analysis plots of different developmental stages and feeding status of *Haemaphysalis shimoga* in a) unweighted UniFrac distance, b) weighted UniFrac distance, c) Jaccard distance, and d) Bray-Curtis dissimilarity showed significant dissimilarity in microbial composition between different developmental stages with p < 0.05.
Table 11. Pairwise PERMANOVA (Permutational multivariate analysis of variance) results between different developmental stages and feeding status of *Haemaphysalis shimoga*. Significance of unweighted and weighted UniFrac distance, Bray-Curtis dissimilarity, and Jaccard distance was tested with 999 permutations. Significance *p*-values are italicized in the table. The developmental stage and feeding status of the ticks are abbreviated as follows: AF (Adult female), AM (Adult male), N (Nymph), L (Larva), F (Feeding), and Q (Questing).

			unweighted	l UniFrac di	stance	weighted U	niFrac distai	nce	Bray-Curti	s dissimilari	ty	Jaccard dis	stance	
Group 1	Group 2	Sample size	pseudo-F	<i>p</i> -value	q-value	pseudo-F	<i>p</i> -value	q-value	pseudo-F	<i>p</i> -value	q-value	pseudo-F	<i>p</i> -value	q-value
Developm	ental stage													
AF	AM	46	1.91	0.03	0.036	3.57	0.006	0.007	2.65	0.004	0.005	2.63	0.003	0.003
	L	56	13.81	0.001	0.002	34.29	0.001	0.002	24.62	0.001	0.002	20.87	0.001	0.002
	N	47	8.73	0.001	0.002	20.91	0.001	0.002	13.24	0.001	0.002	12.82	0.001	0.002
AM	L	48	5.84	0.001	0.002	10.50	0.001	0.002	8.57	0.001	0.002	8.37	0.001	0.002
	N	39	3.52	0.001	0.002	4.79	0.004	0.006	3.53	0.002	0.003	4.32	0.003	0.003
L	Ν	49	1.65	0.126	0.126	1.85	0.11	0.110	2.13	0.006	0.006	2.10	0.001	0.002
Feeding st	atus													
F	Q	95	6.90	0.001	0.001	15.33	0.001	0.001	12.37	0.001	0.001	11.65	0.001	0.001

Developmental stage	Bacterial taxa	Relative abundance (%)
Adult male (AM)	Coxiella	62.04
	Rickettsiales	8.8
	Mycobacterium	7.01
	Rickettsia	5.12
Adult female (AF)	Coxiella	80.25
	Rickettsia	7.18
	Rickettsiales	2.42
	Mycobacterium	1.83
Nymph (N)	Rickettsiales	29.91
	Coxiella	25.8
	Burkholderiales	13.11
	Stenotrophomonas	9.6
Larva (L)	Rickettsiales	24.45
	Candidatus Rhabdochlamydia	21.92
	Stenotrophomonas	11.51
	Coxiella	8.09

Table 12. Bacterial taxa present in high relative abundance in each developmental stage of *Haemaphysalis shimoga*.



Figure 13. Heatmap for different developmental stages of *Haemaphysalis shimoga*, Adult female (AF), Adult male (AM), Nymph (N), and Larva (L) at the taxonomy Order level.

Table 13. Pairwise PERMANOVA (Permutational multivariate analysis of variance) results between *Borrelia*-positive and -negative *Ixodes granulatus*. Significance of unweighted and weighted UniFrac distance, Bray-Curtis dissimilarity, and Jaccard distance was tested with 999 permutations. Significance p-values are italicized in the table.

unweighted UniFrac		
distance	pseudo-F	4.97
	<i>p</i> -value	0.001
	q-value	0.001
weighted UniFrac		
distance	pseudo-F	10.40
	<i>p</i> -value	0.001
	q-value	0.001
Bray-Curtis dissimilarity	pseudo-F	3.93
	<i>p</i> -value	0.001
	q-value	0.001
Jaccard distance	pseudo-F	3.46
	<i>p</i> -value	0.001
	q-value	0.001



Figure 14. LEfSe (Linear discriminant analysis Effect Size) a. cladogram, b. barplots, and c. relative abundance for Rickettsiales for *Borrelia*-positive and –negative *Ixodes granulatus*. LEfSe analysis revealed that bacterial taxa such as Rickettsiales, *Acinetobacter*, Moraxellacea, and Pseudomonadales showed significant differential abundance.

	No.	S				
Tick species	Anaplasma	Ehrlichia	Bartonella	Coxiella	Francisella	Rickettsia
Ixodes granulatus	0/1	0/1	1/3	N/A	1/1	N/A
Haemaphysalis hystricis	N/A	N/A	N/A	1/2	N/A	N/A
Haemaphysalis shimoga	N/A	1/3	N/A	*20/66	N/A	4/5
Dermacentor compactus	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	0/2
Dermacentor steini	N/A	N/A	1/2	0/2	5/5	N/A
Dermacentor atrosignatus	1/1	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A

Table 14. The number of tick samples included in Polymerase chain reactions (PCRs) for bacteria characterization after Next-generation sequencing (NGS).

\* 20 NGS-positive samples were randomly selected for PCRs, as all 66 samples had the same feature.

Table 15. The sequence analysis results for the bacterial genera of *Coxiella*, *Francisella*, *Rickettsia*, *Anaplasma*, *Ehrlichia*, and *Bartonella* in different tick species based on each successfully amplified gene.

Bacteria	Genes	Tick species	BLASTn	Identity	Accession No.
Coxiella	16S rRNA	Haemaphysalis hystricis	Uncultured <i>Coxiella</i> sp. isolate S006 from <i>Haemaphysalis hystricis</i> (Malaysia)	99.8% (1,273/1,275 bp)	LT009433
		Haemaphysalis shimoga	Bacterium symbiont of <i>Haemaphysalis shimoga</i> clone HSKY-3 (Thailand)	99.8% (1,275/1,277 bp)	HQ287535
	23S rRNA	Haemaphysalis hystricis	Coxiella burnetiistrain RSA439 from Dermacentor andersoni (USA)	92.0% (496/539 bp)	CP040059
		Haemaphysalis shimoga	Coxiella burnetiistrain RSA439 from Dermacentor andersoni (USA)	91.9% (500/544 bp)	CP040059
	GroEL	Haemaphysalis hystricis	Uncultured <i>Coxiella</i> sp. clone PK179-183 from chicken tick (Thailand)	93.7% (479/511 bp)	MG874468
		Haemaphysalis shimoga	Uncultured <i>Coxiella</i> sp. clone T3115 from <i>Ixodes uriae</i> (Canada)	86.7% (494/570 bp)	KJ459059
	rpoB	Haemaphysalis hystricis	Uncultured <i>Coxiella</i> sp. isolate S002 from <i>Haemaphysalis hystricis</i> (Malaysia)	99.8% (490/491 bp)	LT174612
		Haemaphysalis shimoga	Uncultured <i>Coxiella</i> sp. isolate S002 from <i>Haemaphysalis hystricis</i> (Malaysia)	89.9% (438/487 bp)	LT174612
	dnaK	Haemaphysalis shimoga	Coxiella endosymbiont of Ixodes sp. isolate Isp1iso2 (Cote d'Ivoire)	86.9-87.1% (391-392/450 bp)	KP985406
Francisella	tul4	Ixodes granulatus	<i>Francisella</i> -like endosymbiont strain FLE011from <i>Hyalomma</i>	94.9% (203/214 bp)	HQ705174
		Dermacentor steini	<i>Francisella</i> -like endosymbiont strain FLE011 from <i>Hyalomma</i> <i>marginatum marginatum</i> (Bulgaria)	94.9% (203/214 bp)	HQ705174
	16S rRNA	Dermacentor steini	<i>Francisella</i> endosymbiont of <i>Dermacentor atrosignatus</i> isolate DASSD4 (Thailand)	99.9% (1,100/1,101 bp)	KC170748
Rickettsia	gltA	Haemaphysalis shimoga	Rickettsia heilongjiangensis Sendai-58 from Haemaphysalis concinna (Japan)	100% (537/537 bp)	AP019865
	ompA		Rickettsia japonica strain PMK (Thailand)	100% (491/491 bp)	DQ909072

	ompB		Rickettsia heilongjiangensis Sendai-58 from Haemaphysalis concinna (Japan)	99.9% (769/770 bp)	AP019865
	htrA		Rickettsia heilongjiangensis Sendai-58 from Haemaphysalis concinna (Japan)	100% (495/495 bp)	AP019865
	sca4		Rickettsia heilongjiangensis Sendai-58 from Haemaphysalis concinna (Japan)	100% (888/888 bp)	AP019865
	16S rRNA		Rickettsia heilongjiangensis Sendai-58 from Haemaphysalis concinna (Japan)	100% (1,243/1,243 bp)	AP019865
Anaplasma	16S rRNA	Dermacentor atrosignatus	Anaplasma platys isolate 2ax1 from sika deer (China)	98.9% (1,313/1,327 bp)	KJ659044
Ehrlichia	16S rRNA	Haemaphysalis shimoga	Ehrlichia sp. EBm52 of Rhipicephalus microplus (Thailand)	98.9% (1,315/1,330 bp)	AF497581
Bartonella	gltA	Dermacentor steini	Bartonella rattimassiliensis sp. nov. from European Rattus norvegicus (France)	97.8% (703/719 bp)	AY515124
	ftsZ	Ixodes granulatus	Bartonella tribocorum strain MVT04 from human blood (France)	97.1% (868/894 bp)	HG969192



Figure 15. Phylogenetic trees for *Rickettsia heilongjiangensis* based on a) citrate synthase gene, *gltA*; b) outer membrane protein A gene, *ompA*; c) outer membrane protein B gene, *ompB*; d) 17-kDa common antigen gene, *htrA*; e) surface cell antigen 4, *sca4*; f) 16S ribosomal DNA. The phylogenetic analyses were done using neighbor-joining or maximum likelihood methods with the Kimura 2-parameter model and 1000 bootstrap replications. Samples from this study are highlighted in bold and red with accession numbers.



Figure 16. A maximum-likelihood phylogenetic tree based on 16S ribosomal DNA of *Anaplasma* and *Ehrlichia* was constructed with the Kimura 2-parameter model with 1000 bootstrap replications. Samples from this study are highlighted in bold and color with accession numbers.

## Discussion

Microbiome investigation in ticks has become a new paradigm in the past decade due to the significance of tick-associated microorganisms for tick biological processes, and the interaction between the microorganisms (pathogenic and non-pathogenic) has been positively or negatively associated with the mechanisms of colonization and transmission of pathogens. In recent years, the tick microbiome study has been considered as a potential approach in controlling ticks and tick-borne diseases. Despite the importance, there has been no study reported from Sarawak, Malaysian Borneo up to now. Furthermore, studies on tick species and tick-borne diseases have also been very limited. This study compared microbial variations from six tick species of three genera: *Ixodes, Haemaphysalis*, and *Dermacentor* collected from primary forests and an oil palm plantation in Sarawak, Malaysian Borneo, and analyzed the ontogeny and sex variation from one tick species, *H. shimoga*. This study also managed to characterize human and animal pathogens from different tick species, and further, the changes in microbiota from the *Borrelia*-infected and non-infected tick *Ixodes* ticks were examined. This study is the first initiative to outline different tick microbiome profiles in addition to the pathogens screening from this region and included tick species that have never been studied previously.

In this study, multispecies comparison of ticks revealed a significant difference in microbial diversity and composition. From the alpha and beta diversity analyses, genus Dermacentor had higher microbial diversity, while H. shimoga had greater microbial composition differences than other tick species. A previous study conducted in Peninsular Malaysia did not find microbial diversity difference between Dermacentor (same Dermacentor species as in this study), Amblyomma, and Haemaphysalis (H. hystricis) species collected from wild boar [157]. The difference with this study could be related to blood meal feeding, as most of the *Dermacentor* ticks in this study were collected from vegetation. Some studies have reported the association between blood meal host and tick microbiome [94, 154, 293] and implied that host blood is generally low in bacterial richness [94]. While the blood meal speculation may be true for most tick species, including *I. granulatus*, in this study, it did not explain the lower microbial diversity in *H. shimoga* (Figure 8). The result was also consistent when only adult ticks were included in the analysis, which consisted of only H. shimoga collected from vegetation (Figure 8). However, a high relative abundance of endosymbiont has been found to obscure detection of DNA sequences of the rare bacterial community in *Ixodes* ticks [150], which could explain the lower microbial diversity of *H. shimoga* in this study. Downstream analysis revealed that *Coxiella* dominated in *H. shimoga* with as high as 80% relative abundance in adult female ticks. Furthermore, the microbial composition of H. shimoga showed the

greatest difference, probably due to the high relative abundant endosymbiont they harbored in the dominant.

Although there were variations in tick samples such as blood meal status, developmental stage, and sex, this study did not find a greater difference in alpha and beta diversity analyses. One of the reasons could be the majority of ticks were collected from vegetation, except for *I. granulatus* ticks were all engorged, and some tick species did not or had few nymph and larva samples. To overcome the variation that could be resulted from ontogenic difference, analysis was conducted with all ticks and only adult ticks. For instance, no significant difference was observed among adult *Dermacentor* species in microbial richness, whereas analysis with all tick samples showed a difference. In addition, adult *H. shimoga* ticks formed distinct clusters from other tick species in PCoA plots (Figure 9), showing that the adult *H. shimoga* ticks had significantly different microbial compositions. These findings supported that ontogenic variation in the tick microbiome has been reported in previous studies [47, 298].

Main endosymbionts were observed in some tick species, with multiple symbioses existing in H. hystricis and D. steini. Main endosymbionts have frequently been reported in ticks, and some of their functional roles have been determined. In this study, the order Rickettsiales were detected from all of the tick species. Primarily, Rickettsiales were found dominating in I. granulatus, co-symbiont with Acinetobacter in H. hystricis, and co-symbiont with Acinetobacter and Francisella in D. steini (Table 10). Rickettsiales group consists largely of pathogenic agents under genera Anaplasma, Ehrlichia, Rickettsia, and Wolbachia [244]. And this study also characterized Anaplasma sp., Ehrlichia sp., and Rickettsia heilongjiangensis. However, the rest of Rickettsiales strains remained unidentified. Rickettsia endosymbiont is commonly reported in arthropods and has also been reported in other tick species [149, 203]. In other arthropod species, they functioned as reproductive manipulators [69] and defensive mechanisms in other insects [167], but its functional role in ticks is currently unknown. With the high proportion of Rickettsiales detected in this study, it could be speculated that Rickettsia endosymbiont might be dominating in this tick species, which required further clarification. In addition, Acinetobacter was found in high proportion in H. hystricis and D. steini, which the bacteria has also been detected in other tick genera of Ixodes, Amblyomma, and Dermacentor [38, 148]. Acinetobacter, however, was not reported from *Haemaphysalis* species, including *H. hystricis*, in another study conducted in Malaysia [128]. The potential bacteria pathogen Candidatus Rhabdochlamydia was detected in high relative abundance in most of the tick species, including 2.57% in D. steini (Table 10). Although the species for Candidatus Rhabdochlamydia were not identified, it is important to know that most of the tick species in this study

were capable of harboring the bacteria. It warrants future investigation as tick-transmitted human cases have been previously reported [72].

*Francisella* has been reported from several tick species, and recently Duron et al. [68] demonstrated that this bacteria was maternally inherited and essential in hematophagous ticks for vitamin B synthesis. In this study, *Francisella*-LE was characterized from *D. steini* and *I. granulatus* but not from *D. compactus* and *D. atrosignatus*. Furthermore, there were no primary endosymbionts identified from *D. compactus* and *D. atrosignatus*. Although the sample size for these two species was small, most of the bacterial taxa detected had less than 1% relative abundance, with a few taxa exceptional, which also below 10%. The adult of these three *Dermacentor* species feed chiefly on wild boars (*Suidae*), and a wide range of mammalian hosts, including humans, as well as reptiles, have also been reported [102, 103, 282]. It is interesting that despite the similarity of the feeding hosts, the microbial composition was different with *D. steini*. A previous study suggested that ecological and physiological factors could play a role in shaping the tick microbiome and allow the tick to not require harboring a dominant endosymbiont to survive and develop [47]. The findings for *Dermacentor* also differed from the previous study in Malaysia [157] with their samples collected from wild boar. Therefore, investigating environmental and host association factors in these species would be of particular interest.

The main endosymbionts identified for *H. shimoga* showed ontogenic and sex variations, with Coxiella sp. dominating the adult ticks. A previous study has demonstrated that Coxiella-LE is essential for Amblyomma tick survival and reproduction [295]. The organism is also commonly reported from many other tick species [66, 67, 153]. In this study, Coxiella-LE (characterized by PCR) was the obligate endosymbiont for *H. shimoga*, with an overall relative abundance of 50% and was highest in female ticks 80% and 62% in male ticks. Coxiella-LE was reported to provide Vitamin B and co-factor that was essential for hematophagous arthropods like ticks [85, 254], so its presence in adult ticks and nymphs (25.8%) may be essential for feeding and reproduction for female ticks. However, the presence of Coxiella-LE was only 8.09% in larva samples, contrary to previous reports as a maternally inherited organism in Amblyomma, Rhipicephalus, and Ornithodoros [5, 89, 136, 169]. A recent study by Ben-Yosef et al. [24] has demonstrated that Coxiella-LE is essential for ontogeny development, fitness, fertility, and fecundity in *Rhipicephalus sanguineus*, but also pointed out that it may not be mandatory for oocyte development and hatching. It is yet to determine for *H. shimoga* if the other bacteria taxa have replaced the Coxiella-LE functional role in the larva. However, Rickettsiales and Candidatus Rhabdochlamydia were the main endosymbionts reported from the larva samples. In addition, H. shimoga ticks could also obtain Coxiella-LE through feeding, as previous studies have detected it from the salivary gland of some tick species [136, 169, 227]. Furthermore, tick-transmitted Coxiella-LE was responsible for mild

infectious cases in humans [13], which means the organism could be transmitted via tick bites. It is noteworthy that human was documented host for *H. shimoga* ticks, and in this study, this species was collected exclusively from oil palm plantation. Finally, while *Coxiella*-LE was the single primary endosymbiont in adult male and female ticks, *Coxiella*-LE and Rickettsiales were dual symbioses in nymph samples. Dual symbiosis also occurred in larva samples. Overall, it was evident that ontogeny affected the microbial structures in *H. shimoga*, and different bacterial taxonomies were seen to dominate in different life stages, with *Coxiella*-LE present mainly in adult ticks.

In this study, a high proportion of *Borrelia* was detected in *I. granulatus*, and the presence of Borrelia has a significant effect on ticking microbial composition. A high proportion of Borrelia was reported in I. scapularis, in which the researcher found microbial composition differences between Borrelia-positive males and females collected from two regions [272]. In their study, the geography factor was significantly related to pathogen detection. Consistently, in this study, the majority of the Borreliapositive *I. granulatus* ticks were collected from the oil palm plantation (Chapter II). While environmental factors could have contributed to the high relative abundance of *Borrelia* in the ticks, other factors such as sex and blood-feeding could not be examined in this study, as all *I. granulatus* samples were engorged females. Other than Borrelia, several other bacterial species such as Anaplasma sp., Ehrlichia sp., Bartonella spp., Rickettsia heilongjiangensis, and Coxiella- and Francisella-LE were also identified from different tick species (Tables 14 and 15). However, due to the low number of samples and detection rate, correlation analysis was not conducted. Nevertheless, given that there has been human serological evidence for Anaplasma, Ehrlichia, and rickettsial reported previously from Malaysia [126, 138], the identification of pathogenic and potentially pathogenic bacteria species in this study warrants more investigation. Furthermore, the positive tick species such as H. shimoga and Dermacentor species have a reported wide range of feeding hosts, including humans. It is therefore important to understand the actual prevalence and transmission mechanism. Besides, Coxiella-LE and Francisella-LE were closely related to their pathogenic type, and shifting between pathogenic and non-pathogenic forms could occur [31, 66].

All in all, this is the first multispecies microbial comparisons in ticks collected from Sarawak, Malaysian Borneo, with the identification of human and animal pathogens. Microbial variations were found to be significant between tick species. Factors contributing to the variations included the development stage, and potentially blood meal feeding may have played a role in shaping the microbiome profile. Further investigation with *H. shimoga* revealed the ontogenic and sex variations affecting microbial composition, with some bacterial taxa found more represented in one developmental stage than another. However, comparing the feeding status of *H. shimoga* did not show conclusive results, probably because questing ticks consisted mainly of the adult ticks, and there were only nymph and larva samples in the feeding category. Most tick species in this study harbored one or multiple endosymbionts, except for *D. compactus* and *D. atrosignatus*. It could be speculated that other factors such as ecological variation such as habitat and host, could probably have a greater effect on *D. compactus* and *D. atrosignatus*, enabling them to survive and develop without main endosymbiont, which requires further study. Finally, it was certain that microbial structure could be affected by the presence of specific bacteria taxa in high abundance, evidenced by *Borrelia*-positive and negative *I. granulatus*. The findings of current study provide important insights into the tick microbiome difference and the presence of pathogenic and potentially pathogenic bacteria circulating in ticks from primary forests and an oil palm plantation in Sarawak. More studies are required to unravel the factors associated with the variations we observed in this study.

#### Summary

Ticks harbor a high abundance of symbiotic and commensal microorganisms that can be obligate or facultative presence. The obligate endosymbionts are maternally inherited microorganisms essential for tick survival and development. Facultative endosymbionts, on the contrary, may be involved in the manipulation of the tick immune system and reproduction. Furthermore, understanding the interaction between non-pathogenic microorganisms and pathogens in ticks may be fundamental for the control measures. There has been few studies on ticks and tick-borne pathogens, and no tick microbiome study published up-to-date from Sarawak, Borneo. Thus, this study aimed to perform the microbiome and pathogen screening of each tick species collected from two primary forests and an oil palm plantation by employing Next-generation sequencing (NGS). A total of 210 feeding and questing ticks consisting of different life stage and status of *Ixodes granulatus* (n = 32), *Haemaphysalis hystricis* (n = 36), *H. shimoga* (n = 110), Dermacentor compactus (n = 4), D. steini (n = 24), and D. atrosignatus (n = 4) were included for NGS. The 16S rRNA gene V3-V4 hypervariable regions were targeted, and sequencing was conducted on an Illumina MiSeq platform. The following bacteria: Anaplasma, Ehrlichia, Bartonella, Coxiella, Francisella, and Rickettsia, were verified with conventional PCR and sequencing. Data analyses were performed in Quantitative Insights in Microbial Ecology 2 (Qiime 2), Decontam package and vegan package in R software, and Huttenhower lab Galaxy pipeline. Tick samples were categorized into three groups for microbial analysis. The first group included all ticks from their available life stages. The second group consisted of only the adult stage ticks because not all tick species collected had all life stages represented (H. hystricis excluded). Finally, since H. shimoga had the most comprehensive samples, the effect of different developmental stages and feeding statuses for this species were examined. The study findings revealed that microbial variations were significant between tick species. From the multispecies comparison, genus Dermacentor had the highest microbial diversity, while H. shimoga had greater microbial composition differences than other tick species. Factors contributing to the variations included the development stage, and potentially blood meal feeding may have played a role in shaping the microbiome profile. Further investigation with H. shimoga revealed the ontogenic and sex variations affecting microbial composition, with some bacterial taxa found more represented in one developmental stage than another. Most tick species in this study harbored one or multiple endosymbionts, except for D. compactus and D. atrosignatus. Finally, the microbial structure could be affected by the presence of specific bacteria taxa in high abundance, evidenced by Borrelia-positive and negative I. granulatus. This study also managed to characterize human and animal pathogens from genera Coxiella, Francisella, Rickettsia, Anaplasma, Ehrlichia, and Bartonella. Amongst, Coxiella-like endosymbiont from H. shimoga and *Francisella*-like endosymbionts from *D. steini* and *I. granulatus* were characterized. Furthermore, human pathogens such as *Rickettsia heilongjiangensis* and *Ehrlichia* sp. closely related to *E. ewingii* were also identified. This study is the first initiative to outline different tick microbiome profiles in addition to the pathogens screening from this region and included tick species that have never been studied previously. More works are required to unravel the factors associated with the variations we observed in this study.

## **Chapter IV**

## Molecular survey of tick-borne bacterial pathogens in rodents collected in Sarawak

#### Introduction

Worldwide, TBDs are a persistent growing problem at the One Health interface. The surveillance and control of TBDs are also challenging issues, as well as for the detection and diagnosis of many tickborne infections in humans and animals due to multi-tiered approaches needed to confirm pathogens. A wide range of TBDs caused by the bacteria are constantly being reported worldwide. Some of them cause the most prevalent diseases, such as Lyme disease (e.g. *Borrelia afzelii*), human granulocytic anaplasmosis (*Anaplasma phagocytophilum*), tularemia (*Francisella tularensis*), and spotted fever (e.g. *Rickettsia ricketsii*). Thus far, the role of rodents has been highlighted as important reservoir hosts in maintaining and circulating pathogens.

Furthermore, rodents are the typical blood meal feeding hosts for tick larvae and nymphs, and some adult ticks of some species. Importantly, pathogens can be acquired and transmitted during blood meal feeding. Therefore, investigating TBPs in rodents is essential to understanding the transmission dynamics of the pathogen of interest. In Malaysia, the seroprevalence rickettsiosis, anaplasmosis, and ehrlichiosis in humans have been reported [126, 132, 138, 266–268]. Potential vectors of these bacteria have also been investigated, which involved collecting feeding and questing ticks at and adjacent to study areas. Nonetheless, most of these studies have been limited to specific populations and regions that only included indigenous communities and farm workers residing in Peninsular Malaysia. Moreover, the actual bacterial strains causing the infections were mostly unknown, as well as the vector and reservoir of the pathogens were not well elucidated in these studies.

In this study, the target was to screen the rodents collected from primary forests and an oil palm plantation in Sarawak, Borneo, for the tick-borne bacterial pathogens from the following genera: *Anaplasma, Ehrlichia, Bartonella, Coxiella, Francisella*, and *Rickettsia*.

## **Materials and Methods**

Rodents were captured from three sampling sites (GGNP, KNP, and OP plantation) (Figure 2), and DNA was extracted from the spleen samples with the method as described in the Materials and Methods of Chapter II. Polymerase chain reactions (PCRs) were conducted for the detection of *Anaplasma*, *Ehrlichia, Bartonella, Coxiella, Francisella*, and *Rickettsia*. The details of primers and PCR types used for each bacteria identification are described in Table 16.

#### **Real-time PCR for** *Bartonella* spp. screening

Real-time PCR was conducted for the screening of *Bartonella* infection by using the THUNDERBIRD® Probe qPCR Mix (TOYOBO, Osaka, Japan) and primers (*ssrA*-F, 5'-GCTATGGTAATAAATGGACAATGAAATAA-3'; *ssrA*-R, 5'-GCTTCTGTTGCCAGGTG-3'; *ssrA*-P, 5'-6FAM-ACCCCGCTTAAACCTGCGACG-TAMRA-3'), which were designed to amplify a 300-bp fragment of the transfer messenger RNA, *ssrA* gene of *Bartonella* [57]. Real-time PCR was performed using a LightCycler 96 (Roche Diagnostics GmbH, Mannheim, Germany). The DNA of *Candidatus* bartonella rousetti isolated by Qiu et al. [229] and molecular grade water were used as positive and negative controls, respectively.

#### **Conventional PCR amplification, sequencing, and phylogenetic analysis**

All PCRs were conducted using *Ex Taq* Hot Start Version in a reaction mixture of 20  $\mu$ L. The conditions used in the PCR assays were as follows: 40 cycles of denaturation at 94°C for 30 sec, annealing temperature according to each respective primer set for 30 sec, and extension at 72°C for 30 sec, 60 sec or 90 sec depending on the targeted amplicon size. Single PCR was performed for most of the target genes (Table 16). For *Coxiella*, nested and semi-nested PCRs were conducted for the amplification of the chaperone protein (*groEL*) and  $\beta$  subunit of bacterial RNA polymerase gene (*rpoB*) and 16S rDNA, respectively. Nested PCRs were also conducted for Anaplasmatacea for the *groEL* gene and 16S rDNA. Similarly, the *Bartonella*-positive samples from real-time PCR were included in conventional PCRs targeting both *ssrA* and citrate synthase gene (*gltA*) for species characterization.

Finally, all the PCR products were verified with electrophoresis, followed by the Sanger sequencing. The resulting sequences were assembled and trimmed using the ATGC software version 9.0.0 and compared with the sequences available in the public databases using the BLASTn. Phylogenetic analyses for each identified bacteria were constructed using MEGA version X [147].

## Table 16. Primers used in this study.

-----

Organism	Primer name	Sequence (5' to 3')	Target gene (PCR type)	Annealing temperature (°C)	Amplicon size (bp)	Reference
Anaplasmatacea	EHRCS-131F	CAGGATTTATGTCTACTGCTGCTTG	citrate synthase gene, gltA	50	748	[160]
	EHRCS-879R	TIGCKCCACCATGAGCTG	EHRCS-131F and EHRCS-879R (Single PCR 1)			
	EHRCS-754F	ATGCTGATCATGARCAAAATG	EHRCS-754F and EHRCS-1226R (Single PCR 2)	50	473	
	EHRCS-1226R	CCAGTATATAAYTGACGWGGACG				
	EHR16SD	GGTACCYACAGAAGAAGTCC	16S ribosomal DNA (Single PCR)	55	345	[215]
	EHR16SR	TAGCACTCATCGTTTACAGC				
	EC9	TACCTTGTTACGACTT	16S ribosomal DNA (1st PCR)	48	1,400	[7]
	EC12A	TGATCCTGGCTCAGAACGAACG				[211]
	A17a	GCGGCAAGCCTCCCACAT	(Nested PCR)	54	1,300	[121]
	IS58-1345R	CACCAGCTTCGAGTTAAACC				
	HS1a	AITGGGCTGGTAITGAAAT	chaperone protein GROEL, groEL (1st PCR)	54		[258]
	HS6a	CCICCIGGIACIAIACCTTC				
Anaplasma	HS3-F	ATAGTYATGAAGGAGAGTGAT	(nested PCR)	50	1,256	[159]
	HSV-R	TCAACAGCAGCTCTAGTWG				
Ehrlichia	groEL_fwd3	TGGCAAATGTAGTTGTAACAGG	(nested PCR)	50	1,100	[83]
	groeEL_rev2	GCCGACTTTTAGTACAGCAA				
Bartonella	CS443f	GCTATGTCTGCATTCTATCA	citrate synthase gene, gltA			[26]
	CS1210r	GATCYTCAATCATTTCTTTCCA	CS443f and CS1210r (1st PCR)	48	767	[25]
	BhCS1137.n	AATGCAAAAAGAACAGTAAACA	CS443f and BhCS1137.n (Semi-nested PCR)	48	694	[206]
	ssrA-F	GCTATGGTAATAAATGGACAATGAAATAA	tmRNA ssrA (Real-time PCR & Single PCR)	60	300	[57]
	ssrA-R	GCTTCTGTTGCCAGGTG				
	ssrA-P	6FAM-ACCCCGCTTAAACCTGCGACG- TAMRA	Real-time PCR			
Coxiella	CoxGrF1	TTTGAAAAYATGGGCGCKCAAATGGT	chaperone protein GROEL, groEL (1st PCR)	56	655	
	CoxGrR2	CGRTCRCCAAARCCAGGTGC				
	CoxGrF2	GAAGTGGCTTCGCRTACWTCAGACG	(Nested PCR)	56	619	
	CoxGrR1	CCAAARCCAGGTGCTTTYAC				

	CoxrpoBF2	GGGCGNCAYGGWAAYAAAGGSGT	$\beta$ subunit of bacterial RNA polymerase gene, <i>rpo</i> B (1st PCP)	56	607-610	
	CoxrpoBR1	CACCRAAHCGTTGACCRCCAAATTG	(ISTER)			
	CoxrpoBF3	TCGAAGAYATGCCYTATTTAGAAG	(Nested PCR)	56	539-542	
	CoxrpoBR3	AGCTTTMCCACCSARGGGTTGCTG				
	Cox16SF1	CGTAGGAATCTACCTTRTAGWGG	16S ribosomal DNA	52-56		
	Cox16S_07F	AGAGTTTGATYMTGGCTCAG	Cox16SF1 and Cox16SR2 (1st PCR)		1,321-1,429	
	Cox16SR2	GCCTACCCGCTTCTGGTACAATT	Cox16S_07F and Cox16SR2 (1st PCR)		1,434-1,542	
	Cox16SR1	ACTYYCCAACAACAGCTAGTTCTCA	Cox16S_07F and Cox16SR1 (Semi-nested PCR)		832-939	
Francisella	FT393	ATGGCGAGTGATACTGCTTG	membrane protein/T-cell epitope, TUL4 (Single PCR)	53	248	[163]
	FT642	GCATCATCAGAGCCACCTAA				
	MS1	CAGCTACTACACAAAGCAGTGG	Outer membrane protein, fopA (Single PCR)	58	707	[99]
	MAI	CACCATTTACTGTATAGCACGC				
Rickettsia	gltA_Fc	CGAACTTACCGCTATTAGAATG	citrate synthase gene, gltA (Single PCR)	55	580	[77]
	gltA_Rc	CTTTAAGAGCGATAGCTTCAAG				

## Results

Overall, 55 rodent spleens were included in the screening, and among the targeted bacteria, samples were positive for four bacteria genera, *Anaplasma, Ehrlichia, Bartonella*, and *Coxiella*. None of the rodent samples were found positive for *Francisella* and *Rickettsia* spp. despite the attempts with different primer pairs. For example, T-cell epitope, *tul4* and outer membrane protein, *fopA*, both genes were used for *Francisella* screening (Table 16). In addition, coinfections were detected in two rodent samples. *Anaplasma bovis* and *Bartonella rattimassiliensis* were detected in Sample ID: WM002, and *B. phoceensis* and *Coxiella burnetii* were detected in Sample ID: WM003.

#### Anaplasma and Ehrlichia

Screening of all rodent samples was done with 16S rDNA that amplified 345-bp fragment, revealing four Anaplasma-positive (Sample IDs: WM002, WM006, WM065, and WM081) and one Ehrlichia-positive (Sample ID: WM082) samples from OP plantation, all of which belonged to Rattus spp. Sequences of all Anaplasma-positive samples were identical and blasted to A. bovis detected in Amblyomma triguttatum in Australia (KY425420), with 100% identity (305/305 bp) (Table 17). Ehrlichia sp. detected in this study was 100% (305/305 bp) identical with E. chafeensis strain Arkansas (NR\_074500) (Table 17). Positive samples from the screening were included for the amplification of a longer fragment (1,300-bp) using different primers pairs of 16S rDNA, in which one Anaplasma- (Sample ID: WM002) and the *Ehrlichia*-positive (Sample ID: WM082) samples were amplified. Sequence analysis for Anaplasma showed 99.7% identity (1,323/1,327 bp) with uncultured Anaplasma sp. detected from the liver and spleen samples of rodent, Niviventer confucianus in China (JN862824) (Table 17). Additionally, the phylogenetic inference revealed that the detected *Anaplasma* sp. in this study clustered with sequences of A. bovis (Figure 17). Ehrlichia sp. in this study showed high identity, 99.8% (1,329/1,331 bp) with Ehrlichia sp. NS101 detected in deer in Japan (AB454074) (Table 17) and clustered with sequences of E. chaffeensis in the phylogenetic tree (Figure 17). Unfortunately, PCRs targeting both gltA and groEL genes that would be helpful for species characterization were not amplified, probably due to low DNA templates or the suitability of primers.

## Bartonella

Real-time PCR with the *ssrA* gene revealed 24 positive samples, including one sample from primary forest, GGNP, and 23 samples from OP plantation. All positive samples belonged to *Rattus* spp., except for two *Sundamys muelleri* from GGNP (Sample ID: GGNP01) and OP plantation (Sample ID:

WM026). For species characterization, all positive samples from real-time PCR were included in conventional PCRs with ssrA and gltA genes. As a result, eight samples (Sample IDs: WM002, WM003, WM004, WM012, WM026, WM028, WM033, and WM049) from the OP plantation were successfully amplified and sequenced for the ssrA gene. No samples were amplified by the gltA gene. With further sequence analysis, five samples (Sample IDs: WM002, WM004, WM012, WM028, and WM049) were identified as Bartonella rattimassiliensis, with three samples (Sample IDs: WM002, WM004, and WM049) having identical sequences and showed 100% identity (253/253 bp) with B. rattimassiliensis strain R1023 detected in rodent in Thailand (KT355804). Meanwhile, another two samples, sample IDs: WM012 and WM028, showed 99.2% (251/253 bp) and 98.4% identity (249/253 bp), respectively. One sample (Sample ID: WM003) had 100% identity (251/251 bp) with B. phoceensis strain GDHL62 identified in rodent in China (MF765679). Finally, two samples (Sample IDs: WM026 and WM081) showed 100% identity (252/252 bp) with Bartonella sp. strain GDLD09 detected from a rodent in China (MF765616). The results of sequence analysis for Bartonella are shown in Table 17. Inferring the genetic relatedness of the Bartonella spp. from this study with the phylogenetic tree revealed the identification of three species of Bartonella, B. rattimassiliensis, B. phoceensis, and lastly, B. coopersplainsensis (Figure 18), supported the findings in sequence analysis.

#### Coxiella

Two samples (Sample IDs: WM003 and WM090) were detected for *Coxiella* by using the *groEL* gene. Both positive samples were from *Rattus* spp. from OP plantation. Further attempts for species characterization with the *rpoB* gene and 16S rDNA were not successful. Based on the sequence analysis of the *groEL* gene, the *Coxiella* sp. detected in this study had 99.8% identity (559/560 bp) with *C. burnetii* (CP014563) (Table 17). From the phylogenetic tree, samples in this study were clustered with the other reported *C. burnetii* samples and *Coxiella* sp. of soft ticks in the Clade A (Figure 19).

Organism	Gene	Sample ID	BLASTn	Identity	Accession
					no.
Anaplasmatacea	16S	WM002; WM006;	Anaplasma bovis isolate Y11 from	100% (305/305 bp)	KY425420
	rDNA	WM065; WM081	Amblyomma triguttatum (Australia)		
		WM082	<i>Ehrlichia chaffeensis</i> strain Arkansas	100% (305/305 bp)	NR_074500
		WM002	Uncultured Anaplasma sp. clone	99.7% (1,323/1,327	JN862824
			ZJ05/2009 from <i>Niviventer</i> confucianus (China)	bp)	
		WM082	Ehrlichia sp. NS101 in deer (Japan)	99.8% (1,329/1,331	AB454074
				bp)	
Bartonella	ssrA	WM002; WM004;	Bartonella rattimassiliensis strain	100% (253/253 bp)	KT355804
		WM049	R1023 from rodent (Thailand)		
		WM012		99.2% (251/253 bp)	
		WM028		98.4% (249/253 bp)	
		WM003	Bartonella phoceensis strain GDHL62 from rodent (China)	100% (251/251 bp)	MF765679
		WM026; WM033	<i>Bartonella</i> sp. strain GDLD09 from rodent (China)	100% (252/252 bp)	MF765616
Coxiella	groEL	WM003; WM090	Coxiella burnetii strain Schperling	99.8% (559/560 bp)	CP014563

Table 17. Sequence analysis for successfully sequenced genes of Anaplasmatacea, *Bartonella*, and *Coxiella*. Samples with identical sequences are listed together.



0.1

Figure 17. A maximum-likelihood phylogenetic tree based on 1300-bp of 16S ribosomal DNA of *Anaplasma* and *Ehrlichia* was constructed using the Hasegawa-Kishino-Yano model with 1000 bootstrap replications. Samples from this study were highlighted in bold and color.



Figure 18. Phylogenetic tree based on transfer messenger RNA, *ssrA* gene of *Bartonella* was constructed with maximum likelihood method and Kimura 2-parameter model with 1000 bootstrap replications. Samples from this study were highlighted in red and bold. Samples with identical sequences are listed in parallel with semicolons.



Figure 19. Phylogenetic tree based on the chaperone protein, *groEL* gene of *Coxiella* was constructed with maximum likelihood method and Tamura 3-parameter model and 1000 bootstrap replications. Clade designation is based on the study by Duron et al. [63]. Samples in this study, highlighted in red and bold, are clustered in Clade A with *Coxiella* sp. detected in soft ticks and *Coxiella burnetii*. Both samples with identical sequences and are listed in parallel with semicolons.

0.50

## Discussion

Rodents are well adapted to living in a wide variety of habitats, especially in close proximity with humans, and thus, they play an important role in public health. Additionally, rodents constantly interact with hematophagous arthropods like ticks, flea, mites, and lice as their blood meal host, and as a result, rodents act as reservoirs for numerous vector-borne pathogens. In this study, 55 rodent spleen samples from two primary forests (GGNP and KNP) and an oil palm (OP) plantation in Sarawak were screened for tick-borne bacteria from six genera of *Anaplasma*, *Ehrlichia*, *Bartonella*, *Coxiella*, *Francisella*, and *Rickettsia*. From this molecular survey, *Anaplasma bovis* and *Ehrlichia chaffeensis* were identified based on 16S rDNA, three *Bartonella* spp., namely *B. rattimassiliensis*, *B. phoceensis*, and *B. coopersplainsensis* were detected with *ssrA* gene, and *Coxiella sp*. located in the same clade with *C. burnetii* and *Coxiella* and *Rickettsia*. This study provides the first evidence of *E. chaffeensis*, a causative agent of human monocytic ehrlichiosis, and potentially *C. burnetii*, a causative agent for Q fever in humans in Malaysia. Furthermore, all positive samples belonged to rodent species collected from the oil palm plantation, *Rattus* spp., except for one *Bartonella*-positive sample from *Sundamys muelleri* (Sample ID: WM026).

*Ehrlichia chaffeensis* is the first *Ehrlichia* sp. reported to be zoonotic [7] and has been largely investigated in ticks worldwide [42, 133, 211, 273], and mammal hosts such as deer, human, dog, coyote, and fox [7, 52, 122, 137], but has rarely been reported from rodents [63]. In this study, Ehrlichia sp. detected from *Rattus* sp. that was closely related to *Ehrlichia* sp. NS01 detected in the deer in Japan, with 99.8% identity (1,329/1,331 bp), which was an E. chaffeensis [122]. Furthermore, A. bovis was identified in four *Rattus* spp. from the oil palm plantation. A. bovis was first described in cattle in 1936 by Donatien and Lestoquard [62]. Since then, it has been reported from diverse host species worldwide, including ruminants, dogs, raccoons, and cats, has also been documented [19]. Infection in ruminants is typically characterized by fever, drop in milk production, weakness, weight loss, and so on, and death can occur in stressed or naïve animals [164, 256]. A. bovis has been detected in goats, deer, buffaloes, and monitor lizard in a study conducted in Malaysia [139]. Serological detection of E. chaffeensis and A. phagocytophilum in humans has been reported previously in Peninsular Malaysia; however, the actual causative agents were not determined [138]. Although the overall sample size was small and attempts to characterize the species with other target genes were not successful in this study, it is still noteworthy that the pathogens, E. chaffeensis and A. bovis are potentially circulating in rodents in Borneo Island. These findings will require further investigation to determine the potential role of rodents in causing the diseases. Rodents are the prominent host for *Bartonella* spp., and in this study, three species were successfully characterized using the *ssrA* gene. *Bartonella rattimassiliensis*, *B. phoceensis*, and *B. coopersplainsensis* are among the *Bartonella* spp. that have been reported from *Rattus* spp., and the same species have also been reported by Tay et al. [269] in the Peninsula and Blasdell, Perera, and Firth [30] in Sarawak, Malaysia. *Bartonella* spp. detected in this study are not the zoonotic species, but Blasdell, Perera, and Firth [30] had documented *B. elizabethae* in their study, in which human is the accidental host [35] for the infection.

In Malaysia, the presence of *C. burnetii* has been reported from two tick samples of *D. steini* and *H. hystricis* collected from wildlife and livestock [129]. However, the disease prevalence in hosts, including small mammals, has not been investigated. The role of small mammals, particularly rodents of the *Rattus* genus, has recently been elucidated as important reservoirs for *C. burnetii* [1, 84, 158, 192, 235]. For instance, the Norway rats (*R. norvegicus*) and black rats (*R. rattus*) were implicated in the reintroduction of *C. burnetii* into endemic areas of the Netherlands [235]. In this study, *C. burnetii* was detected in two *Rattus* spp. (2/55) 3.6% from the oil palm plantation. A previous study reported the prevalence of *C. burnetii* from Norway rats and black rats was 3.6% (2/55) and 15% (3/20), respectively, by using the fecal samples [1]. Other studies reported a total prevalence of *C. burnetii* ranging from 9.7% using the spleen sample [84] to as high as 17.3% in the seroprevalence study [192], with observed variations in different rodent species. Thus, it is crucial to investigate the rodents in order to determine their role and what species could be relevant hosts in *C. burnetii* maintenance in Sarawak.

Little is known about the occurrence of tick-borne bacterial pathogens and the role of rodents for the described pathogens in this study. This study had a small sample size, which might have resulted in negative detection of *Francisella* and *Rickettsia* spp. Nevertheless, this study provides significant evidence that the rodent species harbored multiple tick-borne bacteria, in which *E. chaffeensis* and potentially *C. burnetii* pose zoonotic threats to public health. Future investigation with a larger sample size will be required to elucidate the rodent role and prevalence of the detected pathogens.

## **Summary**

Worldwide, tick-borne diseases are a persistent growing problem at the One Health interface. The role of rodents has been highlighted as important reservoir hosts in maintaining and circulating tickborne pathogens. In this study, a molecular survey was conducted on the rodents collected from two primary forests (GGNP and KNP) and an oil palm (OP) plantation in Sarawak, Borneo, for the tick-borne bacteria from the following genera, Anaplasma, Ehrlichia, Bartonella, Coxiella, Francisella, and Rickettsia. Overall, 55 rodent spleens were screened with PCRs. As a result, Anaplasma sp. closely related to A. bovis and Ehrlichia chaffeensis were detected based on 16S ribosomal DNA, three Bartonella spp., namely B. rattimassiliensis, B. phoceensis, and B. coopersplainsensis, were confirmed with transfer messenger RNA, ssrA gene, and Coxiella sp. closely related to C. burnetii was detected by using the chaperone protein, groEL gene. None of the rodent samples were positive for Francisella and Rickettsia spp. Nevertheless, this provides the first evidence of E. chaffeensis, a causative agent of human monocytic ehrlichiosis in Malaysia. Coxiella sp. located in the clade of Coxiella burnetii, a causative agent for Q fever in humans, was also identified in two rodent samples. Furthermore, all positive samples belonged to rodent species collected from the oil palm plantation, *Rattus* spp., except for one *Bartonella*-positive sample identified in Sundamys muelleri. Despite the small sample size limitation, this is significant evidence that the rodent species in Sarawak harbored multiple causative agents, in which E. chaffeensis and Coxiella sp. closely related to C. burnetii pose zoonotic threats to public health. These findings warrant more investigation to determine the prevalence and infection risk in the next step.

## **Chapter V**

# Detection of a *Babesia* sp. genotype closely related to marsupial-associated *Babesia* spp. in *Haemaphysalis shimoga* from Sarawak, Borneo

## Introduction

*Babesia* spp. are tick-borne protozoan parasites of the phylum Apicomplexa that infect erythrocytes of mammals and birds [246]. Since the discovery of *Babesia* species by Victor Babes in 1888 [20], over 100 *Babesia* spp. have been reported worldwide from a vast range of vertebrate hosts including: Bovidae, Canidae, Cervidae, Felidae, Mustelidae, Rodentia, Marsupialia, and humans [104, 112]. Recently updated phylogeny-based classification for piroplasmids designated *Babesia* spp. into *Babesia* sensu stricto (Clade X/(VI)), and *Babesia microti*-like (Clade I), Western clade (Clade III/(II), and Peircei group (Clade V) collectively as *Babesia* sensu lato [113, 246]. Furthermore, human babesiosis has been detected from all the clades, except from the Peircei group to date.

The main etiological agents for human babesiosis are *Babesia microti*, *Babesia divergens*, *Babesia duncani*, and *Babesia venatorum* [145, 278]. Two human cases inflicted by *B. microti* have been reported at China-Myanmar border [296]. In addition, previous study in Thailand reported a *Babesia* sp. detected in *Haemaphysalis lagrangei*, which was phylogenetically related to *Babesia* sp. KO1 from a human case in Korea [283]. Dantrakool et al. [51] reported a *Babesia* sp. from *Bandicota indica* rats in Thailand, which was morphologically resembled *B. microti*, but closely related to *B. canis* in phylogenetic analysis. Research into *Babesia* spp. from countries in Southeast Asian region has largely focused on bovine and canine babesiosis. For example, *B. bovis* and *B. bigemina*, the causative agents for bovine babesiosis have been reported from Malaysia, Indonesia, Thailand, and Vietnam [43, 91, 156, 210, 230, 251]. Both *Babesia gibsoni* and *B. vogeli* have been detected in dogs from Malaysia and Thailand [60, 142, 223], while *B. vogeli* has been reported from the dogs in Cambodia [107, 109]. Additionally, *B. gibsoni* and *B. vogeli* were detected in *Rhipicephalus sanguineus* parasiting dogs in Peninsular Malaysia [223].

Over the years, *Babesia* spp. are continuously being detected from a vast range of hosts, including bears, badgers, kangaroos and many more [23, 108, 213]. It can be speculated that all vertebrates could potentially be susceptible to *Babesia* infection, as long as they are compatible hosts for the vector ticks [246]. Furthermore, vector ticks are obligated in the life cycle of *Babesia* spp. and during the blood meal feeding ticks can acquire and transmit the agent [112, 287]. In addition, transovarial transmission can occur for *Babesia* spp. of *Babesia* sensu stricto clade (Clade X/(VI)) in ticks, identification of the *Babesia* 

species is therefore crucial to determine the transmission mechanism in vectors. Moreover, identification of *Babesia* species in its vector tick is necessary to understand the host-*Babesia*-vector interactions.

*Babesia* spp. and other piroplasms are understudied in Malaysia and limited to studies of dogs, cattle, and the ticks infesting these animals [142, 210, 223, 230]. Furthermore, previous studies undertaking in Sarawak state involved molecular and serological survey in dogs [142] and cattle [230]. There has been no research into *Babesia* spp. in ticks and rodents from this state of Malaysia. In this study, we aimed to conduct molecular survey in different tick and rodent species collected from primary forests and an oil palm plantation in Sarawak, Malaysian Borneo.

## **Materials and Methods**

## Screening of *Babesia* spp.

DNA from the rodent spleens and ticks were used for the Babesia screening and characterization using conventional PCR targeting the 18S rDNA. All PCRs were conducted using KOD One PCR Master Mix (Toyobo, Osaka, Japan) with a reaction mixture of 20 µL. First, screening of all samples was conducted using RLBF and RLBR primers, which amplified to 400-500 bp fragment [88]. The PCR condition was as follows: 40 cycles of denaturation at 98°C for 10 sec, 60°C of annealing for 5 sec, and extension at 68°C for 1 sec. The initial PCRs with ticks showed no amplification for larvae in electrophoresis, and therefore, the remaining larvae were excluded in subsequent PCR screenings. After that, the positive samples were further characterized to obtain longer sequence by nested PCR using BTH18S 1st F and BTH18S 1st R primers in the first PCR and BTH18S 2nd F and BTH18S 2nd R primers in the nested PCR, which yielded an approximately 1.4 - 1.6 kb fragment [182]. The PCR conditions for the first and nested PCRs were identical, i.e., 40 cycles of denaturation at 98°C for 10 sec, annealing at 60°C for 5 sec, followed by extension at 68°C for 2 sec. For rodents, nested PCR using BTH18S primer sets were also used to screen all spleen samples under the same PCR conditions. The sample details used in *Babesia* screening are documented in Table 18. Finally, the amplification products were observed with gel electrophoresis and purified using a FastGene Gel/PCR Extraction Kit, followed by Sanger sequencing as mentioned above.

## **Phylogenetic analysis**

Forward and reverse sequences were assembled and trimmed using the ATGC software version 9.0.0 to obtain the consensus. Consensus sequences were then compared with those in public databases using BLASTn. For phylogenetic analysis, sequences were aligned in MEGA X [147] using ClustalW, then trimmed to the length of the sample sequences in this study. Maximum-likelihood phylogenetic tree was constructed with Tamura-Nei model, which was selected based on the lowest Bayesian information criterion (BIC) scores for nucleotide substitution. A discrete Gamma distribution was used to model evolutionary rate differences among sites (5 categories, +G, parameter = 0.1613) and phylogeny was tested with 1,000 bootstrap replications. The tree was drawn to scale, with branch lengths measured in the number of substitutions per site. The sequences obtained in this study are available in GenBank with following accessions: LC655684 and LC655685.

Table 18. Tick and rodent samples used in *Babesia* screening.

Tick species	Number
Ixodes granulatus	32
Haemaphysalis hystricis	38
Haemaphysalis shimoga	69
Dermacentor compactus	4
Dermacentor steini	13
Dermacentor atrosignatus	4
Total	160

Rodent species	Number
Leopodamys sabanus	3
Maxomys rajah	2
Maxomys whiteheadi	2
Rattus spp.	45
Sundamys muelleri	3
Total	55

## Results

*Babesia* sequences were obtained from two tick samples (Sample IDs: HS55 and HS57) by the PCR screening with RLBF and RLBR primers. The *Babesia*-positive samples were identified as male *Haemaphysalis shimoga* (2.9%, 2/69) collected from the oil palm plantation via flagging. In further characterization, both samples were successfully amplified and sequenced with BTH18S primer pairs. Sequence analysis for BTH18S sequences revealed that both *H. shimoga* samples had identical sequences. Furthermore, the sequences showed 98.6% (1,433/1,451 bp) identity with *Babesia macropus* detected from eastern grey kangaroos (*Macropus giganteus*) in Australia (JQ437265). Consistently, the phylogenetic tree based on the 18S rDNA sequences inferred that both our samples clustered in *Babesia* sensu stricto clade (Clade X/(VI)) and were closely related to the marsupial-associated *Babesia* spp. (Figure 20). None of the rodent samples were positive for *Babesia* spp. in the screening with both 18S rDNA primer sets.


Figure 20. A maximum likelihood phylogenetic tree of 18S rDNA sequences (~ 1.5 kbp). The sequences from the present study are underlined and labelled in bold. Only bootstrap values more than 60% are shown. Clade designation and numbers are based on Schnittger et al. [246] and Jalovecka et al. [112].

### Discussion

This study investigated *Babesia* spp. in six different tick species, *I. granulatus*, *H. hystricis*, *H. shimoga*, *D. compactus*, *D. steini*, and *D. atrosignatus* and rodents collected in Sarawak, Borneo. *Babesia* sp. closely related to *B. macropus*, described from eastern grey kangaroos in Australia [54] was identified from *H. shimoga* ticks collected from the oil palm plantation. This is the first insight into *Babesia* infection status using ticks and rodents in Sarawak, Borneo.

To our knowledge, there have been no reports of the vectors for *B. macropus* to-date in the study locations. However, *Ixodes* and *Haemaphysalis* ticks were speculated to be the tick vector of this agent [54, 61]. The two positive samples in this study were from adult *H. shimoga* ticks collected from an oil palm plantation in Sarawak, Malaysian Borneo. *Haemaphysalis shimoga* was first described from Southern India [275], and its distribution included Cambodia, China, Myanmar, Thailand, and Vietnam [141, 156, 264]. Nevertheless, its role as the competent vector for the detected *Babesia* sp. still requires further investigation.

*Babesia macropus* has only been reported from marsupials, including Agile wallabies (*Macropus agilis*), Swamp wallaby (*Wallabia bicolor*), Red-necked wallaby (*M. rufogriseus*), and Eastern bettong (*Bettongia gaimardi*) in Australia [61]. On the other hand, the adult *H. shimoga* ticks are known to feed on sambar deer (*Cervus unicolor*), but other hosts such as cattle, sheep, goats, and humans have also been recorded [79, 264]. The phylogenetic positions of the *Babesia* sp. in this study and marsupial-associated *Babesia* spp., showed a close relationship to *Babesia* spp. reported in the domestic pig, water buffalo, and sable antelope suggested a common ancestor (Figure 20). Moreover, these *Babesia* spp. are positioned in the clade of *Babesia* sensu stricto (Clade X/(VI)) that consists of a broad range of mammalian and avian species. It is important to note that transovarial transmission is exclusive to *Babesia* sensu stricto. In contrast, transtandial transmission is a feature in *Babesia* sensu stricto and *Babesia* sensu stricto could have facilitated host switches by increasing the parasite-tick capacity to switch to unrelated vertebrate host families [113], and resulted in *Babesia* spp. being reported from a vast range of hosts in this clade. Future investigation into the vector capacity and potential hosts of the *Babesia* sp. detected in this study will help understand the transmission and risk.

Although *Ixodes* are the principal vector for many reported *Babesia* spp., including the agents of human babesiosis [145], *Babesia* sp. was not detected from *I. granulatus* ticks in this study. It is noteworthy that *I. granulatus* used in this study included the individuals infected with *Borrelia yangtzensis*, a Lyme disease group borreliae (Chapter II), and coinfection between *Borrelia* and *Babesia* are common

[289]. Likewise, *Babesia* was not detected from rodent samples. Future investigation should encompass a more extensive sampling size to confirm the presence of other *Babesia* spp. in ticks and rodents.

Detection of *Babesia* spp. is imperative due to its significant impacts, and *Babesia* spp. of *Babesia* sensu stricto are pontentially of economic importance in the livestock industry. In this study, a *Babesia* sp. genotype closely related to marsupial-associated *Babesia* spp. belonging to the *Babesia* sensu stricto clade was detected for the first time from *H. shimoga* collected from the oil palm plantation. Clinical cases of *Babesia* infection are mainly associated with stress-induced immunosuppressed animals, in which young animals are more prone to severe clinical manifestation [61, 217]. Marsupial-associated *Babesia* spp., such as *B. macropus* is of veterinary importance with clinical symptoms such as severe anemia, emaciation, lethargy, neurologic signs, and death have been reported in macropods [54, 61]. The potential of the *Babesia* sp. identified in this study in causing disease should also be investigated. Future *Babesia* surveillance in Malaysia should cover more tick and host species.

### **Summary**

*Babesia* spp. are tick-borne Apicomplexan parasites that infect erythrocytes of mammals and birds. Since their discovery, over 100 *Babesia* species have been reported worldwide from a vast range of vertebrate hosts. However, research into *Babesia* spp. in Malaysia has been limited to dogs and livestock and the ticks collected from these animals. Thus, we investigated *Babesia* spp. in different rodent and tick species collected from primary forests and an oil palm plantation in Sarawak Borneo. A total of 55 rodents and 160 questing and engorged ticks were included for *Babesia* spp. detection by PCR targeting the 18S ribosomal DNA. The presence of *Babesia* spp. DNA were detected in two questing *Haemaphysalis shimoga* collected from the oil palm plantation. Sequence analysis revealed that both sequences obtained were identical and showed high identity (98.6%) with *Babesia macropus* detected from eastern grey kangaroos (*Macropus giganteus*) in Australia. Phylogenetic tree showed that the *Babesia* spn. in this study and marsupial-associated *Babesia* spp. clustered together and were positioned in the *Babesia* sensu stricto clade. To date, no vector has been reported for *B. macropus*, while adult *H. shimoga* ticks are known to feed primarily on sambar deer (*Cervus unicolor*). Future investigation is warranted to understand the vector-host relationship and risks of the *Babesia* sp. detected in this study.

# Conclusion

Ticks are obligate hematophagous arthropods, feeding on a wide range of animal hosts, including humans. Additionally, ticks have high public health importance by harboring various pathogenic agents and play a crucial role as a vector in disease transmission to humans and animals. Tick-borne diseases (TBDs), which afflict humans and animals, are caused by infectious agents transmitted by tick bites. There are a variety of tick-borne pathogens (TBPs), for example, ticks are known to harbor bacterial species that can cause the most prevalent diseases, including Lyme disease (Borrelia), human granulocytic anaplasmosis (Anaplasma), tularemia (Francisella), and spotted fever (Rickettsia). In addition, tick-borne protozoa such as Babesia has significant health implications for humans and animals worldwide. In Malaysia, TBDs are regarded to be a potential emerging threat to public health. The tick microbiome consists of largely non-pathogenic microorganisms essential for tick survival, development, and reproduction. Understanding the microbial structure in ticks is believed to be crucial to unravel the dynamics of pathogen colonization and transmission. Taken together, tick microbiome and the status of TBPs in Malaysia warrants further investigation, especially in Sarawak state, as the status is largely unknown. In addition, precise identification of tick species is crucial for epidemiological investigation, prevention, and control of TBDs in general. With that study objectives, tick and rodent samples were collected from two primary forests (GGNP and KNP) and an oil palm (OP) plantation in Sarawak.

In chapter I, identification of tick species based on the available taxonomic keys and molecular methods were done with ticks collected from flagging and rodent hosts. As a result, nine species of ticks from four genera were collected from GGNP, KNP, and OP plantation, in which seven species, *Ixodes granulatus*, *Haemaphysalis hystricis*, *H. shimoga*, *Dermacentor compactus*, *D. steini*, *D. atrosignatus*, and, *Amblyomma testudinarium*, were successfully identified up to species level. This study provides the first molecular evidence of multiple tick species in Sarawak, with the first report of *H. shimoga* in Malaysia.

In chapter II, screenings of rodents and *Ixodes* ticks for *Borrelia* spp. were conducted, and two *Borrelia* spp. were identified in this study. Furthermore, *Borrelia yangtzensis*, a member of *Borrelia burgdorferi* sensu lato, was characterized using the multilocus sequence analysis. Importantly, the Relapsing Fever *Borrelia*, *B. miyamotoi*, was also identified from one rodent sample collected in the primary forest, GGNP. This was the first evidence of *B. miyamotoi* in Malaysia. Overall, this study has provided evidence of a new geographical record for *B. yangtzensis* and *B. miyamotoi*.

Chapter III elucidated the tick microbiome from six species of three genera and used Nextgeneration sequencing (NGS). From the multi-species comparative analysis of tick microbiome, microbial diversity and structure were significant among tick species, in which genus *Dermacentor* has the highest microbial diversity and *H. shimoga* had the greatest microbial structure difference. Additionally, main endosymbionts were identified in different tick species and the developmental stage of *H. shimoga*. Furthermore, the presence of *Borrelia* in *I. granulatus* showed a significant difference in microbial structure compared with *Borrelia*-negative *Ixodes* ticks. Finally, the bacteria species detected by NGS was characterized with conventional PCRs. Among the detected bacteria, *Ehrlichia* sp. closely related *E. ewingii* and *Rickettsia heilongjiangensis* are zoonotic agents causing ehrlichiosis and spotted fever, respectively. *Anaplasma* sp. closely related to *A. platys*, a causative agent for anaplasmosis in dogs, was also detected. Besides, two *Bartonella* spp. closely related to *B. tribocorum* and *B. rattimassiliensis* were also identified in ticks. This study provides important insights into the tick microbiome difference and the presence of pathogens circulating in ticks from primary forests and an oil palm plantation in Sarawak.

In chapter IV, molecular screening targeting the tick-borne bacterial pathogens was conducted with the rodent samples. As a result, *E. chaffeensis*, a causative agent for human monocytic ehrlichiosis was detected in one *Rattus* sp. collected from the oil palm plantation. *Coxiella* sp. located in the clade of *Coxiella burnetii*, a causative agent for Q fever in humans, was also identified in two rodent samples. *Anaplasma* sp. closely related to *A. bovis*, a causative agent for monocytic anaplasmosis in cattle and potentially other species was also identified. Furthermore, three *Bartonella* spp., *B. coopersplainsensis*, *B. rattimassiliensis*, and *B. phoceensis* were also identified. The finding of *E. chaffeensis* was the first evidence of the presence of this zoonotic species in Malaysia, as well as the detection of *C. burnetii* in rodent species. Due to the limited sample size, future investigation with more samples is required to confirm the prevalence and infection risk of these pathogens.

Finally, in chapter V, rodent and tick samples were screened for tick-borne protozoa, *Babesia*. *Babesia* sp. closely related to *B. macropus* identified from eastern grey kangaroos in Australia were detected in two *H. shimoga* ticks collected in the oil palm plantation. From the phylogenetic inference, *Babesia* sp. in this study clustered with marsupial babesias. This study suggests that marsupial babesias may have a broader host and vector range, as well as geographical distribution. Furthermore, *Haemaphysalis* ticks could be the potential vector.

Overall, this thesis contributed to the imperative information and insights on tick species, tick microbiome, and tick-borne pathogens in Sarawak, Malaysian Borneo. This data is fundamental and valuable for the upcoming research planning from this region.

# Acknowledgments

I started this graduate school journey with no background in molecular biology, and I am immensely grateful to many people who have supported me throughout the years. This thesis would not have been realized without their guidance and support, and I would like to take this opportunity to thank them all.

First and foremost, I would like to express my deepest and sincerest gratitude to my supervisor Prof. Toshio Tsubota (Laboratory of Wildlife Biology and Medicine, Graduate School of Veterinary Medicine, Hokkaido University, Sapporo, Japan), for his guidance and patience over the years. Thank you also for being lenient and giving me the freedom to commit to my other activities not related to coursework. I believe we will still be meeting each other at the conferences annually after this.

I extend my heartfelt acknowledgment to Associate Prof. Ryo Nakao and Dr. Mohamed Abdallah Mohamed Moustafa from Laboratory of Parasitology, Graduate School of Veterinary Medicine, Hokkaido University, Sapporo, Japan, for teaching me so much and giving me valuable suggestions always. Without their guidance and support initially, I would be the headless chicken, running around not knowing where to go.

Sincerely, I appreciate every bit of support and guidance for my research and studies from Assistant Prof. Yongjin Qiu (Division of International Research Promotion, International Institute for Zoonosis Control, Hokkaido University, Sapporo, Japan). It has been a great pleasure working with him, and thank you for always being very patient and understanding. He has not only taught me enormous, but also a backup that I can always ask for help.

I am really thankful to collaborator Dr. Manabu Onuma (Biodiversity Division, National Institute of Environmental Studies, Tsukuba, Japan) for his kindness and tremendous support to this work. He perhaps knows about Sarawak better than me, as he has lived and worked in Sarawak for many years before. Thank you for thinking about my future whereabouts, and it has been an absolute pleasure knowing you and working with you (more to come). I would also like to thank Dr. Nobuyoshi Nakajima from the same institute for his technical and intellectual support.

I would like to express my appreciation to Prof. Mohd-Azlan Jayasilan (Institute of Biodiversity and Environmental Conservation, Universiti Malaysia Sarawak, Kota Samarahan, Sarawak, Malaysia, for coordinating and helping my field activities. I would also like to thank the field trip team members from the same institute, Dr. Madinah Adrus, Sally Soo Kaicheen, Lisa Lok, Raja Nur Atiqah, Trevor Allen Nyaseng, and Anita anak Muli, for their assistance and support before, during, and after the field trips. Thanks also to the incredibly skillful driver, Mr. Edward, who chauffeured us in oil palm plantation, where roads were so winding and hard to maneuver. He, dozing off during the driving was the scariest thing for us passengers. No doubt, all of them have made my sampling trips fun and memorable.

Sincerely, I appreciate supports and guidance for my research and studies from Associate Prof. Ai Takano (Laboratory of Epidemiology, Department of Veterinary Medicine, Joint Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Yamaguchi University, Yamaguchi, Japan), Prof. Kazuhiko Ohashi (Laboratory of Infectious Disease, Graduate School of Veterinary Medicine, Hokkaido University, Sapporo, Japan), and Prof. Mayumi Ishizuka (Laboratory of Toxicology, Graduate School of Veterinary Medicine, Hokkaido University, Sapporo, Japan).

I would like to express my gratitude to Associate Prof. Michito Shimozuru (Laboratory of Wildlife Biology and Medicine, Graduate School of Veterinary Medicine, Hokkaido University, Sapporo, Japan) for his encouragement and kind words over the years. It was also a pleasant experience organizing the conference program with him. I think we will never forget about the to-make-peace hug and the grilled watermelons. I hope we will stay in touch after this.

I would like to take pleasure in expressing my gratitude to all members of the Laboratory of Wildlife Biology and Medicine, Graduate School of Veterinary Medicine, Hokkaido University, Sapporo, Japan, for their support and cooperation over the years. Many thanks to the staff members of the administrative office, Graduate School of Veterinary Medicine, for their warm and kind support during my stay.

Finally, enormous thanks to my family and many good people and friends for their endless support, encouragement, caring, trust, and friendship, Prof. Junpei Kimura, Dr. Serena Oh, Dr. Cedric Tutt, Dr. Lee Foo Khong, Dr. Alessandro Grioni, Dr. Evonne Lim PQ, Dr. Cheng Joo Chin, Dr. Mauricio Chalita, Wong Sing Ping, Saw Min Jia, and many more.

May everyone be blessed always. Thank you very much.

## References

- 1. Abdel-Moein KA, Hamza DA. Rat as an overlooked reservoir for *Coxiella burnetii*: A public health implication. Comp Immunol Microbiol Infect Dis, 61, 30-33, 2018.
- Abrahama NM, Liu L, Jutrasb BL, Yadave AK, Narasimhana S, Gopalakrishnana, V, Ansari JM, Jefferson KK, Cava F, Jacobs-Wagner C, Fikriga E. Pathogen-mediated manipulation of arthropod microbiota to promote infection. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA, 114, E781–E790, 2017.
- 3. Agina OA, Shaari MR, Isa NMM, Ajat M, Zamri-Saad M, Mazlan M, Muhamad AS, Kassim AA, Ha LC, Rusli FH, Masaud D, Hamzah H. Molecular detection of *Theileria* species, *Anaplasma* species, *Candidatus* Mycoplasma haemobos, *Trypanosoma evansi* and first evidence of *Theileria* sinensis-associated bovine anaemia in crossbred Kedah-Kelantan x Brahman cattle. BMC Vet Res, 17, 246, 2021.
- 4. Akimana C, Kwaik YA. *Francisella*-arthropod vector interaction and its role in patho-adaptation to infect mammals. Front Microbiol, 2, 34, 2011.
- Almeida AP, Marcili A, Leite RC, Nieri-Bastos FA, Domingues LN, Martins JR, Labruna MB. Coxiella symbiont in the tick Ornithodoros rostratus (Acari: Argasidae). Ticks Tick Borne Dis, 3, 203–206, 2012.
- Alvarez-Hernández G, Roldán JFG, Milan NSH, Lash RR, Behravesh CB, Paddock CD. Rocky Mountain spotted fever in Mexico: past, present, and future. Lancet Infect Dis, 17, e189-e196, 2017.
- 7. Anderson BE, Dawson JE, Jones DC, Wilson KH. *Ehrlichia chaffeensis*, a new species associated with human ehrlichiosis. J Clin Microbiol, 29, 2838-2842, 1991.
- 8. Anderson BE, Neuman MA. *Bartonella* spp. as emerging human pathogens. Clin Microbiol Rev, 10, 203–219, 1997.
- 9. Anderson MJ. A new method for non-parametric multivariate analysis of variance. Austral Ecology, 2008.
- 10. Andreotti R, Perez de Leon AA, Dowd SE, Guerrero FD, Bendele KG, Scoles GA. Assessment of bacterial diversity in the cattle tick *Rhipicephalus (Boophilus) microplus* through tag-encoded pyrosequencing. BMC Microbiol, 11, 2011.
- 11. Angelakis E, Raoult D. Q fever. Vet Microbiol, 140, 297–309, 2011.
- 12. Angelakis E, Raoult D. Pathogenicity and treatment of bartonella infections. Int J Antimicrob Agents, 44, 16–25, 2014.

- 13. Angelakis E, Mediannikov O, Jos SL, Berenger JM, Parola P, Raoult D. *Candidatus* Coxiella massiliensis infection. Emerg Infect Dis, 22, 285–288, 2016.
- 14. Anstead CA, Chilton NB. Detection of a novel *Rickettsia* (Alphaproteobacteria: Rickettsiales) in rotund ticks (*Ixodes kingi*) from Saskatchewan, Canada. Ticks Tick Borne Dis, 4, 202–206, 2013.
- 15. Apanaskevich MA, Apanaskevich DA. Description of New *Dermacentor* (Acari: Ixodidae) Species from Malaysia and Vietnam. J Med Entomol, 52, 156-162, 2015.
- 16. Apanaskevich DA, Apanaskevich MA. Description of two new species of *Dermacentor* Koch, 1844 (Acari: Ixodidae) from Oriental Asia. Syst Parasitol, 93, 159-171, 2016.
- 17. Armstrong PM, Rich SM, Smith RD, Hartl DL, Spielman A, Telford SR. A new *Borrelia* infecting Lone Star ticks. Lancet, 347, 67–68, 1996.
- 18. Asyikha R, Sulaiman N, Mohd-Taib, FS. Detection of *Bartonella* sp. in ticks and their small mammal hosts in mangrove forests of Peninsular Malaysia. Trop Biomed, 37, 919–931, 2020.
- 19. Atif FA. Alpha proteobacteria of genus Anaplasma (Rickettsiales: Anaplasmataceae): Epidemiology and characteristics of *Anaplasma* species related to veterinary and public health importance. Parasitology, 143, 659-685, 2016.
- 20. Babes V. Sur l'hemoglobinurie bacterienne du boeuf (on the bacterian hemoglobinuria of cattle) (in French). C R Hebd Acad Sci, 107, 692–694, 1888.
- 21. Barbour AG. Relapsing fever. In Tick-Borne Diseases of Human; Jesse L, Goodman DTD, Sonenshine DE, Eds. ASM Press, Washington, DC, USA. pp. 268–291, 2005.
- 22. Barbour AG, Bunikis J, Travinsky B, Hoen AG, Diuk-Wasser MA, Fish D, Tsao JI. Niche partitioning of *Borrelia burgdorferi* and *Borrelia miyamotoi* in the same tick vector and mammalian reservoir species. Am J Trop Med Hyg, 81, 1120-1131, 2009.
- 23. Bartley PM, Wilson C, Innes EA, Katzer F. Detection of *Babesia* DNA in blood and spleen samples from Eurasian badgers (*Meles meles*) in Scotland. Parasitology, 144, 1203-1210, 2017.
- 24. Ben-Yosef M, Rot A, Mahagna M, Kapri E, Behar A, Gottlieb Y. *Coxiella*-like endosymbiont of *Rhipicephalus sanguineus* is required for physiological processes during ontogeny. Front Microbiol, 11, 2020.
- 25. Billeter SA, Gundi VA, Rood MP, Kosoy MY. Molecular detection and identification of *Bartonella* species in *Xenopsylla cheopis* fleas (Siphonaptera: Pulicidae) collected from *Rattus norvegicus* rats in Los Angeles, California. App Environ Microbiol, 77, 7850–7852, 2011.
- 26. Birtles R J, Raoult D. Comparison of partial citrate synthase gene (*gltA*) sequences for phylogenetic analysis of *Bartonella* species. Int J Syst Bacteriol, 46, 891–897, 1996.

- 27. Black WC, 4th, Piesman J. Phylogeny of hard- and soft-tick taxa (Acari: Ixodida) based on mitochondrial 16S rDNA sequences. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA, 91, 10034–10038, 1994.
- 28. Blacksell SD, Kantipong P, Watthanaworawit W, Turner C, Tanganuchitcharnchai A, Jintawon S, Laongnuanutit A, Nosten FH, Day NP, Paris DH, Richards AL. Underrecognized arthropodborne and zoonotic pathogens in northern and northwestern Thailand: serological evidence and opportunities for awareness. Vector Borne Zoonotic Dis, 15, 285-290, 2015.
- 29. Blanton LS. The Rickettsioses: A Practical Update. Infect Dis Clin North Am, 33, 213–229, 2019.
- 30. Blasdell KR, Perera D, Firth C. High Prevalence of Rodent-Borne *Bartonella* spp. in Urbanizing Environments in Sarawak, Malaysian Borneo. Am J Trop Med Hyg, 100, 506-509, 2019.
- 31. Bonnet SI, Binetruy F, Hernández-Jarguín AM, Duron O. The tick microbiome: Why nonpathogenic microorganisms matter in tick biology and pathogen transmission. Front Cell Infect Microbiol, 7, 2017.
- 32. Bolyen E, Rideout JR, Dillon MR, Bokulich NA, Abnet CC, Al-Ghalith GA, Alexander H, Alm EJ, Arumugam M, Asnicar F, Bai Y, Bisanz JE, Bittinger K, Brejnrod A, Brislawn CJ, Brown CT, Callahan BJ, Caraballo-Rodríguez AM, Chase J, Cope EK, Da Silva R, Diener C, Dorrestein PC, Douglas GM, Durall DM, Duvallet C, Edwardson CF, Ernst M, Estaki M, Fouquier J, Gauglitz JM, Gibbons SM, Gibson DL, Gonzalez A, Gorlick K, Guo J, Hillmann B, Holmes S, Holste H, Huttenhower C, Huttley GA, Janssen S, Jarmusch AK, Jiang L, Kaehler BD, Kang KB, Keefe CR, Keim P, Kelley ST, Knights D, Koester I, Kosciolek T, Kreps J, Langille MGI, Lee J, Ley R, Liu YX, Loftfield E, Lozupone C, Maher M, Marotz C, Martin BD, McDonald D, McIver LJ, Melnik AV, Metcalf JL, Morgan SC, Morton JT, Naimey AT, Navas-Molina JA, Nothias LF, Orchanian SB, Pearson T, Peoples SL, Petras D, Preuss ML, Pruesse E, Rasmussen LB, Rivers A, Robeson MS 2nd, Rosenthal P, Segata N, Shaffer M, Shiffer A, Sinha R, Song SJ, Spear JR, Swafford AD, Thompson LR, Torres PJ, Trinh P, Tripathi A, Turnbaugh PJ, Ul-Hasan S, van der Hooft JJJ, Vargas F, Vázquez-Baeza Y, Vogtmann E, von Hippel M, Walters W, Wan Y, Wang M, Warren J, Weber KC, Williamson CHD, Willis AD, Xu ZZ, Zaneveld JR, Zhang Y, Zhu Q, Knight R, Caporaso JG. Reproducible, interactive, scalable and extensible microbiome data science using QIIME 2. Nat Biotechnol, 37, 852-857, 2019.
- 33. Breitschwerdt EB, Maggi RG, Lantos PM, Woods CW, Hegarty BC, Bradley JM. *Bartonella vinsonii* subsp. berkhoffii and *Bartonella henselae* bacteremia in a father and daughter with neurological disease. Parasit Vectors, 3, 29, 2010.
- 34. Breitschwerdt EB, Mascarelli PE, Schweickert LA, Maggi RG, Hegarty BC, Bradley JM, Woods CW. Hallucinations, sensory neuropathy, and peripheral visual deficits in a young woman infected with Bartonella koehlerae. J Clin Microbiol, 49, 3415-3417, 2011.
- 35. Breitschwerdt EB. Bartonellosis, One Health and all creatures great and small. Vet Dermatol, 28, 96-e21, 2017.

- 36. Brown LD, Macaluso KR. *Rickettsia felis*, an emerging flea-borne rickettsiosis. Curr Trop Med Rep, 3, 27–39, 2016.
- 37. Bryan JE, Shearman PL, Asner GP, Knapp DE, Aoro G, Lokes B. Extreme differences in forest degradation in Borneo: Comparing practices in Sarawak, Sabah, and Brunei. PLoS ONE, 8, e69679, 2013.
- Budachetri K, Gaillard D, Williams J, Mukherjee N, Karim S. A snapshot of the microbiome of *Amblyomma tuberculatum* ticks infesting the gopher tortoise, an endangered species. Ticks Tick Borne Dis, 7, 1225–1229, 2016.
- 39. Buller RS, Arens M, Hmiel SP, Paddock CD, Sumner JW, Rikhisa Y, Unver A, Gaudreault-Keener M, Manian FA, Liddell AM, Schmulewitz N, Storch GA. *Ehrlichia ewingii*, a newly recognized agent of human ehrlichiosis. N Engl J Med, 341, 148-155, 1999.
- 40. Burgdorfer W, Pickens EG, Newhouse VF, Lackman DB. Isolation of *Coxiella burnetii* from rodents in western Montana. J Infect Dis, 112, 181-186, 1963.
- 41. Callahan BJ, McMurdie PJ, Rosen MJ, Han AW, Johnson AJA, Holmes SP. DADA2: High-resolution sample inference from Illumina amplicon data. Nat Methods, 13, 581–583, 2016.
- 42. Cao WC, Gao YM, Zhang PH, Zhang XT, Dai QH, Dumler JS, Fang LQ, Yang H. Identification of *Ehrlichia chaffeensis* by nested PCR in ticks from Southern China. J Clin Microbiol, 38, 2778-80, 2000.
- 43. Cao S, Aboge GO, Terkawi MA, Yu L, Kamyingkird K, Luo Y, Li Y, Goo YK, Yamagishi J, Nishikawa Y, Yokoyama N, Suzuki H, Igarashi I, Maeda R, Inpankaew T, Jittapalapong S, Xuan X. Molecular detection and identification of *Babesia bovis* and *Babesia bigemina* in cattle in northern Thailand. Parasitol Res, 111, 1259-1266, 2012.
- 44. Castle KT, Kosoy M, Lerdthusnee K, Phelan L, Bai Y, Gage KL, Leepitakrat W, Monkanna T, Khlaimanee N, Chandranoi K, Jones JW, Coleman RE. Prevalence and diversity of *Bartonella* in rodents of northern Thailand: a comparison with *Bartonella* in rodents from southern China. Am J Trop Med Hyg, 70, 429-433, 2004.
- 45. Chang CC, Hayashidani H, Pusterla N, Kasten RW, Madigan JE, Chomel BB. Investigation of *Bartonella* infection in ixodid ticks from California. Comp Immunol Microbiol Infect Dis, 25, 229-236, 2002.
- 46. Che Lah EF, Yaakop S, Ahmad M, George E, Md Nor S. Precise identification of different stages of a tick, *Ixodes granulatus* Supino, 1897 (Acari: Ixodidae). Asian Pac J Trop Biomed, 6, 597-604, 2016.
- 47. Chicana B, Couper LI, Kwan JY, Tahiraj E, Swei A. Comparative microbiome profiles of sympatric tick species from the Far-Western United States. Insects, 10, 353, 2019.

- 48. Chu CY, Liu W, Jiang BG, Wang DM, Jiang WJ, Zhao QM, Zhang PH, Wang ZX, Tang GP, Yang H, Cao WC. Novel genospecies of *Borrelia burgdorferi* sensu lato from rodents and ticks in southwestern China. J Clin Microbiol, 46, 3130-3, 2008.
- 49. Clay K, Klyachko O, Grindle N, Civitello D, Oleske D, Fuqua C. Microbial communities and interactions in the lone star tick, *Amblyomma americanum*. Mol Eco, 17, 4371–4381, 2008.
- 50. Cotte V, Bonnet S, Le Rhun D, Le Naour E, Chauvin A, Boulouis HJ, Lecuelle B, Lilin T, Vayssier-Taussat M. Transmission of *Bartonella henselae* by *Ixodes ricinus*. Emerg Infect Dis, 14, 1074-80, 2008.
- 51. Dantrakool A, Somboon P, Hashimoto T, Saito-Ito A. Identification of a new type of *Babesia* species in wild rats (*Bandicota indica*) in Chiang Mai Province, Thailand. J Clin Microbiol, 42, 850-854, 2004.
- 52. Davidson WR, Lockhart JM, Stallknecht DE, Howerth EW. Susceptibility of red and gray foxes to infection by *Ehrlichia chaffeensis*. J Wildl Dis, 35, 696-702, 1999.
- 53. Davis NM, Proctor DM, Holmes SP, Relman DA, Callahan BJ. Simple statistical identification and removal of contaminant sequences in marker-gene and metagenomics data. Microbiome, 6, 226, 2018.
- 54. Dawood KE, Morgan JA, Busfield F, Srivastava M, Fletcher TI, Sambono J, Jackson LA, Venus B, Philbey AW, Lew-Tabor AE. Observation of a novel *Babesia* spp. in Eastern Grey Kangaroos (*Macropus giganteus*) in Australia. Int J Parasitol Parasites Wildl, 2, 54-61, 2012.
- 55. Dawson JE, Anderson BE, Fishbein DB, Sanchez JL, Goldsmith CS, Wilson KH, Duntley CW. Isolation and characterization of an *Ehrlichia* sp. from a patient diagnosed with human ehrlichiosis. J Clin Microbiol, 29, 2741-2745, 1991.
- 56. de la Fuente J, Estrada-Pena A, Venzal JM, Kocan KM, Sonenshine DE. Overview: Ticks as vectors of pathogens that cause disease in humans and animals. Front Biosci, 13, 6938-6946, 2008.
- 57. Diaz MH, Bai Y, Malania L, Winchell JM, Kosoy MY. Development of a novel genus-specific real-time PCR assay for detection and differentiation of *Bartonella* species and genotypes. J Clin Microbiol, 50, 1645-1649, 2012.
- 58. Dibernardo A, Cote T, Ogden NH, Lindsay LR. The prevalence of *Borrelia miyamotoi* infection, and co-infections with other *Borrelia* spp. in *Ixodes scapularis* ticks collected in Canada. Parasit Vectors, 7, 183, 2014.
- 59. Diop A, Raoult D, Fournier PE. Paradoxical evolution of rickettsial genomes. Ticks Tick Borne Dis, 10, 462-469, 2019.

- 60. Do T, Ngasaman R, Saechan V, Pitaksakulrat O, Liu M, Xuan X, Inpankaew T. First Molecular Detection of *Babesia gibsoni* in Stray Dogs from Thailand. Pathogens, 10, 639, 2021.
- Donahoe SL, Peacock CS, Choo AY, Cook RW, O'Donoghue P, Crameri S, Vogelnest L, Gordon AN, Scott JL, Rose K. A retrospective study of *Babesia macropus* associated with morbidity and mortality in eastern grey kangaroos (*Macropus giganteus*) and agile wallabies (*Macropus agilis*). Int J Parasitol Parasites Wildl, 4, 268-276, 2015.
- 62. Donatien A, Lestoquard F. *Rickettsia bovis*, nouvelle espece pathogene pour le boeuf. Bulletin de la Société de pathologie exotique, 29, 1057–1061, 1936.
- 63. Dong T, Qu Z, Zhang L. Detection of *A. phagocytophilum* and *E. chaffeensis* in patient and mouse blood and ticks by a duplex real-time PCR assay. PLoS One, 8, e74796, 2013.
- 64. Dumler JS, Bakken JS, Eckman MR, Vanetta LL, Chen SM, Walker DH. Human granulocytic ehrlichiosis: a new, potentially fatal tick-borne infection diagnosed by peripheral blood smear and PCR. Lab Invest 70, A126 A126, 1994.
- 65. Dumler JS, Barbet AF, Bekker CP, Dasch GA, Palmer GH, Ray SC, Rikihisa Y, Rurangirwa FR. Reorganization of genera in the families Rickettsiaceae and Anaplasmataceae in the order Rickettsiales: unification of some species of *Ehrlichia* with *Anaplasma, Cowdria* with *Ehrlichia* and *Ehrlichia* with *Neorickettsia*, descriptions of six new species combinations and designation of *Ehrlichia equi* and 'HGE agent' as subjective synonyms of *Ehrlichia phagocytophila*. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol, 51, 2145-2165, 2001.
- 66. Duron O, Noel V, McCoy KD, Bonazzi M, Sidi-Boumedine K, Morel O, Vavre F, Zenner L, Jourdain E, Durand P, Arnathau C, Renaud F, Trape JF, Biguezoton AS, Cremaschi J, Dietrich M, Leger E, Appelgren A, Dupraz M, Gomez-Diaz E, Diatta G, Dayo GK, Adakal H, Zoungrana S, Vial L, Chevillon C. The recent evolution of a maternally-inherited endosymbiont of ticks led to the emergence of the Q fever pathogen, *Coxiella burnetii*. PLoS Pathog, 11, e1004892, 2015.
- 67. Duron O, Binetruy F, Noel V, Cremaschi J, McCoy KD, Arnathau C, Plantard O, Goolsby J, Perez de Leon AA, Heylen DJA, Van Oosten AR, Gottlieb Y, Baneth G, Guglielmone AA, Estrada-Peña A, Opara MN, Zenner L, Vavre F, Chevillon C. Evolutionary changes in symbiont community structure in ticks. Mol Ecol, 26, 2905–2921, 2017.
- Duron O, Morel O, Noël V, Buysse M, Binetruy F, Lancelot R, Loire E, Menard C, Bouchez O, Vavre F, Vial L. Tick-bacteria mutualism depends on B vitamin synthesis pathways. Curr Biol, 28, 1896–1902, 2018.
- 69. Engelstadter J, Hurst GDD. The ecology and evolution of microbes that manipulate host reproduction. Annu Rev Ecol Evol Syst, 40, 127–149, 2009.

- Ernieenor FCL, Ernna G, Mariana A. Phenotypic and genotypic identification of hard ticks of the genus *Haemaphysalis* (Acari: Ixodidae) in Peninsular Malaysia. Exp Appl Acarol, 71, 387–400, 2017.
- 71. Ernieenor FCL, Apanaskevich DA, Ernna G, Mariana A. Description and characterization of questing hard tick, *Dermacentor steini* (Acari: Ixodidae) in Malaysia based on phenotypic and genotypic traits. Exp Appl Acarol, 80, 137–149, 2020.
- 72. Facco F, Grazi G, Bonassi S, Magnani M, Di Pietro P. Chlamydial and rickettsial transmission through tick bite in children. Lancet (London, England), 339, 992–993, 1992.
- 73. Faith D. Conservation evaluation and phylogenetic diversity. Biol Conserv, 61, 1-10, 1992.
- 74. Fesler MC, Shah JS, Middelveen MJ, Du Cruz I, Burrascano JJ, Stricker RB. Lyme Disease: Diversity of *Borrelia* Species in California and Mexico Detected Using a Novel Immunoblot Assay. Healthcare (Basel), 8, 97, 2020.
- 75. Forsman M, Sandström G, Sjöstedt A. Analysis of 16S ribosomal DNA sequences of *Francisella* strains and utilization for determination of the phylogeny of the genus and for identification of strains by PCR. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol, 44, 38–46, 1994.
- 76. Fukunaga M, Takahashi Y, Tsuruta Y, Matsushita O, Ralph D, McClelland M, Nakao M. Genetic and phenotypic analysis of *Borrelia miyamotoi* sp. nov., isolated from the ixodid tick *Ixodes persulcatus*, the vector for Lyme disease in Japan. Int J Syst Bacteriol, 45, 804-810, 1995.
- 77. Gaowa, Ohashi N, Aochi M, Wuritu D, Wu, Yoshikawa Y, Kawamori F, Honda T, Fujita H, Takada N, Oikawa Y, Kawabata H, Ando S, Kishimoto T. Rickettsiae in ticks, Japan, 2007–2011. Emerg Infect Dis, 19, 338–340, 2013.
- 78. Gaveau DLA, Sloan S, Molidena E, Yaen H, Sheil D, Abram NK, Ancrenaz M, Nasi R, Quinones M, Wielaard N, Meijaard E. Four decades of forest persistence, clearance and logging on Borneo. PLoS One, 9, e101654, 2014.
- 79. Geevarghese G, Mishra A C. *Haemaphysalis* ticks of India. ICMR, New Delhi, viii, pp. 119-123, 2011.
- Ghane Kisomi M, Wong LP, Tay ST, Bulgiba A, Zandi K, Kho KL, Koh FX, Ong BL, Jaafar T, Hassan Nizam QN. Factors associated with tick bite preventive practices among farmworkers in Malaysia. PLoS One, 11, e0157987, 2016.
- 81. Gibb R, Redding DW, Chin KQ, Donnelly CA, Blackburn TM, Newbold T, Jones KE. Zoonotic host diversity increases in human-dominated ecosystems. Nature, 584, 398-402, 2020.

- 82. Gillespie JJ, Beier MS, Rahman MS, Ammerman NC, Shallom JM, Purkayastha A, Sobral BS, Azad AF. Plasmids and rickettsial evolution: insight from *Rickettsia felis*. PLoS One, 2, e266, 2007.
- 83. Gofton AW, Doggett S, Ratchford A, Ryan U, Irwin P. Phylogenetic characterisation of two novel Anaplasmataceae from Australian *Ixodes holocyclus* ticks: '*Candidatus* Neoehrlichia australis' and '*Candidatus* Neoehrlichia arcana'. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol, 66, 4256-4261, 2016.
- Gonzalez-Barrio D, Jado I, Vinuela J, Garcia JT, Olea PP, Arce F, Ruiz-Fons F. Investigating the Role of Micromammals in the Ecology of *Coxiella burnetii* in Spain. Animals (Basel), 11, 654, 2021.
- 85. Gottlieb Y, Lalzar I, Klasson L. Distinctive genome reduction rates revealed by genomic analyses of two *Coxiella*-like endosymbionts in ticks. Genome Biol Evol, 7, 1779–1796, 2015.
- 86. Gray J, von Stedingk LV, Gurtelschmid M, Granstrom M. Transmission studies of *Babesia microti* in *Ixodes ricinus* ticks and gerbils. J Clin Microbiol, 40, 1259-1263, 2002.
- 87. Greay TL, Gofton AW, Paparini A, Ryan UM, Oskam CL, Irwin PJ. Recent insights into the tick microbiome gained through next-generation sequencing. Parasit Vectors, 11, 2018.
- Gubbels JM, de Vos AP, van der Weide M, Viseras J, Schouls LM, de Vries E, Jongejan F. Simultaneous detection of bovine *Theileria* and *Babesia* species by reverse line blot hybridization. J Clin Microbiol, 37, 1782-1789, 1999.
- 89. Guizzo MG, Parizi LF, Nunes RD, Schama R, Albano RM, Tirloni L, Oldiges DP, Vieira RP, Oliveira WHC, Leite MS, Gonzales SA, Farber M, Martins O, Vaz IDS Jr, Oliveira PL. A *Coxiella* mutualist symbiont is essential to the development of *Rhipicephalus microplus*. Sci Rep, 7, 2017.
- 90. Gurcan S. Epidemiology of tularemia. Balkan Med J, 31, 3-10, 2014.
- 91. Guswanto A, Allamanda P, Mariamah ES, Sodirun S, Wibowo PE, Indrayani L, Nugroho RH, Wirata IK, Jannah N, Dias LP, Wirawan HP, Yanto R, Tuvshintulga B, Sivakumar T, Yokoyama N, Igarashi I. Molecular and serological detection of bovine babesiosis in Indonesia. Parasit Vectors, 10, 550, 2017.
- 92. Gyuranecz M. Bacteria: *Francisella tularensis*, Editor(s): Yasmine Motarjemi, Encyclopedia of Food Safety, Academic Press, pp. 442-445, 2014.
- 93. Halliday JE, Knobel DL, Agwanda B, Bai Y, Breiman RF, Cleaveland S, Njenga MK, Kosoy M. Prevalence and diversity of small mammal-associated *Bartonella* species in rural and urban Kenya. PLoS Negl Trop Dis, 9, e0003608, 2015.

- 94. Hawlena H, Rynkiewicz E, Toh E, Alfred A, Durden LA, Hastriter MW, Nelson DE, Rong R, Munro D, Dong Q, Fuqua C, Clay K. The arthropod, but not the vertebrate host or its environment, dictates bacterial community composition of fleas and ticks. ISME J, 7, 221–223, 2013.
- 95. Hebert PD, Ratnasingham S, deWaard JR. Barcoding animal life: cytochrome c oxidase subunit 1 divergences among closely related species. Proc Biol Sci, 270 Suppl 1(Suppl 1), S96–S99, 2003.
- 96. Hengge UR, Tannapfel A, Tyring SK, Erbel R, Arendt G, Ruzicka T. Lyme borreliosis. Lancet Infect Dis, 3, 489–500, 2003.
- 97. Heppner DG, Wongsrichanalai C, Walsh DS, McDaniel P, Eamsila C, Hanson B, Paxton H. Human ehrlichiosis in Thailand. Lancet, 350, 785-786, 1997.
- 98. Hercik K, Hasova V, Janecek J, Branny P. Molecular evidence of *Bartonella* DNA in ixodid ticks in Czechia. Folia Microbiol (Praha), 52, 503-509, 2007.
- 99. Higgins JA, Hubalek Z, Halouzka J, Elkins KL, Sjostedt A, Shipley M, Ibrahim MS. Detection of *Francisella tularensis* in infected mammals and vectors using a probe-based polymerase chain reaction. Am J Trop Med Hyg, 62, 310-318, 2000.
- 100. Hollis DG, Weaver RE, Steigerwalt AG, Wenger JD, Moss CW, Brenner DJ. Francisella philomiragia comb. nov. (formerly Yersinia philomiragia) and Francisella tularensis biogroup novicida (formerly Francisella novicida) associated with human disease. J Clin Microbiol, 27, 1601-1608, 1989.
- Hoogstraal H, Trapido H, Kohls GM. Studies on Southeast Asian *Haemaphysalis* ticks (Ixodoidea, Ixodidae). The identity, distribution, and hosts of *H*. (Kaiseriana) *hystricis* Supino. J Parasitol, 51, 467 – 480, 1965.
- 102. Hoogstraal H, Wassef HY. Dermacentor (Indocentor) compactus (Acari: Ixodoidea: Ixodidae): wild pigs and other hosts and distribution in Malaysia, Indonesia, and Borneo. J Med Entomol, 21, 174–178, 1984.
- Hoogstraal H, Wassef H Y. *Dermacentor* (Indocentor) *atrosignatus* (Acari: Ixodoidea: Ixodidae): Hosts and distribution in the Malay Peninsula, Indonesia, Borneo, and Southern Philippines. J Med Entomol, 22, 644–647, 1985.
- Homer MJ, Aguilar-Delfin I, Telford SR 3rd, Krause PJ, Persing DH. Babesiosis. Clin Microbiol Rev, 13, 451-469, 2000.
- 105. Hovius JW, de Wever B, Sohne M, Brouwer MC, Coumou J, Wagemakers A, Oei A, Knol H, Narasimhan S, Hodiamont CJ, Jahfari S, Pals ST, Horlings HM, Fikrig E, Sprong H, van Oers MH. A case of meningoencephalitis by the relapsing fever spirochaete *Borrelia miyamotoi* in Europe. Lancet, 382, 658, 2013.

- 106. Huber B, Escudero R, Busse HJ, Seibold E, Scholz HC, Anda P, Kämpfer P, Splettstoesser WD. Description of *Francisella hispaniensis* sp. nov., isolated from human blood, reclassification of *Francisella novicida* (Larson et al. 1955) Olsufiev et al. 1959 as *Francisella tularensis* subsp. novicida comb. nov. and emended description of the genus *Francisella*. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol, 60, 1887-1896, 2010.
- 107. Huggins LG, Colella V, Koehler AV, Schunack B, Traub RJ. A multipronged next-generation sequencing metabarcoding approach unearths hyperdiverse and abundant dog pathogen communities in Cambodia. Transbound Emerg Dis, 2021.
- 108. Ikawa K, Aoki M, Ichikawa M, Itagaki T. The first detection of *Babesia* species DNA from Japanese black bears (*Ursus thibetanus japonicus*) in Japan. Parasitol Int, 60, 220-222, 2011.
- 109. Inpankaew T, Hii SF, Chimnoi W, Traub RJ. Canine vector-borne pathogens in semidomesticated dogs residing in northern Cambodia. Parasit Vectors, 9, 253, 2016.
- Izquierdo-Rodriguez E, Fernández-Alvarez A, Martin-Carrilo N, Feliu C, Marchand B, Quilichini Y, Foronda P. Rodents as Reservoirs of the Zoonotic Pathogens *Coxiella burnetii* and *Toxoplasma gondii* in Corsica (France). Vector Borne Zoonotic Dis, 19, 879-883, 2019.
- 111. Jacomo V, Kelly PJ, Raoult D. Natural history of *Bartonella* infections (an exception to Koch's postulate). Clin Diagn Lab Immunol, 9, 8-18, 2002.
- 112. Jalovecka M, Hajdusek O, Sojka D, Kopacek P, Malandrin L. The Complexity of Piroplasms Life Cycles. Front Cell Infect Microbiol, 8, 248, 2018.
- 113. Jalovecka M, Sojka D, Ascencio M, Schnittger L. *Babesia* Life Cycle When Phylogeny Meets Biology. Trends Parasitol, 35, 356-368, 2019.
- 114. Janecek E, Mietze A, Goethe R, Schnieder T, Strube C. *Bartonella* spp. infection rate and *B. grahamii* in ticks. Emerg Infect Dis, 18, 1689-1690, 2012.
- 115. Jiang BG, Jia N, Jiang JF, Zheng YC, Chu YL, Jiang RR, Wang YW, Liu HB, Wei R, Zhang WH, Li Y, Xu XW, Ye JL, Yao NN, Liu XJ, Huo QB, Sun Y, Song JL, Liu W, Cao WC. *Borrelia miyamotoi* Infections in Humans and Ticks, Northeastern China. Emerg Infect Dis, 24, 236-241, 2018.
- 116. Kang JG, Kim HC, Choi CY, Nam HY, Chae HY, Chong ST, Klein TA, Ko S, Chae JS. Molecular detection of *Anaplasma*, *Bartonella*, and *Borrelia* species in ticks collected from migratory birds from Hong-do Island, Republic of Korea. Vector Borne Zoonotic Dis, 13, 215-225, 2013.
- 117. Karem KL, Paddock CD, Regnery RL. *Bartonella henselae*, *B. quintana*, and *B. bacilliformis*: historical pathogens of emerging significance. Microbes Infect, 2, 1193–1205, 2000.

- 118. Katoh K, Misawa K, Kuma K, Miyata T. MAFFT: a novel method for rapid multiple sequence alignment based on fast Fourier transform. Nucleic Acids Res, 30, 3059–3066, 2002.
- 119. Kawabata M, Baba S, Iguchi K, Yamaguti N, Russell H. Lyme disease in Japan and its possible incriminated tick vector, *Ixodes persulcatus*. J Infect Dis, 156, 854, 1987.
- 120. Kawabata H, Takano A, Kadosaka T, Fujita H, Nitta Y, Gokuden M, Honda T, Tomida J, Kawamura Y, Masuzawa T, Ishiguro F, Takada N, Yano Y, Andoh M, Ando S, Sato K, Takahashi H, Ohnishi M. Multilocus sequence typing and DNA similarity analysis implicates that a *Borrelia valaisiana*-related sp. isolated in Japan is distinguishable from European *B. valaisiana*. J Vet Med Sci, 75, 1201-1207, 2013.
- 121. Kawahara M, Rikihisa Y, Isogai E, Takahashi M, Misumi H, Suto C, Shibata S, Zhang C, Tsuji M. Ultrastructure and phylogenetic analysis of '*Candidatus* Neoehrlichia mikurensis' in the family Anaplasmataceae, isolated from wild rats and found in *Ixodes ovatus* ticks. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol, 54, 1837-1843, 2004.
- 122. Kawahara M, Tajima T, Torii H, Yabutani M, Ishii J, Harasawa M, Isogai E, Rikihisa Y. *Ehrlichia chaffeensis* infection of sika deer, Japan. Emerg Infect Dis, 15, 1991-1993, 2009.
- Kho KL, Koh FX, Tay ST. Molecular evidence of potential novel spotted fever group rickettsiae, *Anaplasma* and *Ehrlichia* species in *Amblyomma* ticks parasitizing wild snakes. Parasit Vectors, 8, 112, 2015a.
- 124. Kho K, Koh F, Jaafar T, Hassan Nizam QN, Tay S. Prevalence and molecular heterogeneity of *Bartonella bovis* in cattle and *Haemaphysalis bispinosa* ticks in Peninsular Malaysia. BMC Vet Res, 11, 153, 2015b.
- 125. Kho KL, Koh FX, Singh HK, Zan HA, Kukreja A, Ponnampalavanar S, Tay ST. Spotted Fever Group Rickettsioses and Murine Typhus in a Malaysian Teaching Hospital. Am J Trop Med Hyg, 95, 765-768, 2016.
- 126. Kho KL, Koh FX, Mohd Hasan LI, Wong LP, Ghane Kisomi M, Bulgiba A, Hassan Nizam QN, Tay ST. Rickettsial seropositivity in the indigenous community and animal farm workers, and vector surveillance in Peninsular Malaysia. Emerg Microbes Infect, 6, e18, 2017.
- 127. Kho KL, Tan PE, Tay ST. Diversity of Rickettsiae in feeding and questing ticks collected from a Malaysian forest reserve area. J Med Entomol, 56, 547–552, 2019.
- 128. Khoo JJ, Chen F, Kho K, Shanizza AIA, Lim F, Tan K, Chang L, AbuBakar S. Bacterial community in *Haemaphysalis* ticks of domesticated animals from the Orang Asli communities in Malaysia. Ticks Tick Borne Dis, 7, 929-937, 2016a.
- 129. Khoo J, Lim F, Chen F, Phoon W, Khor C, Pike BL, Chang L, AbuBakar S. *Coxiella* detection in ticks from wildlife and livestock in Malaysia. Ticks Tick Borne Dis, 7, 929–937, 2016b.

- 130. Khoo JJ, Lim FS, Tan KK, Chen FS, Phoon WH, Khor CS, Pike BL, Chang L, Abu Bakar S. Detection in Malaysia of a *Borrelia* sp. from *Haemaphysalis hystricis* (Ixodida: Ixodidae). J Med Entomol, 54, 1444–1448, 2017.
- Khoo JJ, Ishak SN, Lim FS, Mohd-Taib FS, Khor CS, Loong SK, AbuBakar S. Detection of Borrelia sp. from Ixodes granulatus ticks collected from rodents in Malaysia. J Med Entomol, 55, 1642–1647, 2018.
- 132. Khor C, Hassan H, Mohd Rahim N, Chandren JB, Nore S, Johari J, Loong S, Abd-Jamil J, Khoo J, Lee H, Pike BL, Li-Ping W, Lim YA, AbuBakar S. Seroprevalence of *Borrelia burgdorferi* among the indigenous people (Orang Asli) of Peninsular Malaysia. J Infect Dev Ctries, 13, 449-454, 2019.
- 133. Kim CM, Kim MS, Park MS, Park JH, Chae JS. Identification of *Ehrlichia chaffeensis*, *Anaplasma phagocytophilum*, and *A. bovis* in *Haemaphysalis longicornis* and *Ixodes persulcatus* ticks from Korea. Vector Borne Zoonotic Dis, 3, 17-26, 2003.
- 134. Klangthong K, Promsthaporn S, Leepitakrat S, Schuster AL, McCardle PW, Kosoy M, Takhampunya R. The Distribution and Diversity of *Bartonella* Species in Rodents and Their Ectoparasites across Thailand. PLoS One, 10, e0140856, 2015.
- 135. Klindworth A, Pruesse E, Schweer T, Peplies J, Quast C, Horn M, Glöckner FO. Evaluation of general 16S ribosomal RNA gene PCR primers for classical and next-generation sequencingbased diversity studies, Nucleic Acids Res, 41, 2013.
- 136. Klyachko O, Stein BD, Grindle N, Clay K, Fuqua C. Localization and visualization of a *Coxiella*type symbiont within the lone star tick, *Amblyomma americanum*. Appl Environ Microbiol, 73, 6584–6594, 2007.
- 137. Kocan AA, Levesque GC, Whitworth LC, Murphy GL, Ewing SA, Barker RW. Naturally occurring *Ehrlichia chaffeensis* infection in coyotes from Oklahoma. Emerg Infect Dis, 6, 477-480, 2000.
- 138. Koh FX, Kho KL, Ghane Kisomi M, Wong LP, Bulgiba A, Tan PE, Lim YAL, Hassan Nizam QN, Panchadcharam C, Tay ST. *Ehrlichia* and *Anaplasma* infections: Serological evidence and tick surveillance in Peninsular Malaysia. J Med Entomol, 55, 269–276, 2018a.
- Koh FX, Panchadcharam C, Sitam FT, Tay ST. Molecular investigation of *Anaplasma* spp. in domestic and wildlife animals in Peninsular Malaysia. Vet Parasitol Reg Stud Reports, 13, 141-147, 2018b.
- 140. Kohls GM. Tick (Ixodoidae) of Borneo and Malaya. Malaysian Parasites, XVIII 28, 65-94, 1957.
- 141. Kolonin GV. Review of the Ixodid tick fauna (Acari: Ixodidae) of Vietnam. J Med Entomol, 32, 276-282, 1995.

- 142. Konto M, Tukur SM, Watanabe M, Rani PAMA, Sharma RS, Fong LS, Watanabe M. Molecular and serological detection of tick-borne hemopathogens among stray dogs in East Malaysia. J Vet Med Res, 4, 1074, 2017.
- 143. Krause PJ, Narasimhan S, Wormser GP, Rollend L, Fikrig E, Lepore T, Barbour A, Fish D. Human *Borrelia miyamotoi* infection in the United States. N Engl J Med, 368, 291-293, 2013.
- 144. Krause PJ, Fish D, Narasimhan S, Barbour AG. *Borrelia miyamotoi* infection in nature and in humans. Clin Microbiol Infect, 21, 631-639, 2015.
- 145. Krause PJ. Human babesiosis. Int J Parasitol, 49, 165-174, 2019.
- 146. Kuo CC, Lin YF, Yao CT, Shih HC, Chung LH, Liao HC, Hsu YC, Wang HC. Tick-borne pathogens in ticks collected from birds in Taiwan. Parasit Vectors, 10, 587, 2017.
- 147. Kumar S, Stecher G, Li M, Knyaz C, Tamura K. MEGA X: Molecular Evolutionary Genetics Analysis across Computing Platforms. Mol Biol Evol, 35, 1547-1549, 2018.
- 148. Kurilshikov A, Livanova NN, Fomenko NV, Tupikin AE, Rar VA, Kabilov MR, Livanov SG, Tikunova NV. Comparative metagenomic profiling of symbiotic bacterial communities associated with *Ixodes persulcatus*, *Ixodes pavlovskyi* and *Dermacentor reticulatus* ticks. PLoS One, 10, e0131413, 2015.
- 149. Kurtti TJ, Felsheim RF, Burkhardt NY, Oliver JD, Heu CC, Munderloh UG. *Rickettsia buchneri* sp. nov., a rickettsial endosymbiont of the blacklegged tick *Ixodes scapularis*. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol, 65, 965–970, 2015.
- 150. Kwan JY, Griggs R, Chicana B, Miller C, Swei A. Vertical vs. horizontal transmission of the microbiome in a key disease vector, *Ixodes pacificus*. Mol Ecol, 26, 6578–6589, 2017.
- 151. Kwak ML. A checklist and key to the tick fauna (Acari: Ixodidae, Argasidae) of Pulau Tioman, Malaysia. Exp Appl Acarol, 81, 51-58, 2020.
- 152. Labruna MB, Whitworth T, Horta MC, Bouyer DH, McBride JW, Pinter A, Popov V, Gennari SM, Walker DH. *Rickettsia* species infecting *Amblyomma cooperi* ticks from an area in the state of São Paulo, Brazil, where Brazilian spotted fever is endemic. J Clin Microbiol, 42, 90–98, 2004.
- 153. Lalzar I, Harrus S, Mumcuoglu KY, Gottlieb Y. Composition and seasonal variation of *Rhipicephalus turanicus* and *Rhipicephalus sanguineus* bacterial communities. Appl Environ Microbiol, 78, 4110–4116, 2012.
- 154. Landesman WJ, Mulder K, Allan BF, Bashor LA, Keesing F, LoGiudice K, Ostfeld RS. Potential effects of blood meal host on bacterial community composition in *Ixodes scapularis* nymphs. Ticks Tick Borne Dis, 10, 523–527, 2019.
- 155. Li Y, Luo Y, Cao S, Terkawi MA, Lan DT, Long PT, Yu L, Zhou M, Gong H, Zhang H, Zhou J, Yokoyama N, Suzuki H, Xuan X. Molecular and seroepidemiological survey of *Babesia bovis*

and *Babesia bigemina* infections in cattle and water buffaloes in the central region of Vietnam. Trop Biomed, 31, 406-413, 2014.

- 156. Li LH, Zhang Y, Wang JZ, Li XS, Yin SQ, Zhu D, Xue JB, Li SG. High genetic diversity in hard ticks from a China-Myanmar border county. Parasit Vectors, 11, 469, 2018.
- 157. Lim FS, Khoo JJ, Tan KK, Zainal N, Loong SK, Khor CS, AbuBakar S. Bacterial communities in *Haemaphysalis*, *Dermacentor* and *Amblyomma* ticks collected from wild boar of an Orang Asli Community in Malaysia. Ticks Tick Borne Dis, 11, 101352, 2020.
- 158. Liu L, Baoliang X, Yingqun F, Ming L, Yu Y, Yong H, Shasha W, Manxia H, Tianyu G, Chao J, Xiaohong S, Jing W. *Coxiella burnetii* in rodents on Heixiazi Island at the Sino-Russian border. Am J Trop Med Hyg, 88, 770-773, 2013.
- 159. Liz JS, Anderes L, Sumner JW, Massung RF, Gern L, Rutti B, Brossard M. PCR detection of granulocytic ehrlichiae in *Ixodes ricinus* ticks and wild small mammals in western Switzerland. J Clin Microbiol, 38, 1002-1007, 2000.
- 160. Loftis AD, Reeves WK, Spurlock JP, Mahan SM, Troughton DR, Dasch GA, Levin ML. Infection of a goat with a tick-transmitted *Ehrlichia* from Georgia, U.S.A., that is closely related to *Ehrlichia ruminantium*. J Vector Ecol, 31, 213-223, 2006.
- LoGiudice K, Ostfeld RS, Schmidt KA, Keesing F. The ecology of infectious disease: effects of host diversity and community composition on Lyme disease risk. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 100, 567-571, 2003.
- 162. Lommano E, Dvorak C, Vallotton L, Jenni L, Gern L. Tick-borne pathogens in ticks collected from breeding and migratory birds in Switzerland. Ticks Tick Borne Dis, 5, 871-882, 2014.
- 163. Long GW, Oprandy JJ, Narayanan RB, Fortier AH, Porter KR, Nacy CA. Detection of *Francisella tularensis* in blood by polymerase chain reaction. J Clin Microbiol, 31, 152–154, 1993.
- 164. Losos GJ. Infectious Tropical Diseases of Domestic Animals. Longman Scientific & Technical, Ottawa, ON, Canada, pp. 938, 1986.
- 165. Lozupone C, Knight R. UniFrac: a new phylogenetic method for comparing microbial communities. Appl Environ Microbiol, 71, 8228–8235, 2005.
- 166. Lozupone CA, Hamady M, Kelley ST, Knight R. Quantitative and qualitative beta diversity measures lead to different insights into factors that structure microbial communities. Appl Environ Microbiol, 73, 1576–1585, 2007.
- 167. Lukasik P, Guo H, van Asch M, Ferrari J, Godfray HC. Protection against a fungal pathogen conferred by the aphid facultative endosymbionts *Rickettsia* and Spiroplasma is expressed in

multiple host genotypes and species and is not influenced by co-infection with another symbiont. J Evol Biol, 26, 2654–2661, 2013.

- 168. Lv J, Wu S, Zhang Y, Chen Y, Feng C, Yuan X, Jia G, Deng J, Wang C, Wang Q, Mei L, Lin X. Assessment of four DNA fragments (COI, 16S rDNA, ITS2, 12S rDNA) for species identification of the Ixodida (Acari: Ixodida). Parasit Vectors, 7, 93, 2014.
- 169. Machado-Ferreira E, Dietrich G, Hojgaard A, Levin M, Piesman J, Zeidner NS, Soares CA. Coxiella symbionts in the Cayenne tick Amblyomma cajennense. Microb Ecol, 62, 134–142, 2011.
- Madinah A, Fatimah A, Mariana A, Abdullah MT. Ectoparasites of small mammals in four localities of wildlife reserves in Peninsular Malaysia. Southeast Asian J Trop Med Public Health, 42, 803-813, 2011.
- 171. Malania L, Bai Y, Osikowicz LM, Tsertsvadze N, Katsitadze G, Imnadze P, Kosoy M. Prevalence and Diversity of *Bartonella* Species in Rodents from Georgia (Caucasus). Am J Trop Med Hyg, 95, 466-471, 2016.
- 172. Mandal S, Van Treuren W, White RA, Eggesbø M, Knight R, Peddada SD. Analysis of composition of microbiomes: a novel method for studying microbial composition. Microb Ecol Health Dis, 26, 27663, 2015.
- 173. Margos G, Gatewood AG, Aanensen DM, Hanincova K, Terekhova D, Vollmer SA, Cornet M, Piesman J, Donaghy M, Bormane A, Hurn MA, Feil EJ, Fish D, Casjens S, Wormser GP, Schwartz I, Kurtenbach K. MLST of housekeeping genes captures geographic population structure and suggests a European origin of *Borrelia burgdorferi*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 105, 8730-8735, 2008.
- 174. Margos G, Hojgaard A, Lane RS, Cornet M, Fingerle V, Rudenko N, Ogden N, Aanensen DM, Fish D, Piesman J. Multilocus sequence analysis of *Borrelia bissettii* strains from North America reveals a new *Borrelia* species, *Borrelia kurtenbachii*. Ticks Tick-Borne Dis, 1, 151–158, 2010.
- 175. Margos G, Chu CY, Takano A, Jiang BG, Liu W, Kurtenbach K, Masuzawa T, Fingerle V, Cao WC, Kawabata H. *Borrelia yangtzensis* sp. nov., a rodent-associated species in Asia, is related to *Borrelia valaisiana*. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol, 65, 3836-3840, 2015.
- 176. Margos G, Lane RS, Fedorova N, Koloczek J, Piesman J, Hojgaard A, Sing A, Fingerle V. *Borrelia bissettiae* sp. nov. and *Borrelia californiensis* sp. nov. prevail in diverse enzootic transmission cycles. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol, 66, 1447–1452, 2016.
- 177. Margos G, Sing A, Fingerle V. Published data do not support the notion that *Borrelia valaisiana* is human pathogenic. Infection, 45, 567-569, 2017.

- 178. Margos G, Gofton A, Wibberg D, Dangel A, Marosevic D, Loh SM, Oskam C, Fingerle V. The genus *Borrelia* reloaded. PLoS One, 13, e0208432, 2018.
- 179. Margos G, Fingerle V, Cutler S, Gofton A, Stevenson B, Estrada-Pena A. Controversies in bacterial taxonomy: The example of the genus *Borrelia*. Ticks Tick Borne Dis, 11, 101335, 2020.
- 180. Markaki S, Sotiropoulou M, Papaspirou P, Lazaris D. Cat-scratch disease presenting as a solitary tumour in the breast: report of three cases. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol, 106, 175-178, 2003.
- 181. Marques LC, Pincerato K, Yoshimura AA, Andrade FEM, Barros ACSD. Cat scratch disease presenting as axillary lymphadenopathy and a palpable benign mammary nodule mimicking a carcinoma. Rev Soc Bras Med Trop, 51, 247-248, 2018.
- 182. Masatani T, Hayashi K, Andoh M, Tateno M, Endo Y, Asada M, Kusakisako K, Tanaka T, Gokuden M, Hozumi N, Nakadohzono F, Matsuo T. Detection and molecular characterization of *Babesia*, *Theileria*, and *Hepatozoon* species in hard ticks collected from Kagoshima, the southern region in Japan. Ticks Tick Borne Dis, 8, 581-587, 2017.
- 183. Masuzawa T, Fukui T, Miyake M, Oh HB, Cho MK, Chang WH, Imai Y, Yanagihara Y. Determination of members of a *Borrelia afzelii*-related group isolated from *Ixodes nipponensis* in Korea as *Borrelia valaisiana*. Int J Syst Bacteriol, 49, 4, 1409-1415, 1999.
- 184. Masuzawa T, Pan MJ, Kadosaka T, Kudeken M, Takada N, Yano Y, Imai Y, Yanagihara Y. Characterization and identification of *Borrelia* isolates as *Borrelia valaisiana* in Taiwan and Kinmen Islands. Microbiol Immunol, 44, 1003-1009, 2000.
- 185. Masuzawa T. Terrestrial distribution of the Lyme Borreliosis agent *Borrelia burgdorferi* sensu lato in east Asia. Jpn J Infect Dis, 57, 229–235, 2004.
- 186. Masuzawa T, Hashimoto N, Kudeken M, Kadosaka T, Nakamura M, Kawabata H, Koizumi N, Imai Y. New genomospecies related to *Borrelia valaisiana*, isolated from mammals in Okinawa archipelago, Japan. J Med Microbiol, 53, 421-426, 2004.
- Maurin M, Birtles R, Raoult D. Current knowledge of *Bartonella* species. Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis, 16, 487–506, 1997.
- 188. Maurin M, Raoult D. Q fever. Clin Microbiol Rev, 12, 518–553, 1999.
- 189. McDonald D, Price MN, Goodrich J, Nawrocki EP, DeSantis TZ, Probst A, Andersen GL, Knight R, Hugenholtz P. An improved Greengenes taxonomy with explicit ranks for ecological and evolutionary analyses of bacteria and archaea. ISME J, 6, 610–618, 2012.
- 190. McMurdie PJ, Holmes S. phyloseq: An R package for reproducible interactive analysis and graphics of microbiome census data. PLoS One, 8, e61217, 2013.

- 191. Meerburg BG, Reusken CBEM. The role of wild rodents in spread and transmission of *Coxiella burnetii* needs further elucidation. Wildl Res, 38, 617–625, 2011.
- 192. Meredith AL, Cleaveland SC, Denwood MJ, Brown JK, Shaw DJ. *Coxiella burnetii* (Q-Fever) Seroprevalence in Prey and Predators in the United Kingdom: Evaluation of Infection in Wild Rodents, Foxes and Domestic Cats Using a Modified ELISA. Transbound Emerg Dis, 62, 639-649, 2015.
- 193. Miyamoto K, Sato Y, Okada K, Fukunaga M, Sato F. Competence of a migratory bird, red-bellied thrush (Turdus chrysolaus), as an avian reservoir for the Lyme disease spirochetes in Japan. Acta Trop, 65, 43-51, 1997.
- 194. Mohammed K, Tukur SM, Watanabe M, Abd Rani PAM, Lau SF, Shettima YM, Watanabe M. Factors influencing the prevalence and distribution of ticks and tick-borne pathogens among domestic animals in Malaysia. Pertanika J Sch Reserve Rev, 2, 12–22, 2016.
- 195. Moltmann UG, Mehlhorn H, Friedhoff KT. Ultrastructural study of the development of *Babesia ovis* (Piroplasmia) in the ovary of the vector tick *Rhipicephalus bursa*. J Protozool, 29, 30-38, 1982.
- 196. Movila A, Alekseev AN, Dubinina HV, Toderas I. Detection of tick-borne pathogens in ticks from migratory birds in the Baltic region of Russia. Med Vet Entomol, 27,113-117, 2013.
- 197. Mtambo J, Van Bortel W, Madder M, Roelants P, Backeljau T. Comparison of preservation methods of *Rhipicephalus appendiculatus* (Acari: Ixodidae) for reliable DNA amplification by PCR. Exp Appl Acarol, 38, 189–199, 2006.
- 198. Mtierova Z, Derdakova M, Chvostac M, Didyk YM, Mangova B, Rusnakova Taragelova V, Selyemova D, Sujanova A, Vaclav R. Local Population Structure and Seasonal Variability of *Borrelia garinii* Genotypes in *Ixodes ricinus* Ticks, Slovakia. Int J Environ Res Public Health, 17, 3607, 2020.
- 199. Nadchatram M. The beneficial rain forest ecosystem with environmental effects on zoonoses involving ticks and mites (Acari), a Malaysian perspective and review. Malaysian Society of Parasitology and Tropical Medicine, 25, 1–92, 2008.
- 200. Narasimhan S, Rajeevan N, Liu L, Zhao YO, Heisig J, Pan J, Eppler-Epstein R, Deponte K, Fish D, Fikrig E. Gut microbiota of the tick vector *Ixodes scapularis* modulate colonization of the Lyme disease spirochete. Cell Host Microbe, 15, 58-71, 2014.
- 201. Nazari M, Lim SY, Watanabe M, Sharma RS, Cheng NA, Watanabe M. Molecular detection of *Ehrlichia canis* in dogs in Malaysia. PLoS Negl Trop Dis, 7, e1982, 2013.

- 202. Ni XB, Jia N, Jiang BG, Sun T, Zheng YC, Huo QB, Liu K, Ma L, Zhao QM, Yang H, Wang X, Jiang JF, Cao WC. Lyme borreliosis caused by diverse genospecies of *Borrelia burgdorferi* sensu lato in northeastern China. Clin Microbiol Infect, 20, 808-814, 2014.
- 203. Niebylski ML, Schrumpf ME, Burgdorfer W, Fischer ER, Gage KL, Schwan TG. *Rickettsia peacockii* sp. nov., a new species infecting wood ticks, *Dermacentor andersoni*, in western Montana. Int J Syst Bacteriol, 47, 446–452, 1997.
- 204. Noda H, Munderloh UG, Kurtti TJ. Endosymbionts of ticks and their relationship to *Wolbachia* spp. and tick-borne pathogens of humans and animals. Appl Environ Microbiol, 63, 3926-3932, 1997.
- 205. Norris DE, Klompen JSH, Black WC. Comparison of the Mitochondrial 12S and 16S Ribosomal Dna Genes in Resolving Phylogenetic Relationships among Hard Ticks (Acari: Ixodidae), Annals of the Entomological Society of America, 92, 1, 117–129, 1999.
- 206. Norman AF, Regnery R, Jameson P, Greene C, Krause DC. Differentiation of *Bartonella*-like isolates at the species level by PCR-restriction fragment length polymorphism in the citrate synthase gene. J Clin Microbiol, 33, 1797–1803, 1995.
- 207. Norte AC, Margos G, Becker NS, Albino Ramos J, Núncio MS, Fingerle V, Araujo PM, Adamik P, Alivizatos H, Barba E, Barrientos R, Cauchard L, Csorgo T, Diakou A, Dingemanse NJ, Doligez B, Dubiec A, Eeva T, Flaisz B, Grim T, Hau M, Heylen D, Hornok S, Kazantzidis S, Kovats D, Krause F, Literak I, Mand R, Mentesana L, Morinay J, Mutanen M, Neto JM, Novakova M, Sanz JJ, Pascoal da Silva L, Sprong H, Tirri IS, Torok J, Trilar T, Tyller Z, Visser ME, Lopes de Carvalho I. Host dispersal shapes the population structure of a tick-borne bacterial pathogen. Mol Ecol, 29, 485-501, 2020.
- 208. Obregon D, Bard E, Abrial D, Estrada-Pena A, Cabezas-Cruz A. Sex-Specific Linkages Between Taxonomic and Functional Profiles of Tick Gut Microbiomes. Front Cell Infect Microbiol, 9, 298, 2019.
- 209. Oksanen J, Kindt R, Legendre P. The Vegan Package: Community Ecology Package 2007, 2013.
- 210. Ola-Fadunsin S D, Sharma R, Abdullah DA, Gimba FI, Abdullah F, Sani RA. The molecular prevalence, distribution and risk factors associated with Babesia bigemina infection in Peninsular Malaysia. Ticks Tick Borne Dis, 12, 101653, 2021.
- 211. Paddock CD, Sumner JW, Shore GM, Bartley DC, Elie RC, McQuade JG, Martin CR, Goldsmith CS, Childs JE. Isolation and characterization of *Ehrlichia chaffeensis* strains from patients with fatal ehrlichiosis. J Clin Microbiol, 35, 2496-2502, 1997.
- 212. Paddock CD, Yabsley MJ. Ecological havoc, the rise of white-tailed deer, and the emergence of *Amblyomma americanum*-associated zoonoses in the United States. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol, 315, 289-324, 2007.

- 213. Paparini A, Ryan UM, Warren K, McInnes LM, de Tores P, Irwin PJ. Identification of novel *Babesia* and *Theileria* genotypes in the endangered marsupials, the woylie (*Bettongia penicillata ogilbyi*) and boodie (*Bettongia lesueur*). Exp Parasitol, 131, 25-30, 2012.
- Parker RR, Spencer RR, Francis E. Tularaemia: XI. Tularaemia Infection in Ticks of the Species Dermacentor andersoni Stiles in the Bitterroot Valley, Montana. Public Health Reports (1896– 1970), 39, pp. 1057–1073, 1924.
- 215. Parola P, Roux V, Camicas JL, Baradji I, Brouqui P, Raoult D. Detection of ehrlichiae in African ticks by polymerase chain reaction. Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg, 94, 707-708, 2000.
- 216. Parola P, Paddock CD, Socolovschi C, Labruna MB, Mediannikov O, Kernif T, Abdad MY, Stenos J, Bitam I, Fournier PE, Raoult D. Update on tick-borne rickettsioses around the world: a geographic approach. Clin Microbiol Rev, 26, 657-702, 2013.
- 217. Penzhorn BL. Babesiosis of wild carnivores and ungulates. Vet Parasitol, 138, 11-21, 2006.
- 218. Petney TN, Kolonin GV, Robbins RG. Southeast Asian ticks (Acari: Ixodida): a historical perspective. Parasitol Res, 101 Suppl 2:S201-5, 2007.
- 219. Petney T, Saijuntha W, Boulanger N, Chitimia-Dobler L, Pfeffer M, Eamudomkarn C, Andrews RH, Ahamad M, Putthasorn N, Muders SV, Petney DA, Robbins RG. Ticks (Argasidae, Ixodidae) and tick-borne diseases of continental Southeast Asia. Zootaxa, 4558, 1-89, 2019.
- Piesman J, Gern L. Lyme borreliosis in Europe and North America. Parasitology, 129, S191– S220, 2004.
- 221. Platonov AE, Karan LS, Kolyasnikova NM, Makhneva NA, Toporkova MG, Maleev VV, Fish D, Krause PJ. Humans infected with relapsing fever spirochete *Borrelia miyamotoi*, Russia. Emerg Infect Dis, 17, 1816-1823, 2011.
- 222. Povoski SP, Spigos DG, Marsh WL. An unusual case of cat-scratch disease from *Bartonella quintana* mimicking inflammatory breast cancer in a 50-year-old woman. Breast J, 9, 497–500, 2003.
- 223. Prakash BK, Low VL, Vinnie-Siow WY, Tan TK, Lim YA, Morvarid AR, AbuBakar S, Sofian-Azirun M. Detection of *Babesia* spp. in dogs and their ticks from Peninsular Malaysia: Emphasis on *Babesia gibsoni* and *Babesia vogeli* infections in *Rhipicephalus sanguineus* sensu lato (Acari: Ixodidae). J Med Entomol, 55, 1337–1340, 2018.
- 224. Price MN, Dehal PS, Arkin AP. FastTree 2 Approximately maximum-likelihood trees for large alignments. PLoS One 5, e9490, 2010.
- 225. Pritt BS, Respicio-Kingry LB, Sloan LM, Schriefer ME, Replogle AJ, Bjork J, Liu G, Kingry LC, Mead PS, Neitzel DF, Schiffman E, Hoang Johnson DK, Davis JP, Paskewitz SM, Boxrud D, Deedon A, Lee X, Miller TK, Feist MA, Steward CR, Theel ES, Patel R, Irish CL, Petersen JM. *Borrelia mayonii* sp. nov., a member of the *Borrelia burgdorferi* sensu lato complex, detected in

patients and ticks in the upper midwestern United States. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol, 66, 4878–4880, 2016.

- 226. Pukhovskaya NM, Morozova OV, Vysochina NP, Belozerova NB, Ivanov LI. Prevalence of *Borrelia burgdorferi* sensu lato and *Borrelia miyamotoi* in ixodid ticks in the Far East of Russia. Int J Parasitol Parasites Wildl, 8, 192-202, 2019.
- Qiu Y, Nakao R, Ohnuma A, Kawamori F, Sugimoto C. Microbial population analysis of the salivary glands of ticks; a possible strategy for the surveillance of bacterial pathogens. PLoS One, 9, e103961, 2014.
- 228. Qiu Y, Nakao R, Hang'ombe BM, Sato K, Kajihara M, Kanchela S, Changula K, Eto Y, Ndebe J, Sasaki M, Thu MJ, Takada A, Sawa H, Sugimoto C, Kawabata H. Human Borreliosis Caused by a New World Relapsing Fever Borrelia-like Organism in the Old World. Clin Infect Dis, 69, 107-112, 2019.
- 229. Qiu Y, Kajihara M, Nakao R, Mulenga E, Harima H, Hang'ombe BM, Eto Y, Changula K, Mwizabi D, Sawa H, Higashi H, Mweene A, Takada A, Simuunza M, Sugimoto C. Isolation of *Candidatus* Bartonella rousetti and Other Bat-associated Bartonellae from Bats and Their Flies in Zambia. Pathogens, 9, 469, 2020.
- 230. Rahman WA, Lye YP, Chandrawathani P. The seroprevalence of bovine babesiosis in Malaysia. Trop Biomed, 27, 301-307, 2010.
- 231. Ratnasingham S, Hebert PD. bold: The Barcode of Life Data System (http://www.barcodinglife.org). Mol Ecol Notes, 7, 355-364, 2007.
- 232. Regier Y, Ballhorn W, Kempf VA. Molecular detection of *Bartonella henselae* in 11 *Ixodes ricinus* ticks extracted from a single cat. Parasit Vectors, 13, 10, 105, 2017.
- Regnery R L, Spruill CL, Plikaytis BD. Genotypic identification of rickettsiae and estimation of intraspecies sequence divergence for portions of two rickettsial genes. J Bacteriol, 173, 1576-1589, 1991.
- 234. Reis C, Cote M, Le Rhun D, Lecuelle B, Levin ML, Vayssier-Taussat M, Bonnet SI. Vector competence of the tick *Ixodes ricinus* for transmission of *Bartonella birtlesii*. PLoS Negl Trop Dis, 5, e1186, 2011.
- 235. Reusken C, van der Plaats R, Opsteegh M, de Bruin A, Swart A. *Coxiella burnetii* (Q fever) in *Rattus norvegicus* and *Rattus rattus* at livestock farms and urban locations in the Netherlands; could *Rattus* spp. represent reservoirs for (re)introduction? Prev Vet Med, 101, 124-130, 2011.
- 236. Richards AL, Ratiwayanto S, Rahardjo E, Kelly DJ, Dasch GA, Fryauff DJ, Bangs MJ. Serologic evidence of infection with ehrlichiae and spotted fever group rickettsiae among residents of Gag Island, Indonesia. Am J Trop Med Hyg, 68, 480-484, 2003.

- 237. Richter D, Postic D, Sertour N, Livey I, Matuschka FR, Baranton G. Delineation of *Borrelia burgdorferi* sensu lato species by multilocus sequence analysis and confirmation of the delineation of *Borrelia spielmanii* sp. nov. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol, 56, 873-881, 2006.
- 238. Robins JH, Hingston M, Matisoo-Smith E, Ross HA. Identifying *Rattus* species using mitochondrial DNA. Mol Ecol Notes, 7, 717–729, 2007.
- 239. Roest HI, van Solt CB, Tilburg JJ, Klaassen CH, Hovius EK, Roest FT, Vellema P, van den Brom R, van Zijderveld FG. Search for possible additional reservoirs for human Q fever, The Netherlands. Emerg Infect Dis, 19, 834-835, 2013.
- Roux V, Raoult D. Body lice as tools for diagnosis and surveillance of reemerging diseases. J Clin Microbiol, 37, 596-599, 1999.
- 241. Roux V, Raoult D. Phylogenetic analysis of members of the genus *Rickettsia* using the gene encoding the outer-membrane protein rOmpB (ompB). Int J Syst Evol Microbiol, 50, 1449-1455, 2000.
- 242. Saito K, Ito T, Asashima N, Ohno M, Nagai R, Fujita H, Koizumi N, Takano A, Watanabe H, Kawabata H. Case report: *Borrelia valaisiana* infection in a Japanese man associated with traveling to foreign countries. Am J Trop Med Hyg, 77, 1124-1127, 2007.
- 243. Salgado Lynn M, William T, Tanganuchitcharnchai A, Jintaworn S, Thaipadungpanit J, Lee MH, Jalius C, Daszak P, Goossens B, Hughes T, Blacksell SD. Spotted Fever Rickettsiosis in a Wildlife Researcher in Sabah, Malaysia: A Case Study. Trop Med Infect Dis, 3, 29, 2018.
- 244. Salje J. Cells within cells: Rickettsiales and the obligate intracellular bacterial lifestyle. Nat Rev Microbiol, 19, 375–390, 2021.
- 245. Sato K, Takano A, Konnai S, Nakao M, Ito T, Koyama K, Kaneko M, Ohnishi M, Kawabata H. Human infections with *Borrelia miyamotoi*, Japan. Emerg Infect Dis, 20, 1391-1393, 2014.
- 246. Schnittger L, Rodriguez AE, Florin-Christensen M, Morrison DA. *Babesia*: a world emerging. Infect Genet Evol, 12, 1788-1809, 2012.
- 247. Scott JD, Clark KL, Foley JE, Bierman BC, Durden LA. Far-Reaching Dispersal of *Borrelia burgdorferi* Sensu Lato-Infected Blacklegged Ticks by Migratory Songbirds in Canada. Healthcare (Basel), 6, 89, 2018.
- 248. Scott JD, Clark KL, Foley JE, Anderson JF, Bierman BC, Durden LA. Extensive Distribution of the Lyme Disease Bacterium, *Borrelia burgdorferi* Sensu Lato, in Multiple Tick Species Parasitizing Avian and Mammalian Hosts across Canada. Healthcare (Basel), 6, 131, 2018.
- 249. Segata N, Izard J, Waldron L, Gevers D, Miropolsky L, Garrett WS, Huttenhowe C. Metagenomic biomarker discovery and explanation. Genome Biol, 12, R60, 2011.

- 250. Sekeyova Z, Roux V, Raoult D. Phylogeny of *Rickettsia* spp. inferred by comparing sequences of 'gene D', which encodes an intracytoplasmic protein. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol, 51, 1353–1360, 2001.
- 251. Sivakumar T, Lan DT, Long PT, Yoshinari T, Tattiyapong M, Guswanto A, Okubo K, Igarashi I, Inoue N, Xuan X, Yokoyama N. PCR detection and genetic diversity of bovine hemoprotozoan parasites in Vietnam. J Vet Med Sci, 75, 1455-1462, 2013.
- 252. Smith RD, Brener J, Osorno M, Ristic M. Pathobiology of *Borrelia theileri* in the tropical cattle tick, *Boophilus microplus*. J Invertebr Pathol, 32, 182-190, 1978.
- 253. Smith RD, Miranpuri GS, Adams JH, Ahrens EH. *Borrelia theileri*: isolation from ticks (*Boophilus microplus*) and tick-borne transmission between splenectomized calves. Am J Vet Res, 46, 1396-1398, 1985.
- 254. Smith TA, Driscoll T, Gillespie JJ, Raghavan RA. *Coxiella*-like endosymbiont is a potential vitamin source for the Lone Star tick. Genome Biol Evol, 7, 831–838, 2015.
- 255. Socolovschi C, Mediannikov O, Raoult D, Parola P. The relationship between spotted fever group Rickettsiae and ixodid ticks. Vet Res, 40, 34, 2009.
- 256. Sreekumar C, Anandan R, Balasundaram S, Rajavelu G. Morphology and staining characteristics of *Ehrlichia bovis*. Comp Immunol Microbiol Infect Dis, 19, 79-83, 1996.
- 257. Strnad M, Honig V, Ruzek D, Grubhoffer L, Rego ROM. Europe-wide meta-analysis of *Borrelia burgdorferi* sensu lato prevalence in questing *Ixodes ricinus* ticks. Appl Environ Microbiol, 83, e00609–e00617, 2017.
- 258. Sumner JW, Nicholson WL, Massung RF. PCR amplification and comparison of nucleotide sequences from the groESL heat shock operon of *Ehrlichia* species. J Clin Microbiol, 35, 2087-2092, 1997.
- 259. Takano A, Goka K, Une Y, Shimada Y, Fujita H, Shiino T, Watanabe H, Kawabata H. Isolation and characterization of a novel *Borrelia* group of tick-borne borreliae from imported reptiles and their associated ticks. Environ Microbiol, 12, 134-146, 2010.
- 260. Takano A, Fujita H, Kadosaka T, Takahashi M, Yamauchi T, Ishiguro F, Takada N, Yano Y, Oikawa Y, Honda T, Gokuden M, Tsunoda T, Tsurumi M, Ando S, Andoh M, Sato K, Kawabata H. Construction of a DNA database for ticks collected in Japan: application of molecular identification based on the mitochondrial 16S rDNA gene. Med Entomol Zool, 65, 13–21, 2014.
- 261. Takhampunya R, Korkusol A, Pongpichit C, Yodin K, Rungrojn A, Chanarat N, Promsathaporn S, Monkanna T, Thaloengsok S, Tippayachai B, Kumfao N, Richards AL, Davidson SA. Metagenomic Approach to Characterizing Disease Epidemiology in a Disease-Endemic Environment in Northern Thailand. Front Microbiol, 10, 319, 2019.

- 262. Tamura K, Nei M. Estimation of the number of nucleotide substitutions in the control region of mitochondrial DNA in humans and chimpanzees. Mol Biol Evol, 10, 512-526, 1993.
- 263. Tan LP, Choong SS, Samsuddin AS, Lee SH. Amblyomma cordiferum Neumann, 1899 (Acari: Ixodidae) parasitizing reticulated pythons, *Malayopython reticulatus* (Schneider, 1801) (Reptilia: Pythonidae) in Peninsular Malaysia. Ticks Tick Borne Dis, 10, 101285, 2019.
- 264. Tanskul P, Stark HE, Inlao I. A checklist of ticks of Thailand (Acari: Metastigmata: Ixodoidea). J Med Entomol, 20, 330–341, 1983.
- 265. Tanskul P, Inlao I. Keys to the adult ticks of *Haemaphysalis* Koch, 1844, in Thailand with notes on changes in taxonomy (Acari: Ixodoidea: Ixodidae). J Med Entomol, 26, 573–600, 1989.
- 266. Tay ST, Ho TM, Rohani MY, Devi S. Antibodies to *Orientia tsutsugamushi, Rickettsia typhi* and spotted fever group rickettsiae among febrile patients in rural areas of Malaysia, Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg, 94, 280–284, 2000.
- Tay ST, Kamalanathan M, Rohani MY. *Borrelia burgdorferi* (strain *B. afzelii*) antibodies among Malaysian blood donors and patients. Southeast Asian J Trop Med Public Health, 33, 787-793, 2002.
- 268. Tay ST, Kamalanathan M, Rohani MY. Antibody prevalence of *Orientia tsutsugamushi*, *Rickettsia typhi* and TT118 spotted fever group rickettsiae among Malaysian blood donors and febrile patients in the urban areas. Southeast Asian J Trop Med Public Health, 34, 165–170, 2003.
- 269. Tay ST, Mokhtar AS, Zain SN, Low KC. Isolation and molecular identification of Bartonellae from wild rats (*Rattus* species) in Malaysia. Am J Trop Med Hyg, 90, 1039-1042, 2014.
- 270. Taylor KR, Takano A, Konnai S, Shimozuru M, Kawabata H, Tsubota T. *Borrelia miyamotoi* infections among wild rodents show age and month independence and correlation with *Ixodes persulcatus* larval attachment in Hokkaido, Japan. Vector Borne Zoonotic Dis, 13, 92-97, 2013.
- 271. Tee TS, Kamalanathan M, Suan KA, Chun SS, Ming HT, Yasin RM, Devi S. Seroepidemiologic survey of *Orientia tsutsugamushi*, *Rickettsia typhi*, and TT118 spotted fever group rickettsiae in rubber estate workers in Malaysia. Am J Trop Med Hyg, 61, 73-77, 1999.
- 272. Thapa S, Zhang Y, Allen MS. Bacterial microbiomes of *Ixodes scapularis* ticks collected from Massachusetts and Texas, USA. BMC Microbiol, 19, 138, 2019.
- 273. Tomassone L, Nuñez P, Gürtler RE, Ceballos LA, Orozco MM, Kitron UD, Farber M. Molecular detection of *Ehrlichia chaffeensis* in *Amblyomma parvum* ticks, Argentina. Emerg Infect Dis, 14, 1953-1955, 2008.
- 274. Trape JF, Diatta G, Arnathau C, Bitam I, Sarih M, Belghyti D, Bouattour A, Elguero E, Vial L, Mané Y, Baldé C, Prugnolle F, Chauvancy G, Mahé G, Granjon L, Duplantier JM, Durand P, Renaud F. The epidemiology and geographic distribution of relapsing fever borreliosis in West

and North Africa, with a review of the *Ornithodoros erraticus* complex (Acari: Ixodida). PLoS One, 8, e78473, 2013.

- 275. Trapido H, Hoogstraal H. *Haemaphysalis cornigera shimoga* subsp. n. from Southern India (Ixodoidea, Ixodidae). J Parasitol, 50, 303–310, 1964.
- 276. Tully JG, Rose DL, Yunker CE, Cory J, Whitcomb RF, Williamson DL. Helical mycoplasmas (spiroplasmas) from *Ixodes* ticks. Science, 212, 1043–1045, 1981.
- 277. Ushijima Y, Oliver JH Jr, Keirans JE, Tsurumi M, Kawabata H, Watanabe H, Fukunaga M. Mitochondrial sequence variation in *Carlos capensis* (Neumann), a parasite of seabirds, collected on Torishima Island in Japan. J Parasitol, 89, 196–198, 2003.
- 278. Vannier E, Gewurz BE, Krause PJ. Human babesiosis. Infect Dis Clin North Am, 22, 469-488, viii-ix, 2008.
- 279. Waag DM. *Coxiella burnetii*: host and bacterial responses to infection. Vaccine, 25, 7288-7295, 2007.
- 280. Wagemakers A, Staarink PJ, Sprong H, Hovius JW. *Borrelia miyamotoi*: a widespread tick-borne relapsing fever spirochete. Trends Parasitol, 31, 260-269, 2015.
- 281. Wang G, van Dam AP, Schwartz I, Dankert J. Molecular typing of *Borrelia burgdorferi* sensu lato: taxonomic, epidemiological, and clinical implications. Clin Microbiol Rev, 12, 633-653, 1999.
- 282. Wassef HY, Hoogstraal H. *Dermacentor* (Indocentor) *steini* (Acari: Ixodoidea: Ixodidae): Hosts, distribution in the Malay Peninsula, Indonesia, Borneo, Thailand, the Philippines, and New Guinea. J Med Entomol, 25, 315–320, 1988.
- 283. Wattanamethanont J, Kaewthamasorn M, Tiawsirisup S. Natural infection of questing ixodid ticks with protozoa and bacteria in Chonburi Province, Thailand. Ticks Tick Borne Dis, 9749-9758, 2018.
- 284. Weisburg WG, Barns SM, Pelletier DA, Lane DJ. 16S ribosomal DNA amplification for phylogenetic study. J Bacteriol, 173, 697-703, 1991.
- 285. Wilcox BA, Duane J, Gubler DJ. Disease ecology and the global emergence of zoonotic pathogens. Environ Health Prev Med, 10, 263–272, 2015.
- 286. Woldehiwet Z. Q fever (coxiellosis): epidemiology and pathogenesis. Res Vet Sci, 77, 93–100, 2004.
- 287. Yabsley MJ, Shock BC. Natural history of Zoonotic *Babesia*: Role of wildlife reservoirs. Int J Parasitol Parasites Wildl, 2, 18-31, 2012.

- 288. Yamauchi T, Takano A, Maruyama M, Kawabata H. Human infestation by *Amblyomma testudinarium* (Acari: Ixodidae) in Malay Peninsula, Malaysia. J Acarol Soc Jpn, 21, 143-148, 2012.
- 289. Young KM, Corrin T, Wilhelm B, Uhland C, Greig J, Mascarenhas M, Waddell LA. Zoonotic *Babesia*: A scoping review of the global evidence. PLoS One, 14, e0226781, 2019.
- 290. Yun SM, Lee WG, Ryou J, Yang SC, Park SW, Roh JY, Lee YJ, Park C, Han MG. Severe fever with thrombocytopenia syndrome virus in ticks collected from humans, South Korea, 2013. Emerg Infect Dis, 20, 1358-1361, 2014.
- 291. Zawada SG, von Fricken ME, Weppelmann TA, Sikaroodi M, Gillevet PM. Optimization of tissue sampling for *Borrelia burgdorferi* in white-footed mice (*Peromyscus leucopus*). PLoS One, 15, e0226798, 2020.
- 292. Zeaiter Z, Liang Z, Raoult D. Genetic classification and differentiation of *Bartonella* species based on comparison of partial ftsZ gene sequences. J Clin Microbiol, 40, 3641–3647, 2002.
- 293. Zhang XC, Yang ZN, Lu B, Ma XF, Zhang CX, Xu HJ. The composition and transmission of microbiome in hard tick, *Ixodes persulcatus*, during blood meal. Ticks Tick Borne Dis, 5, 864– 870, 2014.
- 294. Zhang Y, Yu Z, Wang D, Bronislava V, Branislav P, Liu J. The bacterial microbiome of field-collected *Dermacentor marginatus* and *Dermacentor reticulatus* from Slovakia. Parasit Vectors, 12, 325, 2019.
- 295. Zhong J, Jasinskas A, Barbour AG. Antibiotic treatment of the tick vector *Amblyomma americanum* reduced reproductive fitness. PLoS One, 2, e405, 2007.
- 296. Zhou X, Li SG, Wang JZ, Huang JL, Zhou HJ, Chen JH, Zhou XN. Emergence of human babesiosis along the border of China with Myanmar: detection by PCR and confirmation by sequencing. Emerg Microbes Infect, 3, e55, 2014.
- 297. Zohdy S, Schwartz TS, Oaks JR. The coevolution effect as a driver of spillover. Trends Parasitol, 35, 399–408, 2019.
- 298. Zolnik CP, Prill RJ, Falco RC, Daniels TJ, Kolokotronis S. Microbiome changes through ontogeny of a tick pathogen vector. Mol Ecol, 25, 4963–4977, 2016.